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LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC

Glossary of Terms

Unless the context in which we use the terms indicates otherwise, the following terms used in this report have
the following meanings:

AGM. |Annual General Meeting of the Company.
The Articles of Association of Luxfer Holdings PLC adopted by spemal resotutlon of the
Articles Company on 26 October 2011, effective from the date of the L.P.O. {and subsequently

updated).

Companies Act

UK. Companies Act 2008, - - T

i

FPi

Foreign Private Issuer under the SEC regsstratlon rules,

: Generally Accepted Accounting Principles is an accounting standard adopted hy the U.S.

GAAP
. -]Securities and Exchange Commission. .
Group Luxfer Holdings PLC and its subsidiaries.
' International Accounting Standards In conformity with the reqwrements of Compantes Act

IFRS 12006 . - , _
LP.O The Initial Public Oﬁ’enng in the U. S completed by Luxfer Holdings PLC on 9 October
T 2012,
NYSE - New York Stock Exchange. L ) - -

£0.50 Ordinary
Shares

The Company’s ordinary shares of £0.50 each.

SEC Securities and Exchange Commission of the U.S. N
Year 1 January, 2020, to 31 December, 2020,
LTIP . iLong-Term Umbrella Incentive Plan. . . - .




LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC

STRATEGIC REPORT

Principal Activities and Review of the Business
The principal activity of Luxfer Holdings PLC is that of the halding company for the Luxfer Group.

Luxfer is a global manufacturer of highly-engineered industrial materials which focuses on value creation using
its broad array of technical know-how and propriety technologies. Luxfer's high-performance materials,
components and high-pressure gas containment devices are used in defense and emergency response,
healthcare, {ransportation and in general industrial applications.

We have a long history of innovation derived from our strong technical base. We work. closely with customer to
apply innovative solutions to their most demanding product needs. Our area of expertise covers the chemical
and metallurgical properties of magnesium, zifconium, carbon and rare earths, We have ploneered the
application of these materials in many high-technology industries. For example, we were the first to use rare
earths to develop and patent a magnesium alloy (EZ33A) for use in high-temperature aerospace applications
such as helicopter gearboxes, We were also at the forefront of the commercial development of zirconia-rich
mixed oxides for use in automotive catalysis.

Luxfer has a global presence, operating 16 manusfacturing plants in the UK., U.S., Canada and China, four of
which relate to discontinued operations. We also hiave @ joint venture in Japan. We employ approximately 1,400
people, including temporary staff, of which approximately 200 relate to discontinued operations. Luxfer operates
In two business segments - Elektron and Gas Cylinders:

Our Elektron Segment focuses on speclally materials based primarily on magnesium and zirconium, Qur key
product lines under the Elektron Segment inciudes:

+ Advanced, lightweight, corrosion- and flame-resistant magnasium alloys, including our our dissolvable
Solumag® alloy.

«  Magnesiuvm powders used in couritermeasure flares that protect aircraft from heat-seeking missiles and
in heating pads for self-heating meals used by military and emergency-relief agencies.

+  High performance zirconium-based materials and oxides used as catalysts and in the manufacture of
advanced ceramics, fiber optic fuef cells, and many other performance products.

+  Magnesium, copper, and zinc photo-engraving plates for graphic arts and luxury packaging.

Our Gas Cylinders Segment manufactures and markets specialized products using carbon composites and
aluminum. Our key product lines under the Gas Cylinders Segment include:

= Carbon composite cylinders for self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA), used by firefighters, first-
responders, SCUBA divers, and other personnel who operate in potentially hazardous environments
such as mines.

. Compeéite cylinders used for containment of oxygen and other medical gases used by patients,
healthcare facilities and laboratories.

+  Carbon compasite cylinders for compressed natural gas (CNG) and hydrogen containment in alternative
fuel (AF) vehicles.
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Strategy and Business Model

Despite the exceptional challenges of 2020, Luxfer's ieam ingenuity and tenacity allowed us to maintain a strong
balance sheet, accelerate many of our lean initiatives, and deliver customer value throughout the year. We
continued to make strong progress on our strategic Transformation Plan despite the adversities faced due to the
COVID-19 pandemic. Commenced In 2017, the Transformation Plan serves as a key driving factor in our
strategy, allowing us to simplify Luxfer's structure, launch growth initiatives, deliver strong productivity, and invest
in our culture and talent. Under our Plan, we are confident in our ability to continue generating long-term
shareholder value.

After thoughtful review of our portfolio of businesses and the future trajectory of Luxfer, we have concluded that it
is in the best interest of our shareholders, employees and customers to divest mast of aur aluminum assets. This
will enable us to focus our strategic efforts and capital on our key markets to grow the Group. The divestiture will
impact three of our Gas Cylinders operations; including our Superform locatioh in U.K., our aluminum cylinder
operation in Graham, North Carolina, U.S. and our Superform location in the U.S. The remaining Gas Cylinders
sites are Involved in the manufacture of innovative composite cylinders and systems, which are an integral part
of Luxfer's future growth profile.

As a part of Phase 1 of our Transformation Plan, our operations have been substantially simplified after the
divestment of the aluminum operations. Other objectives achieved during Phase 1 have expanded our investor
base, streamlined our financial reparting and enhanced our corporate governance, while also strengthening our
balance sheetf, Today, the focus of the Plan is to drive growth, both organically and through vaiue-creating
acquisitions. We have laid the groundwark for successful organic growth by rebuilding our new products pipeline
and establishing commercial excellence. Our business strategy is underpinned by the Luxfer Business
Excallence Standard Toolkit ("Luxfer BEST"), which consists of the following key themes:

« A common set of values that drive accountability, innovation, customer first, personal development,
teamwork and integrity;

= A lean enterprise philosophy comprised of the five pillars of Luxfer BEST which drive operational
excellence in sales, marketing, innovation, human resources, supply, manufacturing, information
technology and finance;

+ Disciplined capital allocation with the aim of maximizing organic growth and the product portfolio value
through value-enhancing acquisitions and divestitures;

+ Balanced scorecards reviewed by our leadership teams to measure performance and ensure that
compensation is commensurate with individual performance; and

* A published Customer Charter designed to retain and grow our customer base and capture additional
market share.

Our Transformation Plan, underpinned by Luxfer BEST, are at the core of our business strategy. We believe that
these toals and strategies give us a stronger competitive advantage, allowing us to focus on innovation and new
product development, further drive our strong technical expertise and know-how, diversify our customer base,
and accelerate shareholder value creation.
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Key Performance Indicators (“KPls")

Luxfer used the following performance mdlcators to assess its development against its strategnc and financial
objectives in 2020.

Since 2018, KPls were monitored undér U.S. GAAP. and these reconciliations to non-GAAP measures can be
found in our Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 2, 2021. Prior 1o 2318, the primary GAAF was FRS.

All years have been restated for discontinued operations.

Operating performance 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Rés?e’r’iﬁ'é‘ﬁ“"&a- s R TR B SRR A e S e 003248 373,47 T 240119 (L1 348.0° by 32432
$m 28.9 40.9 48.0 276 20.5

o P SR P 061, S 0.5, | 10,55 | 97043 |- 5069

$ 1.03 1.47 1.73 1.03 0.93

[ 530 | TR 67 A [T 796 | T 157.13]3_c46.7;

$'0005 256 279 285 247 226

TP S PR D R o A TR,

$m 56.9 10.2 57.3 452 29.2

| B ate £)oF 1.0 | 5orcd 2 | TRE0.8| o 1516 | ngtidi

- M ‘a?,f;na‘ r 21 | % 5
% 69.2| 864
o riis| B et e
e GBP 319”’"9 BXChange rate $:£ 1.28 1.28
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Anon-GAAP measure for net incoma after tax, excluding certain nop-trading items. Reconciliation to GAAP
measure is disciosed in our Farm 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2021,

A non-GAAP measure for earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and other items.
Reconciliation to GAAP measure is disclosed in Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 2, 2021,

Nat debt is defined as cash and cash equivalents less non-current bank and other loans,

Under regulations issued by the Qccupational Safsly & Health Administration of the U.S, Department of Laber, the
number of days absent for each accident is capped at 180 days.

Parcentage of revenue ariginating from 1S014001-cerlified businesses,

Average Euro to GBP Sterling exchange ratet. e s, ur

i



LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC

Review of the Year Ended 31 December, 2020

Although we faced challenges in 2020 due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and related macroeconomic
conditions, we continued to Jaunch growth and lean manufacturing Initiatives, deliver strong productivity, and
invest in our culture and talent. This strategic progress reflects our focus on executing our Transformation Plan,
which is designed to profitably grow the Luxfer business and increase returns to our shareholders, Further
details on our Transformation Plan can be found on page 4 of the Strategic Report.

From 2016 to 2019, our top line growth averaged 5% and, however due to COVID-19 in 2020, our revenue
performance for 2020 showed a decline of 13%. However, our cost reduction efforts are a primary driver of our
4% annual adjusted EBITDA growth from 2016 to 2020, with an average adjusted EBITDA margin over 16%.
We ended 2620 with a stronger balance sheet, with an improvement in our net debt to $51.6 miflion, leading to a
net debt to EBITDA ratio of 1x compared to 1.2x at the end of 2019. We generated $48.7 million in free cash flow
over the year, using approximately $4 million in cash for restructuring activities related to our Transformation
Plan. Net income from continuing operations for 2020 was $17.8 million compared to $6.0 million in 2019. We
continued to return funds to shareholders in the form of reqular dividends each quarter throughout 2020. As
markets recover we expect to retum to growth in 2021 and with a strong balance sheet, Luxfer is well positioned
to create additional value for our shareholders.

Translation Exchange Rates

The consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, the reporting currency of the Group. The
principal currencies used to translate the results of non-U.S. operations is GBP sterling. In 2020, GBP sterling
fluctuations relative to the U.S. dollar resuited in net favourable movements when translating the operating
results of UK, operations into U.S. dollars.

Revenue

On an IFRS reported basis, revenue from operations was $324.8 million in 2020, a decrease from $373.4 million
in 2019. The reasons for revenue decline are discussed in detail by segment below.

Elektron Segment revenue in 2020 was $182.9 million compared to $219.9 million in 2019, a decrease of 16.8%
on the prior year, largely as a result of COVID-19 related disruption to General Industrial and Transportation end
markets. Revenue was lower in the Segment primarily due to:

+ Decreased sales of zirconium-based industrial catalysts;
+ Lower sales of photo-engraving plates and magnesium countermeasure flaras;
+ Lower sales of magnesium aerospace alloys; and

+  $7.6 million revenue decline as a result of the divestiture of Elektron's magnesium Czech recycling
business in 2019.

This was partially offset by increased revenues from Luxfer Magtech chemical detection kits.

Gas Cylinders Segment revenue was lower at $141.9 million compared to $153.5 million in 2019, a 7.6%
decrease on prior year. This decrease was primarily the result of COVID-19 related disruption marked by
temporary customer shutdowns, especially reduced sales of SCBA composite cylinders used by first responders.
The decrease in revenue was partially offset by continued growth in alternative fuel cylinder sales.

Cost of Sales and Gross Prafit
The 3.0 percentage point decrease in gross profit as a percentage of sales in 2020 from 2019 was primarily the
result of:

= Adverse sales mix;
= Unfavorable foreign exchangé variances; and
« Impact of short-term process inefficiency following plant consolidation exercisss.

These decreases were partially offset by cosl savings resulting from our continued effort to reduce production-
based costs, partially derived from our Transformation Plan,
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Operating Profit

Operating profit of $31.0 million increased 36.6% from $22.7 million in 2019. The $24.5 million decrease in gross
profit has been offset by the effect of the Company's cost saving initiatives, which has contributed to the
reduction in administrative and distribution costs. Restructuring and other expenses -of $7.3 miilion were down
from $29.8 million in 2019.ln 2020, there was an additionat $5.4 million in costs relating 1o the closure of Luxfer
Gas Cylinders’ French site.

In response to uncertain global economic conditions, we undertook actions to reduce the Company's cost
structure and improve operating efficiency. These actions included a workforce reduction program resulting in
$1.4 million of severance-related charges, of which $0.4 million and $0.9 million was incurred in the Gas
Cylingers and Elektron segment respactively, and $0.1 million in Other.

There has also been an additional $0.4 million charge recognized as the result of the Company's decision to
commence a projact to remove low-level naturally occurring radioactive material (NORM) from a redundant
building at Elektron's Manchester, UK site.

Taxation

In 2020, we reported a tax charge of $6.2 million on profit before tax of $24.0 million, representing an effective
tax rata of 25.8%. The charge of $6.2 million was made up of a current incomae tax charge of $2.2 million and a
deferred income tax charge of $4.0 million. The 2020 effective lax rate was impacted due to the effect of non-
deductible expenses linked to restructuring projects.

In 2019, we reperted a tax charge of $8.2 million on profit before tax of $14.2 million, repreésenting an effective
tax rate of 57.7%. The tax charge was made up of a current incame tax charge of $4.2 million and a deferred tax
charge of $4.0 millon. The 2019 effective tax rate was significantly impacted due to the effect of large naon-
deductible expenses linked to restryucturing projects.

Net Income for the Year

Net income for the year from continuing operations was $17.8 million, compared to $6.0 million in 2018. The
increase can be attributed to the significantly reduced restructuring and other expense and lower administrative
expenses coupled with a lower effective tax rale; partially offset by the reduction in gross profit as a resuit of
COVID-19 disruption.

Cash Flow

in 2020, net cash flows from operating activities increased by $48.7 million to $56.9 million from $10.2 million in
2019. The increase is predominantly due to improvements in working capital and an approximate $15 million
reduction in cash spent on restructuring activities. The Company has continued to return funds to its
shareholders in the form of requiar dividends each quarter throughout 2020.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased to $7.1 million compared to $8.9 million in 2019. Capital
expenditure in 2020 was $8.2 miilion, a $5.7 miifion reduction compared with $13.9 miilion in 2619, in 2020 the
Company received $1.5 from the sale of its Indian joint venture, compared with $4 .4 miilion and $1.2 million as a
result of the sale of the Czech recycling business and sale of property, plant and equipment respectively in 2019.
The Company paid $0.4 million, the fina} installment, in relation to deferred consideration in 2020, compared to
$0.5 million in 2019.

The Company had net cash cutflows from financing activities $59.5 million compared to $1.3 miliion in 2019, The
main reason for the decrease was the §25 million early repayment of the joan note due in 2021, coupled with the
$13.2 million reduction in the RCF. Cash outflows in respect of dividend payments to holders of our ordinary
shares were $13.6 million, consistent with 2019,

Shareholder Equity and Borrowings

Shareholder equity as at December 31, 2020, was $155.3 million, compared to $161.9 million at December 31,
2019, the decrease being primarily attributable to the payment of dividends, unfavorable measurement of
defined benefit pension plans and movements relating to share-based compensation, partially offset by the
contribution of net income and FX transfation gains. The Company had grass debt of $53.1 million and net debt
of $51.6 million as at December 31, 2020. Invested capital, defined as total shareholder equity plus net debt,
was $206.9 million as at December 31, 2020; this compares to an equivalent figure of $242.6 million in 2019.
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Future Developments
Operating objectives and trends that we expéect to impact Luxfer in 2021 include the folfowing:

+  Proactive responses to the COVID-19 pandemic including health and well-being initiatives, stimulating
demand for products, ensuring continuity of supply and focused cost savings programs;

+ Divestiture of non-strategic alumjnum businesses (identified as discontinued operations) and integration
of the acquisition of Structural Composites Industries LLC {SCI), in the Gas Cylinders segment;

+ Refocus on productivity acteleration and growth recovery post COVID-19 as we capitalize on lean
manufacturing initiatives and pursue faster product innovation;

+ Continued focus on developing global talent and fostering a high-performanice culture; and

« Improved operaling cash generation with lower restructuring activity and maintaining strong working
capital performance.

Essential Contracts or Arrangements

Apart from our financing agreements, we do not have any individual contracts or other arrangements that are
fundamentatl to the ability of the business to operate effectively.
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Environment, Social and Governance ("ESG") Matters

At Luxfer, we recognize the importance of environmental stewardship, social responsibilily, and leading
governance practices. Advancing ESG matters is not only crucial to our business, our customers, and to all our
stakeholders, but it is simply the right thing to do. While 2020 brought disruption with the COVID-19 pandemic, it
also drove health and safely issues lo the forefront, challenging us to think differently about our worid, our
experiences, and our beliefs. Although difficut at times, 2020 inspired us to reflect on our purpose. We are taking
deliberate steps to fully integrate ESG into our strategy and daily actions which reflects our commitment to
sustainable growth and long-term financial performance.

We are more devoted than ever to ESG efforts and social responsibility. The publication of our first-ever ESG
Report in Navember 2020 set the stage for integration of sustainable practices and rescurce management
thraughout the Company. In addition, the Report sets forth our environmental protection goals, which address
emissions, water, and waste-to-landfill reduction targets which we seek to achieve by 2025. It discloses soclal
and employment statistics, community outreach activities, provides an overview of our governance structure and
the Board of Director’s rale in ESG improvements. New corporate policies were unveiled in the Report, including
our hew Third Party Code of Conduct and the Environmental, Health and Safety Policy. The primary function of
the Report is to inifiate consistent reporting on ESG matters, improve our transparency and disclosure, and
formulate the basis for an informed conversation between Luxfer and our stakeholders. We have committed 10
publishing a new ESG report on a biennial basis going forward.

While Luxfer's management team is responsible for developing the Company's strategy and managing day-to-
day operations, the Board of Directars oversees the Company's direction, including gavernance-related policies
and practices; our system of risk oversight and management; how we advance environmental sustainability and
climate related challenges: health and safety; human rights; human capital management and corporate cuiture;
and the manner in which we serve our customers and support our communities. We recognize that the long-term
success of our Company requires continued focus on these evalving topics and a commitment to regularly
evaluate and improve our performance in relation to them.

Helping Create a Greener World

With transportation being one of the highest poliution-emitting sectors, many of our products already serve the
growing need to safeguard the environment in this field. For example, Luxfer played a vital role in developing the
U.K's first hydror%en-powered train. The project was comprised of an electric train which was retrofitted to run
using our G-Stor” H, hydrogen fuel system and began operations in September 2020. We have also developed
partnerships with bus manufacturing companies and, in late 2020, unveiled the first hydrogen-powered double-
decker bus. Qur hydrogen fuel systems have been applied to a variety of vehicles in a series of world firsts
including the first commercially produced hydrogen powerad trucks, refuse trucks, boats and tractors.

Similarly, our zirconium-based aulocatalyst products hetp reduce automotive emissions. Driven by increasing
legislation, we work with our custormners to offer tailor-made solutions based on our Gasoline Particulate Filtration
systems, Diesel Oxidation Catalysts, Diese! Particulate Filters, passive NO, Absorbers and selective catalytic
reduction systems. These systems reduce the amount of toxic gasses and pollutants contained in exhaust from
traditional diesel and gasoline engines. Further, our unique magnesium alloys used in aerospace and automotive
designs enable lighter and stronger models, which help maximize fuel efficiency, lower emissions, and increase
performance through lightweight materials.

Innovating products that help our customers reduce their emissions is just as important to us as reducing
emissions from our own operations. Qur facility located in Madison, llinois, U.S. recently installed a thermal
oxidizer to help with Volatile Organic Compound ("VOC") abatement, which reduced VOC output by 98%,
preventing approximately 4 metric tons of VOC's from being released into the atmosphere. In addition to
greenhouse gas amission reduction nitiatives, we are also working to implement additional projects to assist
with our water usage and waste-to-landfill reduction goals as we look forward to achieving the envircnmental
targets set aut in our 2020 ESG report by 2025, '
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Managing Environmental impact

The effects of climate change and the degradation of earth’s natural resources are becoming more apparent
each year. As a global company, we have a vision to be a leader in sustainable business within our industry,
lending us an opportunity ta not only reduce our impact on the environment, but also have a positive one. While
our facilities are designed to mitigate negative environmental impacts from our operations as much as possible,
there is still more we can do. With this in mind, we committed {0 our 2025 Environmental Goals, which were
published in our 2020 ESG Report. We recognize the importance of holding ourselves accountable to the
environment, and our Environmental Goals were set with a view to reduce the environmental impact of our
operations by 2025. Qur 2025 Environmental Goals are:

= 20% reduction of CO,e

+  20% reduction in waste sent to landfill
« 15% increase in recycled packaging

* 10% increase in material efficiency

«  40% reduclion in freshwater usage

The publication of cur ESG Report and our 2025 Environmental Goals serves as a first step to increase our
transparency and raise the bar for more sustainable operations. To put these goals inte action, we have
implemented our Environmental, Health, and Safety ("EHS") Management System. Based on ISO 14001
standards, our EHS Management System is comprised of policies, procedures and objectives focused on
compliance, footprint reduction and management of EHS performance. Luxfer's businesses track progress and
perform self-audits in accordance with the EHS Management System with the goal of continually improving the
safety of our products, enhancing environmental protection initiatives and preventing occupational lllnesses and
injuries.

We will continue strengthening our controls as we work toward achievemant of our 2025 Environmental Goals.
At present, over 80% of all Luxfer operations are 1SO 14001 certified. Additionally, various facilities have been
recognized as 1ISO 9001, ISO 45001, ISO 13485, AS 9100, IATF 16949 and NSF 61 compliant. We are confident
that our internal programs, combined with initiatives governed by ISO 14001, will help us further reduce our
environmental footprint and achieve our 2025 Environmentat Goals.

In addition to these controls and certifications, cerfain Luxfer businesses participate in compliance and
knowledge-sharing forums with other companies in our industry. For example, our UK. MEL Technologies
business is subject to the European Union Regulation, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals
{"REACH") contrals {Incorporated into U.K. legislation following the U.K's exit from the European Union.), which
aims to hold manufacturers and importers responsible for understanding and managing the environmental and
health risks associated with the use of certain chemicals. Our MEL Technologies business participales as a
member or lead member in REACH consortia, during which manufacturers and importers of [ike substances
cooperate with one another and collect information, gather data, and register certain chemicals in fuffilmeni of
REACH requirements. Participants work together to assess potential hazards and risks posed by these
chemicals and how those risks can best be controlled.

Managing Energy Use

Energy is a major requirement for Luxfer's operations which involve melting and forming metals, changing the
state of chemicals, and running heavy machinery. We are subject to a wide variety of regulations regarding
energy usage in the UK. and take every step necessary to ensure our compliance with those regulations. Our
U.K. plants have signed up for the European-wide Energy Saving Opportunity Scheme, which mandates that all
large organizations calculate the total energy use and perform energy audits across their businesses once every
four years. Baseline audits were performed in 2017 and will oceur again in 2021. Our U.K. operations are also
registered with and regulated under the Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy Efficiency Scheme ("CRC™),
designed to further mobilize companies to reduce CO, emissions by incentivizing energy efficiency. Further, al!
Luxfer UK. operations participate in Climate Change Agreements, with the exception of aur Gas Cylinders plant
due to the nature of its cold-extrusion process.

[n addition to regulatory requirements, Luxfer alsé operates several internal programs that will help us increase
our energy efficiancy. For example, Luxfer's Reducad Energy Demand ("RED") Program identifies Initiatives that
will reduce energy consumption and provide more efficient operation. Our RED projects coordinate with our
energy partner to asses each Luxfer site for opportunities to reduce energy consumption, create less waste, and
educate our employees on the value of environmental protection. Any RED propasals include a detailed analysis
measuring the financial, environmental and safety impact of each project, and will include a renewable energy
alternative that will be implemented if financially and practically feasible.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Each Luxfer business unit monitors its usage of the following: -

- - Electricity (from utility bilis); .

. Natural gas {frem utility bills); |

. Frapane (for fork-lift trucks from number of bomes used multiplied by capacity).

. Cover gases (to prevent molten metal from oxidizing from number of cylinders used muitiptied by
capacity);

. Any other greenhouse gases used in the manufacturing process (from amount invoiced).

Other than for electricity, the conversion into equivalent CO, tonnes is done using standard conversion factors
raadily available from websites of, for example, DEFRA in tha U.K. Broadly speaking, natural gas and other pure
gases have a very similar CO, equivalency no matter where it is sourced.

For electricity, the CO; equivalency is dependent on the power stations that generate it. Accordingly, each Luxfer
business uses the ‘local’ equivalency factor published on official sites. For our U.S. businesses this is published
on the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency website, and is updated each year according to the mix of power-
generation facilities in use. Historically, the U.K. has been a heavy user of electricity generation but it has
transitioned away from using coalfired power and is increasingly adapting zero-emissions technologies,
especially off-share wind power.

Each-Luxfer business unit has a manager responsible for data collection, which is subsequently collated
centrajly at year end, along with other accounting information. Natural gas and all other gasses are classified as
‘Scope 1' and electricity usage is classified as 'Scope 2'. Year-on-year figures are used to identity any anomalies,
and similar business units are compared to one another to ensure consistency and understanding of the
information, At present, we do not collect details of emissions from travel.

The Greenhouse Gas ("GHG") emissions statement Below provides a summary of the Group GHG (Carbon)
emissions for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019. We report an both Scope 1 and Scope 2
emission sources:

Scope 1 emissions: Direct emissions from sources owned or operated by the Group such as natural gas usage
and other CO2 equivalent emissions such as §F6;

Scope 2 emissions:  Indirect emissions attributable to the Group due te its consumption of electricity.
Greenhouse Gas Emission Statement

Baseling year Full year 2020
[Consolidition Appréach £z F Opetational Contral. o
Boundary Cansolldated factones operatad by us to manufaclure Group produc!s

11
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Greenhouse Gas Emission Source

2020 2019
| . R (tCO.e)' (tCO0/$1mSV) (tCO.e)’' (tCO.e/$1mSV)|
Scope 1 o
Fual combustlion (natural gas and other CO2 emissions) and
operation of facilities 54,124 166.6 71,764 1922
Scp‘ﬁa',z B T K s . e oty
Purchased electricity | ° - = e . 40,218 ° 1238 ¢ 29,448 - 789 ..
Statutory total (Scope 1 & 2)2 _ 94,342 290.4 101,212 271.1
Notes:

. Tonnes of CO; equivalent.

* Statutory carban reporting disclosura raquired by the Comganlas Act 2006 {Strateglc Report and Directors' Report) Ragulations 2013,

Overall our total CO,e emissions decreased by 6.8% from confinuing operations in 2020, however, our COze
emissions per $million of sales increased by 7.1%. From 2019 to 2020, fuel combustion (Scope 1) decreased by
24.6%, while purchased electricity (Scope 2) increased by 36.6%. We attribute the decrease in overall emissions
in part, to the divesture of several manufacturing plants, one of which was a large contributor to Scope 1
emisslons through the use of propane in its operations. Another factor that impacted our overall statutory totals
for Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions in 2020, particulariy our CO.e emissions per $million of sales, is reduced
sales as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic,

Industry Engagement

Our Segments are active members of relevant industry associations and standards bodies, both In Europe and
North America, where they have a positive influence as members, officers, and technical advisors. They often
participate in, and chair committees within, those associations on technical and other matters of interest or
concern to their relevant industry, including standards, specifications and safety. These organizations include the
International Magnesium Assogiation, the Chemical industry Asscciation, the Zircon Industry Association, the
Compressed Gas Association, the Metal Powder Producers Association, the British Standards Institute, the
Canadian Standards Association, the American Society of Testing and Materials, and many others.
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Our People

A large and important part of our lives is spent on the job. We recognize that our employees are the basis of our
success and the foundation of our future. As such, we are committed to fostering an inclusive, honest, healthy
and diverse work environment. Entrenched in Jongstanding policies of Luxfer, we promote workforce diversity,
employee education and development, and community involvement. Through these policies and practices, we
continue 1o develop a world-class team. We constantly strive to create an environment where differences are
valued, supported and encouraged.

Human Rights and Labor Practices

We are committed to respecting and safeguarding internationally recognized human rights standards set forth in
the UN Universa) Declaration of Human Rights and the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights,
and any laws at the national, regional and local levels. As such, our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct and
our recently updated Human Rights and Labor Practices Policy makes clear the principies, requirements and
expectations of Luxfer and its employees to protect fundamental human rights in all areas of our business.
These protections include fair and humane treatment, protections against forced labor and child labor, and fair
wages, benefits and warking hours.

We assess our patential and actual impacts on human rights on a regular basis. As of 2020, Luxfer has obtained
1SO 45001/0OHSAS 18001 certification for our abor and human rights management system, which covers up to
40% of our current operations. To ensure compliance with our standards and policies, our employees undergo
annual training on how to identify human rights violations and how to combat and prevent them. Through
adherence to these policies and application of learned skills, we have adopted sound human rights practices to
ensure that our employees are trealed with the dignity and respect they deserve.,

Equal Opportunity, Non-Discrimination & Anti-Harassment

Luxfer is an equal opportunity employer. We take every precaution to ensure that no applicant or employee
receives less favorable treatment on the grounds of any characteristic protected by law. We have a zero-
lolerance approach to discrimination during any stages of empleyment including recruitment, job assignment,
promotion, remuneration, training and benefits as set farth in our Equal Oppertunity, Non-Discrimination & Anti-
Harassment policy. In line with this Policy, we are committed to providing a work environment free of
harassment, abusive behavior and unprofessional conduct based on any protected characteristics. Our policy
applies to all persons involved in the operation of the Company and any employee including supervisars,
managers, and any third-parties such as vendors, customers, independent contractors, unpaid interns and
volunteers.

Training is key to promote equal opportunities and diversity. Our talent acquisition team and hiring managers
undergo regular training to ensure that a diverse slate of candidates is considered for all job openings. We have
developed recruitment practices to target diverse candidates including minorities, veterans and women. We also
monitor our current workforce for diversity, age and gender demographics and use this information to further
develop our employment and recruitment practices and enhance our inclusive work environment. Ali new and
existing employees are required to undergo anti-harassment, non-discrimination and unconscious bias trainings
on an annual basis.

Health and Safety

Luxfer is committed to being an industry leader in occupational safety. We continuously strive to foster an
environment where safety principles are integrated into daily activities to eliminate illnesses and injuries. Our
well-defined health and safety policies and procedures are enhanced by ongoing employee training, which
solidify our standards for respecting and protecting our employees, the public, and our associates. We regularly
conduct gap analyses and develop safety goals and cbjectives for all our business units. We monitor, Teview and
discuss our safety performance with respect to these objectives and our policies as a part of our enterprise-wide
risk management system. Moreover, safety measurements are integrated into the performance evaluations of
our Executives, proving our dedication to the safety of cur employees.

We have chosen days tost from lost-time accidents ("LTAs") as a key performance indicator as shown on page 5.
We are pleased to report that 2020 has been an exceptional year for safety. The 328 of working days lost
through accidents in 2020 has seen an increase in previous years, however, this was predominantly due to two
isolated cases.
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Additionally, we understand that the personal health and well-being of our employees increases productivity,
improves morale, creates a pusilive work environment and reduces healthcare costs. Luxfer offers several health
and wellness benefits that encourage employees to improve their personal health. Far example, beginning in
January 2020, we implemented a smoking cessation program in which employees who successfully complete a
90-day smoking cessation plan are rewarded with discounted insurance rates. We also proved access to
wellness clinics and funded counseling sessions to improve the physical and mental heaith of our employees. In
2019, we rolled aut the Luxfer Employee Healthy Lifestyle program which will soon be available to all Luxfer
employees worldwide. The purpose of the program is fo encourage employees to take steps toward improving
their health and offering some reimbursement far certain gym and fitness center memberships and for weight
loss programs and group exercise classes. We believe that by supporting our employee's physical and mental
health, we are building a heaithiar, more productive workforce.

Employee Benefits Programs

We believe that financial security is just as important as physical and mental well-being. To that end, we work
hard to maintain a work-life balance for our employees that fosters job satisfaction and increases retention.
Luxfer offers competitive base pay and, depending on position, variable incentive pay that is assoclated with
individual performance and the performance of the Company as a whole. The variable incentive pay schemes
are available to motivate employees to achieve financial, business and personal targets. Additionally, while some
programs differ internationally due to local regulations, Luxfer offers group medical, dental, vision, life insurance
plan options, savings and retirement plans, and many other resources to enhance empioyees' lives both
physically and financiafly.

In 2013, we began offering an all-employee share invastment plan (“SIP") to our UK. employees. Since then, a
substantial number of employees have taken the opportunity to make contributions out of their pay under the
plan, allawing them to purchase Company shares on a six-monthiy basis. In 2014, we established an employee
stock purchase plan ("ESPP") under which our U.S. employees can accumulate contributions from pay over a
six-monthly pericd to purchase Company shares. Both plans are established under the relevant national
legisiation to take advantage of tax efficiencies, if available. While participation is entirely voluntary, the plans
ensure that rewards for employees are aligned with returns to shareholders through personal financial
investment and is another way that we support a well-balanced investment pian for our employees. We are
investigating ways in which we might, where cost-effective, offer the opportunity to purchase shares on a regular
basis In jurisdictions where we have smaller numbers of employees.

We also offer a long-term incentive plan intended to attract and retain high quality senior employees in an
environment where compensation levels are based on a global market. Participants are eligible to receive a
grant of awards over shares and/or performance awards over shares where the targets are designed to align
their remuneration with returns to shareholders. The purpose of the plan is also to reward the achievement of
business targets and key strategic objectives.

Training and Development

Wae beliave it is imperative to invest in our employees and encourage personal and professional development.
Over the last few years, we have significantly increased resources and time allocated to employee training,
recruitment, personal development and retention.

As a part of our compliance pregram, we operate an enterprise-wide online training platform which provides
interactive trainings on compliance topics such as business ethics, code of conduct awareness, anti-bribery and
corruptian, conflicts of interest, intagrity in the workplace, diversity, cybersecurity, whistleblowing and more.
These mandatory compliance trainings are required for all Luxfer staff. Additionally, the training platform provides
access lo a wealth of non-mandatory courses for employees looking to further enhance their business skills.
These courses include business leadership and collaboration, customar service, and tutorials on commanly used

software and technology such as Microsoft Office.

Training at the business unit level is also necessary to ensure compliance with local law and regulations, which
varies across Luxfer's operations. Highly specialized training is conducted in a varlety of formats specific to role
ar job type and is necessary to support employees on a segment and cross-segment basis. Training is delivered
both from intemal resources and third-party external resources as appropriate. Personal development of aur
employees, as a core value of Luxfer, is promoted and encouraged throughout our individual businesses which
have a duty to assist in the personal development of employees as a part of their own strategies.

Luxfer management works closely with employees io ensure that our workforce has the skills and experience
necessary far growth and profitability. In order to safeguard Luxfer's legacy and ensure business continuity, our
management and execulive development program focuses on individual strengths and fosters technical skills
and knowledge to create the next generation of well-rounded Luxfer leaders. With a multi-faceted curriculum, our
training and development program provides critical problem-solving, business management and leadership skills
necessary for Luxfer's continued success.
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We understand that training and education for a particular role is just as important as continuing education
outside of the workplace. Recognizing and appreciating the personal ambitions of each of our individual
employees, Luxfer has implemented an Educational Assistance Program. All full-ime employees who have been
employed by the Company for more than one year can receive financial assistance for successful completion of
educational coutrses, training workshops, seminars or courses part of a certificate or degree program in subjects
and fields that pertain to our business and Company operations.

Further information on employee policies, communication and engagement can be found in the Directors’ Report
on pages 34 {g 36.

At December 31, 2020, the number of employees was, as follows:

Employees * — , Male** Female**

. iDirectors of Luxfer Holdings PLC : 4 e 2 H
Senior Managers 39 i2
[Employees o ) . 1,011 - 376 -

*Tha Directars of Luxfer Holdings PLC Incluts 5 independent Non-Execuliva Dirgctors who are not-emplioyess of the-Company.
| ** 203 male.and 17 female employess Includad in tha (able releted to discontinued operations,
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Customers and Suppliers

Recognizing our customers as the source of our success, a core value of Luxfer is always putting the customer
first. Qur products are highly customizable and are tailored to suit the highly specific needs of each individual
customer. We always strive to build and maintain long-term relationships with our customers based on mutual
cooperation and the highest standards of quality and service. Working in close coliaboration with one another,
we work hard to find innavative solutions to suit their needs for advanced materials and products. Our focus is on
demanding applications where our technical know-how and manufacturing expertise combine to deliver a
superior product.

Luxfer has a complex global supply chain. We understand that such complexity comes with certain risks, which
demands that we maintain a high leve! of due diligence and vigilance of the third parties and suppliers with
whom we do business. Pursuant to our Third Party Code of Conduct, we expect all new and existing suppliers
comply with this Code and reflact its principles in their own policies. This applies to all third parties including
contractors, suppliers, agents and service providers, To ensure our compliance with applicable laws, we conduct
thorough examinations, supplier risk assessments, and both on- and off- site audits. We also require that third
parties allow representatives from Luxfer and, if requested, Luxfer's customers, fuli access to their production
facilities, worker records and employees for confidential interviews. We consistently ensure that we are using
appropriate due diligence procedures to vet our suppliers prior to and during any engagements and we reject
suppliers wha do not fulfill our requirements. While we have multiple sourcing options in almost every area of the
Group, our key suppliers are important to us, and we have chosen them for their combination of quality, delivery
performance and value for money.

Responsible Business Ethics

Luxfer is committed to the highest standards of corporate governance and business ethics. Qur Company's
ongoing success stems from our deeply engrained culture of ethics and integrity. Acting with integrity allows us
to meet the high expectations of our custamers, business partners, and the communities in which we operate,
thus giving Luxfer a competitive advantage.

Luxfer's Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, which Is the designated code
of ethics applicable to cur Board, Executive Officers, employees and everyane conducting business on Luxfer's
behalf. The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct provides a guide to appropriate business conduct and
acceptable behavior for persons associated with Luxfer, It applies to financial conduct, and relatienships
amongst employees and our relationships with our customers and suppliers. Compliance with the Code is a
condition of employment and doing business with Luxfer. Additionally, we have a comprehensive Whistleblowing
Policy in place which prohibits retaliation against anyone who raises a business conduct concem in good faith or
caoperates in a Company investigation. Employees are encouraged to report any suspected wrongdoing via our
anonymous whistleblowing hotline which is available 24/7 and offers multi-fingual support for reporters in more
than 170 languages.

Luxfer has a comprehensive compliance program in piace to ensure our compliance with ali laws and regulations
in various jurisdictions in which we operate. We have Company-wide policies which are reviewed regulatly by
sanior management as well as policies that are specific to business unit. Further, Luxfer offers a comprehansive
online compliance training platform to employees. The training platform assigns tailored training modules fo
employees based on their role and area of respansibility within the Company. A number of these courses are
considered mandatory compliance trainings for all employees. Each mandatory compliance training is configured
to include the corresponding Company policy on the topic and require written attestation by each employee that
they have read, understand, and agree to comply with each policy. Examples of recent training modules in 2020
include athics and integrity in the workplace, anti-bribery and anti-corruption, insider trading and dealing, global
anti-trust and competition, recognizing conflicts of interest, privacy and information security, cybersecurity, and
workplace harassment prevention.

Community Engagement

Luxfer helps build sustainable communities through investment and involvement of our business, sites, and
employees woridwide. We leverage our skills and experience to make a difference in the world through
community activities, donations and employee engagement initiatives that are consistently encouraged and
sponsored by our Executive Leadership Team. Among others, our business units have partnered with Air
Ambulance Charity, American Red Cross, Boys and Gids Club of Cincinnati, Feed America, the Piedmont
Rescue Mission, Pratham, United Way and the Velerans Food Bank of Calgary. We participate in annual blood
drives, canned food drives, community clean-up events and holiday gift drives.

Qur Volunteer Time Off program was rolled out to US employees and wiil saon be extended to all Luxfer
employees. Full-time employees can volunteer one working day per calendar year toward a non-profit or
charitable organization of their choice, and such day is considered paid time off, Further, Luxfer Gas Cylinders
has teamed with United Way and implemented the Employee Fair Share Program. Employses are encouraged
to donate 1 hour of pay per month to United Way and, in exchange, Luxfer provides the paricipants with one
additional vacation day, a "Fair Share" day, to be taken on the participant's birthday. In 2020, this provided
approximately $35,000 to United Way from our Riverside focation through employee and Company contributions.
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Qur business units are committed to providing educational opportunities and work experience to students in our
communities. We offer a number of internship and apprenticeship. opportunities in various fields, We have
developed a Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) apprenticeship program to encourage
students to pursue careers in the STEM fields.

Section 172 statement

Luxfer's Board of Directors is responsble for oversealing the Company’s long-term business strategy. Each year,
management presents to the Board, and the Board discusses and approves detatled long-term stfategic plans
for the Company. In addition to the overall strategic plan for Luxfer, these discussions also includs sessions on
each business unit, portfolio management, growth and innovation, legal and compliance strategy and operafions
and supply chain transformation. The Board also oversees the Company’s approach lo ESG matters and the
Company's governance related policies and practices; our system of risk oversight and management; and how
we advance environmental sustainability, health and safety in our business and operations. The Directors take
their responsibiiities under Companies Act 2006 seriously and consider their responsibilities to stakeholders
when making decisions for the Group. The responsibilities under Section 172 are underpinned by our values of
customer first, innovation, accountability, personal development and teamwaork. '

Shareholder and public engagement are essential to maintaining our strong corpeorate governance practices. We
valye feedback and input from all our sharsholders and respond to concerns identified during the engagement
process. Engaging regularly with our giobai shareholders. helps us gain valuabile insights into the governance
issues about which they care most. We seek a collaborative and mutually beneficial approach 16 Issues of
importance to shareholders that affect our business and to assure that our corporate governance practices
remain industry-leading from their perspectives.

Further information regarding the role of the Board and how they have complied with the requirements of section
172 are included in the Corporate Gavernance statement on pages 26 to 31.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties
internal Controls and Risk Management

Luxfer has a comprehensive, enterprise-wide risk management program designed to assess, monitor, and
mitigate risks that arise in the course of business. Consistent with our leadership structure, management has the
day-to-day responsibility for assessing and managing the Company's risk exposure, while the Board of Directors
" provides aversight in connection with those efforts,

In general, the Board oversees the management of risks in the operation of the Company's business; the
implementation of its strategic plan; its acquisitions and divestitures; its capital structure, allocation and liquidity;
its risk managemant controls; and its organizational structure. The Board fulfills its risk oversight function both
directly and through delegation fo the Board Committees. Each of our Board Committees has historically focused
and continues to focus on specific risks within their respective areas of responsibility. The Board performs its risk
oversight rale in several ways. Board meetings regularly include strategic overviaws by the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financlal Officer that describe the most significant issues and risks affecting the Company.
Additionally, the Board is regularly provided with business updates from our business unit leaders, General
Counsel, and other functional leaders. Reviewing and assessing any identified risks on a regular basis, the
Board manages such risks in accordance with Luxfer's Enterprise Risk Management process.

As a global, multi-industrial company, Luxfer faces a range of risks, including general economlc, credit and
capital market conditions risks, regulatory risks, global climate change risk, and several other risks, which are
fully listed and explained in our annual Form 10-K filed with the SEC.

Internal Financial Controls

During 2020, the Internal audit function among other things, continued to work on the internal controls over
financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

As at December 31, 2020, the Executive Director in his capacity as Chief Executive Officer carried out an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures under the
supervision and the participation of the Executive Leadership Team, responsible for the management of the
internal cantrals. In accordance with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and as included
in the Form 10-K filed with the SEC, management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting based on the Internal Contro! - Integrated Framework (the 2013 Framework)
issued by the Committee of Sponsaring Organisations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation,
management has conciuded that internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020.

Remediation of Prior Material Weakness - Implementation of new ERP system

As previously disclosed, as a result of a new ERP system implementation in the fourth quarter of 2019, there
were control deficiencies identified that led to a material weakness (as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) in our
internal contro! over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019.

The Company did not maintain effective controls over certaln IT general controls for the new ERP system.
Specifically, the Company did not (a) adequately tailor privileged access to the financial application, programs,
and data or sufficiently evidence the monitoring of such access, (b} adequately approve exceptions to
segregation of duties in respect of the ability to develop and impiement changes to the IT production
environment; ang (c) ensure that it appropriately used complete and accurate information in performing
monitaring and oversight controls. In addition, as a consequence of the implementation of the new ERP system,
the Company did nat design, implement and consistently operate effectively certain process-level controls in the
fourth quarter in respect of the appropriate recording, accounting, and review of certain transactions and
accounts; and ensure the compleleness and accuracy of system-generated information used in performing
certain IT.dependent manual controls.

In response, management has taken the following actions:
1. Implemented enhance controls to monitor and document privileged access to, and segregation of duties
within the ERP system;
2. Implemented process impravements designed to ensure the completeness and accuracy of the system-
generated information used in performing IT-dependent manual contrals; and
3. Updated the design of certain process-level controfs in respect of the appropriate recording, accounting
and review of transactions,

Based.on the testing performed, as of December 31, 2020, managemant has conclyded that these controls are
operating effectively and the material weakness has been remediated.
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Treasury and Financial Risk

The Group operates a central treasury function that controls all barrowing facilities, investment of surplus funds
and management of financial risks. The Group also has a number of financial risks. The management of these
financial risks and mitigating actions are explained further in Note 29 of the Group consolidated financial
statements.

We set out in the tables below our principal risks and uncertainties and how we seek to mitigate or eliminate

them,

Area of Risk

Mitigating Activity

Dapendency on certaln key markets - The Group depends on
certain end-markets, including automotive, self-contalned breathing
apparatus, aerospace and defence, medical and printing and paper.
An economic downturn or regulatory changes in any of these end-
markels could reduce sales. To the extent that any of these cyclical
end markets are in decline, at a low paint In their sconomic cycle, or
subject to regulatory change, sales and margins on those saies
may be adversely affected. It is passible that all or most of these
end markets could be in decline at the sama time {e.g., during an
economic downturn such as that caused by the current COVID-18
pandemic). Any significant reduction in sales could have a matetial
adverse impact on our results of operations, financial position and
cash flows.

The Group's diverse product portfalio reduces the
risk of any one adverse external economic factor
impacting across all of these end-markets;
however, a range of external factors could impact
across the majority or all of the Group's end-
markets, To further mitigate this risk, the Group
contirues to invest in research and development
and fo innovate, working clossly with its
customaers, to develop next generation products in
these end markets.

Effect of external factors due to the global nature of our
business - Cur global presence exposes us in the countries in
which we aperate to aconomic conditions, geopaiitical risks, specific
reguiations and other external factors, which could affect our
operations. Following the U.K.’s exit from the European Union
{"EU") on January 31, 2020 a free frade agreement was reached
betwaen the U.K, and EU member states in December 2020, with
new arrangements taking effect from January 1, 2021. The
agreement allows for zero tariffs on goods moving between the UK
and EU. However, the rules are complex and It is still possible that
tariffs will apply, depending on the origin of components of any
goods produced gither in the UK or EU. Therae is also increased
regulatory complexity and potential for disruption to the movement
of raw materials and finished goods at the border. The impact of
thesa changes witl take time to be fully understood and may
adversely affect our operations and financial results.

The Group's diverse product pertfolio and
geographic spread reduces the risk of any one
extemnal factor impacting across all end-markets.
The Group also closely monitors geopolitical and
global ecanomic developments in its markets and
will be closely monitoring the free trade
agreement between the UK and EU and will take
action in response o future regulations regarding
tariffs and the movement of raw materials and
finished goods at the border.

Competitlon - Markets for many of the Group's products are now
increasingly globat and highly competitive, aspecially in terms of
quality, price and service. The Group could lose market share as a
result of these competitive pressures, which could negatively impact
profit margins. More generally, the Group may also face potential
campetitlon from manufacturers of products similar to the Group's
aluminum and magnesium-based praducts using other materlais,
such as stesl, ptastics or composite materials.

The Group continues ta invest in new and better
praducts and aims to focus its resources in
speciality markets that nead high-performance
products and a refiable partner.

Protection and development of intellectual property rights and
changing Industry requirements - As a result of the nature of the
comgpetition faced by the Group, its ability to remain profitable
depends on its ability to protect intellectual praperty and to invest in
research and develapment, which requires funding.

The Graup seeks lo protect its intellectual
property through patents and by reducing the
disclosure of commercially sensitive informatian.
It also invests long-term in new products and
manufacturing processes and maintains this
investment through the business cycle.

Rellance on major customers - If the Group fails to maintain ifs
relationships with lis major customers, or fails to replace customers,
or if thare were reduced deamand from such customers or for the
products-produced by such customers, it could reduce the Group's
sales and have an adverse effect on the Group's financial pesition.
The Group's top 10 customers accounted for, in aggregate,
approximately 35% of Group revenue in 2020. :

Long-termn relationships with customers are
especially important, and the Group's operations
work closely with customers to ansure customer
sarvice is the best in the indusiry and aim to
suppart our customers In their development of
new products through our own product
innovations and technieal know-how.
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Risks refating to interruption of operations - The Group's
production facllities are located worldwide. Any of its facilities could
suffar an interruption in production, either at separate times or at
the same time, bacause of various unavoidable occurrences
Including major equipment failure. Although the Group carries
insurance, the cover on certain catastraphic events or natura)
disasters, including earthquakes and certain other events, could be
limited.

The Group performs routine maintenancs on its
production equipment cn all its manufacturing
sites. These maintenance programmes are
carefully planned to keep all plants operating ata
high level of efficiency, and to reduce the risk of
braakdowns and failure of equipment, Health and
Safety is also a major consideration in the
operation of the Group manufacturing facilities
and Is carefully monitored. The Group carries
comprehensive business Interruption insurance.

Effect of international currency markets - Changes in foreign
currency exchange rates or Interest rates could cause sates to drop
or costs o rise. The Group conducts a large proportion of its
commercial transactions, purchases of raw materials and sales of
goods In various countries and reglons outside of the UK.,
Including the U.S., continental Europe and Asla. Changes in the
relatlve values of currencles can decrease the profits of the
Group’s operations through both the translation of profits Into USD
or on lmport and export transactions,

The Group regularly enters into forward foreign
currency exchange contracts fo manage currency
risks and a Treasury Committee, oversean by the
Chief Financial Officer / Corporate Contraolier,
maonitors the Implementation of the Group's
hedging policy.

Exposure to fluctuations in raw materlal - The Group is exposed
to fluctuations in costs of the raw materials and utilities that are
used to manufacture its products and can incur unexpected cost
changes. The primary raw material used in the manufacturing of
gas cylinders and superformed panels is aluminum, and though our
operations use speclalist alloys, their prices are pegged directly or
indirectly to the quoted London Metal Exchange prices for primary
aluminum. This makes the casts subject to speculative commodity
cost changes, as well as fundamental supply and demand cost
pressures, We have also experienced significant cost fluctuations
in other raw material costs stch as primary magnesium, carbon
fibre, zircon sand and rare earths. The Group's operations also
buy and sell goods in regional markets that may be protected by
tariff barriers. Changes in these tariffs could have an adverse
impact on the profitahility of the operations.

In the long-term the Group has sought to recover
the cost of increased commodity and utility costs
through price increases and surcharges. Short
term fluctuations in the price risk on aluminum
are mitigated by agreeing fixed prices with the
supptiers, along with tha use of LME derivative
contracts.

Increasingly, In recent years we have included in
our sales agreements an ability to share cost
increases with our customers.

Product liabllity and regulatory risks - Tha Group is exposed to
possible claims for personal injury, fatality or property damage that
could rasult from a failure of a product manufactured by the Group,
or of a third party integrating a Group product. Many factors
beyond the Group's control could lead to liabifity claims, which may
in turn lead to product tegal claims or disruption in sales to
customers. The Group could be required to pay a material amount
if & claim is made against It that is not covered by insurance or
otharwisa subjact to indemnification, or that exceeds the insurance
coverage that the Group maintains. Moreover, the Group does not
routinely carry insurance to cover the expense of product recalls,
and litigation involving significant product recalls or product liability
could have a materially adverse effect on the Group s financial
position / performance.

The Group uses its oparating and technical
expertise o mitigate these risks, with a strong
emphasis on high levels of praduct quality and
rigorous testing, and by ensuring that products
ara designed o meet or exceed the regulatary
design standards of the markets they serve,

The Group has also obtained insurance coverage
for most of these types of liabllities.

Environmental costs and ilablitles - The Group may be axpased
to substantial environmental costs and liabilities, including liabilities
associated with divested assets and prior activities performed on
sites before we acquired an interest in them. Our operations,
including the production and delivery of our products, are subject to
a broad range of environmental laws and regulations in each of the
jurisdictions in which we operates, An increase in environmental
costs and liabilities could have a materially adverse effect on the
Group In any given year, which could negatlvely affect the Group's
cash flows.

Ta mitigate this risk the Group seeks to operate
best practice procedures in this area and is in the
process of attaining the 1SO 14001 qualification at
ali of its larger manufacturing sites. The bulk of
the Group’s known environmental issues are
legacy problems that arcse many years ago.
Managemant have a programme In place ta
prograssively improve and eliminate these historic
issues.
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Risks relating to the Group’s retiremant benefit plans - The
Group operates defined banefit arrangements in the U.K and the
U.S. These are further explained in Note 31 of the Group
consofidated financiai statements, Thair funding requirements are
subject to fluctuations in Investmant markets and changes in the life
axpectancy of membars and, as a result, thase plans have
significant dsficits, Increased regulatory burdens have also proved
to be a significant risk, with taxes such as the U.K.'s Pension
Protection Fund Lavy, which cost £0.4 milllon in 2020 (£0.4 million
In 2019). Regulations in this area can also constrain the level of
deht incurred and rastrict the Group's ability to pay dividends.

The Group and the Trustees of the plans closely
monltor the financial performance of the
Schames, taking actuarial and investment advice
as appropriate. These are long-term liabilities,
and we have a programme in place 1o contribute
cash to our defined benefit plans over a number
of years based on affordability and varied
according to our net earnings. Plans are funded
and assets are Invested In a combination of
equities and fixed income securities.

Exposure to risks relatad to cybersecurity threats and
incidents - In the conduct of its business, the Group collects, uses,
transmits and stores data on information technology systems. This
data includes confidential information belonging to us, our
customers and other business partners, as well as personally
identifiable information of individuals. We have experienced, and
expect to continue to be sublact to, cybersecurity threals and
incidents, ranging from employea error or misuse ta individual
attempts to gain unauthorised access to information systems to
sophisticated and targsted measures known as advanced
persistent threats, none of which have materially affected the Group
to date. We also rely in part on the reliability of certain tested third
parties’ cybersecurity measures, including firawalls, virus sofutions
and backup solutions. Cybersecurity incldents may resuit in
business disruption, the misappropriation, corruption or loss of
confidential information and critical data (ours or that of third
parties), reputational damage, regulatory fines, litigation with third
parties, diminution in the value of our iInvestment in research and
development, data privacy issves and Increased cybersecurity
protection and remediation costs. Future cybersecurity breaches or
Incidents or further Increases in cybersecurity protection costs may
have a materially adverse effect on our business, financlal condition
or results of operations.

The Group devotes significant resources to
netwaork security, data encryption and other
measures ta protect our systemns and data from
unauthorised access or misuse, including o meet
certain information security standards that may be
raquired by our customers, all of which increases
cybarsecurity protection costs. As these threats,
and govemment and regulatory oversight of
associated risks, continue to evolve, we may bea
required to expend additional resources to
enhance or expand upon the security measures
we currently maintain.

Our results of operations may continue to be negatively
Impacted by tha coronavirus disease outhreak - In December
2019, tha novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) surfaced in
Wauhan, China. In March 2020, the World Health Organization
characterized COVID-19 as a pandemic. The rapid spread of the
pandemic and the continuously evolving responses to combat it
have had an increasingly negative Impact on the global economy,
resulting In an economic downturn that could impact demand for our
products and our ability ta produce them. With many countries
affgcted, there have been widespread disruptions from the
temporary closure of third-party suppliér and manufacturer facllities
and interruptions in product supply. To date, the outbreak has
resulted in a decline in revenues and profitability. While thera have
been some positive Indicators such as & reduction of restrictive
measures In many countries and the reopening of temporarily
closed facllities, the future Impact remains uncertaln and cannot be
predicted. There Is no agsurance that the pandemic will not have a
material adverse Impact on the future results of the Company. The
extent of thé impact will depend on future developments, incfuding
global and country-spacific actions taken to contain the spread of
COVID-19, such as the roll-out and efficacy of the vaccination
program, as well as the ability of the global economy to recover
from the adversa economic consequences,

The Company continues to monitor tha COVID-19
sltuation closaly, while simultaneously executing
business continuity plans. These business
cantinuity plans include, but are not limited to, (i)
retooling operations to maintain social distance
and maximize amployes safety; {ii) increasing
resources and afforts to satisfy demand from the
most impactful parts of our business; {lii)
expanding flexible work arrangements and
policies, where practical, to maximize employee
safety; (iv) increased monitoring of shori-term
cash flow, including measures to reduce costs
and generate cash; and (v) providing regular
updates to our shareholders, employees,
cistomers, and suppliers In a transparent and
timely manner.

Despite the adverse macro trends, the Company
has a strong halance sheet and access to an
existing $150 millian credit facility, of which only
$4.1 million was drawn down at-the end of the
year following conlinued strong cash generation.
Furthermore, as our net debt to EBITDA ratio has
falien to 1.0x at the end of 2020 (from 1.2x at the
end of 2019}, we have identifled no issues In
refationto financlal covenants nor avaitability of
funding for continued aperations. :
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Approval

The Strategic Report is set out on pages 3 to 21 and incorporates the sections fitled Environment, Sacial and
Gavernance ("ESG") Matters and Principal Risks and Uncertainties.

Signad on behalf of the Board by:

A Maskara'
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Aprit 28, 2021
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GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors

In 2020, Luxfer's Board of Directors was comprised of five (5) Non-Executive Directors including the Board
Chair, and one (1} Executive Director. The maximum number of Directors permitted under the Articles is ten (10).
The Directors have an interest in the shares of the Company as set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 37
to 53.

Qur Articles centain a provision requiring that one-third of the Directors retire by rotation each year. In line with
best practice, the Nominating and Governance Committee has proposed, and the Board has agreed, that ali
Directors should offer themselves for re-election at the 2021 Annual General Meeting ("AGM").

The Directors of the Company wha were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial
statements were:

Name . Age Position
‘. §1 “"Non Execuuve 0|rectcr (Chafr) o 52

{»

Lisa G Trlmberger 60 Non-Execu(lve Dlrector

Biographical information concerning the current members of our Board of Directors is set forth below:
David F. Landless |

David Landless was appointed a Non-Executive Director in March 2013. Effective May 16, 2019, he was
appointed the Chair of the Board of Directars. Mr, Landless currently acts as a member of the Nominating and
Governance Committee. Prior 1o his appointment as Board Chair, Mr. Landless served as the Audit Committee
Chalr from May 2015 through May 2019. Mr. Landless previously acted as a financial expen, as defined under
the NYSE listing rules, on the Audit Committee from March 2013 through April 2020. He was also a member of
the Remuneration Committee from January 2015 through November 2017.

Mr. Landless started his career with Bowater Plc, a pulp, paper, and related products manufacturer, and
Carrington Viyella Plc, a manufacturer of woven textilas. He joined the fiber and chemical manufacturer,
Courtaulds Ple, in 1984. Mr. Landless was appointed Finance Director in several U.K. and U.S. divisions of
Courtaulds Plc from 1983 to 1997 and the Finance Director of Courtaulds Coatings (Holdings) Limited from 1997
to 19989. In 1999, Mr. Landless was appointed Group Finance Director of Bodycote ple, the leading provider of
heat treatment and specialist thermal processing services worldwide, and he held that position until he retired on
January 1, 2017. He is a Non-Executive Director of Innospec, Inc., as well as Renold pl¢ and European Metal
Recycling Limited. He chairs the Audit Committees at Innospec and Renold. Mr. Landless is a Chartered
Management Accountant, He graduated from the University of Manchester [nstitute of Science and Technolagy.

Mr. Landless’ qualifications to be a member of our Board include his extensive experience in manufacturing and
engineefing businesses, particularly as Group Finance Director of a global industrial business that operates in
similar markets as Luxfer. In addition, he has a strong understanding of financial controls and audit
requirements. He also brings significant experience from serving on the boards of other publicly-traded
companies in both the U.S. and the UK.
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Alok Maskara

Alok Maskara was named Chief Executive Officer designate of Luxfer and appointed to the Board of Directors on
May 23, 2017. He became Luxfer's Chief Executive Officer on July 1, 2017. Since joining Luxfer, Mr. Maskara
has led significant growth and transformation at the Company. He has significantly reshaped Luxfer's Board of
Directors by adding more U.S. public company experience and increased the Board’s diversity. Additionally, Mr.
Maskara has changed the structure of the public listing and instituted new corporate governance policies, which
enabled the Company to join the Russell 2000 index in 2018.

Mr. Maskara has over twenty-five years of leadership experience in multiple manufacturing and technology
industries, including advanced materiais, water and flow technologies, and electrical protection. Before joining
Luxfer, he was a business segment President at Pentair Pic, a water solutions company, for eight years, where
he led businesses of progressively larger sizes. During his time at Pentair, he delivered organic growth in mature
industries, while also successfully completing multiple global acquisitions, divestitures, and joint ventures. Prior
to Pentair, Mr. Maskara was with General Eleciric Corporation, an industrial manufacturing company, where he
gained significant experience in Lean Manufacturing through his leadership of an executive corporate initiative
group focused on Lean. He subsequently led a stand-alone business unit in the water industry, which was later
sold to Pentair. Mr. Maskara also worked at McKinsey & Company, a management consultant firm, in both their
Chicago and Amsterdam offices. While at McKinsey, he advised businesses on industrial turnarounds and
driving growth through customer insights and segmentation,

Mr. Maskara is a co-author of nine patents in advanced materials. He holds an M.B.A. from the J.L. Kellogg
Graduate School of Management at Northwestern University, an M.S. in Chemical Engineering from the
University of New Mexico, and a Bachelor of Technology degree in Chemical Engineering from the Indian
Institute of Technology, Mumbal.

Mr. Maskara's qualifications to be a member of our Board include his extensive leadership experience in global
industrial manufacturing businesses, his value-enhancing growth and acquisition experience, his educational
background, and his knowledge of advanced materials.

Clive J. Snowdon

Clive Snowdon was appointed a Non-Executive Director in July 2016, Effective April 2020, he was appointed
Chair of the Nominating and Governance Commitiee, which he joined upon his appointment to the Board in
2016. Mr. Snowdon previously served as Chalr of the Nominating and Governance Committee from December
2017 through May 2019. He also currently acts as a financial expert, as defined by the NYSE listing rules, on the
Audit Committee, which he joined in August 2016 and upon which he served as Chair from May 2019 through
April 2020. Additionally, Mr. Snowdon was a member of the Remuneration Committee from 2016 through
January 30, 2017.

Mr. Snowdon served as Chairman of the Midlands Aerospace Alliance, an association supporting the aerospace
industry across the Midiands region of England, from 2007 through 2016. He currently serves as a Trustee of the
Stratford Town Trust and is also the Aerospace Industry Advisor to Cooper Parry Corporate Finance, a corporate
finance advisory. In May 2016, Mr. Snowdon stepped down from the Board of Hil! & Smith Holdings PLC, an
international group of companies operating within the infrastructure and galvanizing markets, where he had been
a Senior Non-Executive Director since May 2007, the Chalr of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of
the Audit and Nominating and Governance Committees.

in June 2011, Mr. Snowdon retired from Umeco PLC, a provider of advanced composite materials, after serving
as Chief Executive since April 1997. Further, Mr. Snowdon was the Executive Chairman of Shimtech Industries
Group Limited until the sale of the business in May 2015. From 1992 t¢ 1997, Mr. Snowdon served as Managing
Director of Burnfield PLC, after being promoted to that position from Finance Director. He has also held senior
positions with Vickers PLC, BTR PLC, and Hawker Siddeley Group. Mr. Snowdon is a Chartered Accountant. He
received his Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from the University of Leeds.

Mr. Snowdon's qualification to be a member of our Board include his experience as a former Chief Executive of a
U.K. public company, his strong understanding of U.K. PLC requirements, his significant experience in mergers
and acquisitions, and his skill in interacting with Investors.
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Richard J. Hipple

Richard Hipple was appointed a Non-Executive Diractor in November 2018, at which time he was als¢ appointed
the Chair of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

Mr. Hipple served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Materion Corporation, a producer of high-
performance advahced engineerad materials, from 2006 until his retirement in 2017, as well as President and
Chief Operating Officer from 2005 to 2008. Prior to that, Mr. Hipple worked in the steel industry for twenty-six
years in a number of capacities, including project engineering, strategic planning, supply chain management,
operations, sales and markating, and executive management. Mr. Hipple has served as a Director of KeyCorp, a
bank-based financial services company, since 2012 and is Chair of the Audit Commiltee and member of the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Since 2017, he has also served as a Director of the Barnes
Group, a global industrial manufacturing company, and is a member of the Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committees. From 2007 through 2018, Mr. Hipple served on the Board of Ferra Corporation, a
leading supplier of technology-based functional coatings and color solutions. Mr. Hipple is Chair Emeritus and a
Trustee of the Cleveland Institute of Music and has served as a Director of the Greater Cleveland Partnership, as
well as the Manufacturers Alliance for Productivity and [nnovation, Mr. Hipple received his Bachelor of
Engineering degree from Drexel University.

Mr. Hipple's qualifications to be a member of our Board include his extensive executive management and
leadership experience with a global manufacturer of high-performance engineered materials, his experience in
business development and stralegic transformation, and his broad involvement in both domestic and
international acquisitions. He also brings experience serving on the boards of other publicly traded companies.

Allisha Elliott

Allisha Eliiott was appointed a Non-Executive Director in March 2019, at which time she joined the Remuneration
Committee and the Nominating and Governance Committee. Ms. Elliott previously served as Chair of the
Nominating and Governance Committee from May 2019 through Aprii 2020.

Ms. Elliott currently serves as Chief Human Resources Officer at Base Corporation, a global consumer
electronics company. Prior to Bose, Ms. Elliott was the Chief Human Resources Officer and Senior Vice
President for Human Resources and Communications at Sensata Technologies, Inc., a global leader in providing
sensor-rich solutions. Prior to joining Sensata Technologies, Ms. Elliott served in several human resource
leadership roles in the global manufacturing industry, culminating as Vice President of Human Resources and
Communications for Transportation Systems at Honeywetll international Inc.

Ms. Ellictt received her Master of Labor and Human Rasources degree from the University of linois Urbana-
Champaign and her Bachelor of Arts degree in Sociotogy from Purdue University.

Ms. Elliott's qualifications to be a member of our Board include her significant experience in Human Resources,
particutarly in relation to public and industrial companies, including her extensive knowledge in talent
development, succession planning, and executive compensation.

Lisa G. Trimberger

Lisa Trimberger was appointed a Non-Executive Director in Septamber 2019, at which time she jained the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee. Effective April 2020, Ms. Trimberger was appointed Chair of
the Audit Committee, upon which she acts as a financial expent, as defined by the NYSE listing rules.

Ms. Trimberger retired as an Audit Partner of Deloitte & Touche LLP, a Big Four accounting firm, in 2014 after
spending thirty-one years with the firm, As a lead Client Service Partner, Ms. Trimberger audited and interacted
with the management and boards of publicly-traded companies. She worked on significant transactions, as well
as control and risk-assessment issues. Additichally, she was actively involved in the firm's quality review
praclice, serving as a2 Deputy Professional Practice Partner and Engagement Quality Control Review Partner,
During her tenure with Deloitte, Ms. Trimberger also served as Co-Chair of the firm's Nominating Committee and
was |eader of the firm's National Women'’s initiative for the deveiopment and retention of women professionais,
Currently, Ms, Trimberger is a principal and owner of a private investment company, Mack Capital Investments
LLC. She is also a trustee of the Board and Chair of the Audit Committee and member of the Nominating and
Govermnance Committee of Corporate Office Properties Trust, an investment trust.

Ms. Trimberger is a Certified Public Accountant. She received a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting from
St. Cloud State University. Ms. Trimberger is a member of the National Association of Comorate Diractors
{"NACD"), as well as the Nalional Association of Real Estate Invesiment Trusts. Further, she is a NACD Board
Leadership Fellow and earned the CERT Certificate in Cybersacurity Oversight, as developed by NACD, Ridge
Giobal, and Carnegie Melion University’'s CERT division. Ms. Trimberger also compieted the Women’s Director
Development Executive Program at J.L. Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University.

Ms. Trimberger’s qualifications to be a member of our Board include her experience as an Audit Pariner in a big
four accounting firm, as well as her significant experience as a financial expert in areas including financial and
audit oversight, public board experience, corporate governance, and risk management.
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Corporate Governance

Strong corporate governance practices serve the long-term interest of our stakeholders, strengthen the Board
and management, and further enhance the public trust. Luxfer has eamned from operating with uncompromising
ethics and integrity. Luxfer is fully committed to operating In a legal, ethical,-and sustainable manner in all that we
do.

Overview

Luxfer's corporate governance principles govern how we do business daily, enabling us to outperform and
provide sustainable growth. They provide a framework that defines the roles, rights and responsibilities of
various groups withing the Company. The Board has adopted a set of Corporate Govemnance Guidelines which
provide the framework for the effective and ethical governance of the Company. These guidelines address
matters such as the respective roles and responsibilities of the Board and Commitlees, director independence,
conflicts of interest and membership criteria. The Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Company's Articles of
Association (the “Articles”), Charters of the Board Committees, Reservation of Powers, and the Code of Ethics
and Business. Conduct, as well as national regulations such as the Companies Act of 2006 {"Companies Act")
provide the structure for the governance of the. Company.

The Company is incorporated in England and Wales and has a single listing of ordinary shares on the New York
Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). Accordingly, our cofporate governance is also informed by the relevant aspects of
two regulatory regimes, the UK. and the U.S. For example, as a company listed on the NYSE we are considered
a "quoted company” for the purposes of the Companies Act. Therefore, we are required to comply- with quoted
companies' requirements such as the way we report on remuneration, which includes an annual advisory
shareholder vote on director remuneration and a binding shareholder vote every three years. Luxfer is not listed
on the London Stock Exchange. As such, we are not required to comply with the UK, Corporate Governance
Code. Nonetheless, we embrace aspects of this Code insofar as appropriate, relevant and practical to a
company the size and status as Luxfer.

In July 2018, the Company informed the NYSE of its Joss of Foreign Private Issuer {FP}) status and our intention
to transition to a domestic issuer effective January 1, 2019, From this date, the Company has operated in full
compliance with the requirements for domestic issuer pursuant to the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and
the NYSE's Manual. Through the increased transparency of financial information and higher corporate
governance standards associated with domestic issuer status, we made it possible for Luxfer shares to be
included in the Russell 3000 index. Inclusion in the index has attracted new, high-quality shareholders, while also
allowing the orderly exit of some legacy debt holders. Additionally, we enhanced our Board of Directors which is
now comprised of a greater range of tenure, diversity and public company experience, thus facilitating effective
oversight and a better balance between historical experience and fresh perspectives.

We are also required to comply with certain provisions under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including Section 404(a),
which requires that the management of public companies assess the effectiveness of the internal control of
issuers for financial reporting. Such evaluation must be based on a suitable, recognized control framework such
as that which was established in Internal Control Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSQ Framework”). We have updated our
framework for the evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting in accordance
with the COSO Framework of 2013,

In developing corporate governance practices for the Group, the Directors have taken note of ali the
aforementioned regulatory requirements, including those required under the Companies Act, as well as reflecting
best practice as the Directors consider appropriate.
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Board Responsibilities and Leadership Structure

The Board has responsibility for the overal] leadership of tha Company, its long-term success and helping to
develop and approve its strategic aims. The Directors have determined a schedule of matters reserved to the
Board. Reserved matters are comprehensive and reviewed as the Board considers appropriate, normally once
annually. A review was undertaken during the year, following a comprehensive review taking into consideration
the transition to a domestic issuer. Maiters reserved to the Board are set out in the Governance section of the
Company's website.

The Board believes it is important to maintain the flexibility to choose the leadership structure that is best able to
meet the needs of Luxfer and its shareholders, based on the circumstances that exist at the time and the
qualifications of the available individuais. Due to the relatively small size of the Board, the Directors have
determined it to be unnecessary to appoint a Senior Independent Director. Further, we currently do not have a
policy requiring the positions of Board Chair and Chief Executive Officer to be held by different persons.
However, these two positions have historically been separate, and are expected to remain separate. The Board
believes this structure is advantageous. Specifically, separating the positions provides the appropriate balance
between strategy and development and oversight of management, while also allowing the CEQO to focus
attention on driving business perfarmance rather than Board governance. Additionally, this structure is consistent
with corpcrate best practices, the Institutional Shareholder Services' racommendation, the views of Luxfer's
sharehalders, and the U.K. Corporate Governance Code,

David Landiess currently serves as the Chair of Luxfer's Board of Directors. He is a Non-Executive Directar and
cansidered independent under the NYSE listing standards. Luxfer believes that David Landiess’ service as the
Chair is appropriate because he has extensive axpetience serving on the boards of public companies, as welf as
knowledge of Luxfer and the manufacturing and engineering industries in general. The responsibilities of the
independent Board Chair include, among other things:

+ Leading the Board, including the aversight and coordination of the Board's and Its Committees’ work;

« Serving as a liaison between the CEOQ, other members of senior management, the Non-Executive
Directors, and the Committee Chairs;

+ Presiding at all meetings of the Board, including executive sessions of the independent, Non-Executive
Directors;

+  Presiding at all meetings of the shareholders;

= Setting the Board's meeting agendas and ensuring there is sufficient time for discussion of all agenda
items;

*  Recommending to the Board agendas for shareholder meetings and providing guidance to the Board on
paositions the Board should take on issues to come before shareholder meetings;

+  Parlicipating in discussions with the Nominating and Governance Commitiee on matters related to Board
and Committee organization, composition, membership terms, and meeting structure;

» Participating in discussions with the Nominating and Governance Committee and Remuneration
Cammittee on matters related to the hiring, evaiuation, and compensation of, and the succession
planning for, the CEQ, the Executive Officers, and Directars; and,

« Maintaining dialogue and canvassing apinions of the Non-Executive Directars in absence of the
Executive Director.

Board and Committee Self-Assessments

Annual self-assessments and evaluation of Board performance helps ensure that the Board and its Committees
function effectively and in the best interest of our shareholders. The Nominating and Governance Committee is
Respensible for Directors and each Committee. The assessment process consists of a written evaluvation
comprising both quantitative scaring and narrative comments on a range of topics, including the composition and
structure of the Baard of Directors, the type and frequency of communications and the information provided to
the Board and its Cormmittees, the Board's effectiveness in carrying out its functions and responsibilities, the
effectiveness of the Committee structure, Director's preparation and participation in the meetings, and the values
and culture displayed by the Directors. With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the evaluation responses
are compiled by the Chair of the Nominating and Govermnance Committee. The Nominating and Governance
Committee Chair leads a discussion of the assessment results at the following Board meeting. In addition to this
annual self-assessment, verbal assessments are conducted in independent executive sessions at the end of
every Board and Committee meeting.
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Board Education, Information and Support

Board education is an ongoing, year-round process, which begins a Director joins our Board. Within one {1) year
of joining our Board, new Directors are provided with an orientation to our Company, including our business,
strategy and governance. On an ongoing basis, Directors receive educational presentations on a variety of
topics related to their responsibilites as Directors and the industries in which Luxfer operates. These
presentations are provided by our senlor management team and/or external advisors. In 2020, topics for Board
education included ESG matters, Luxfer values and culture, anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-trust, global insider
dealing, changes in the small-cap equity investment landscape, and the impact of COVID-19 on vaiuation,
corporate financing and diversity.

The Company Secretary and General Counsel as well as external counsel when appropriate and necessary,
provide updates to the Board on legal and regulatory issues nature of which it and the individual Directors should
be aware to refresh their skills and knowledge. There is a culture of information exchange on various matters of
interest to the Group and its operations between Directors and seniar managers to keep Directors abreast of
relevant developments.

The Board receives both financial and operational information to assist it in carrying out its duties. Tha Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer provide regular reports to the Board regarding relevant aspects
of the business, These reports are further detalled at scheduled Board meetings as appropriate. Additional toplics
for review and discussion are added to these reports from time to time at the request of the Directors. In addition,
specific items are scheduled into the Board agenda for report and review on a regular basis, such as health and
safety and enviranmental matters and current topical issues. The Board evaluates this information and support
procedures periodically to ensure that topics remain appropriate.

Board Meetings and Commitiees

The Board has three standing committees comprised solely of independent Directors: the Nominating and
Governance Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the Audit Committee. The Company Secretary
distributes Board and Commitiee agendas and materials to the Board and Committees seven days before a
scheduled meeting. The independent Directors generally mest in execulive session without management
present at each meeting.

8 MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN 2020
" (1 physical meeting; 7 video teleconference meetings)

3 - Meetings of the Nominating and 4 - Meetings of the Remuneration 7 - Meetings of the Audlt
- Govemance Committee Committea . Committes -

The Board held eight (8} meetings in 2020, two of which were video teleconference meetings related to the
COVID-19 pandemic, The first and only in-person meeting occurred in early March 2020, prior to the
implementation of widespread iockdowns due to COVID-18. The remaining seven meetings occurred virtually via
video teleconference. Directors are expected to attend all scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors, the
meetings of the Committees on which they serve, and ali sharsholder meetings. In each regularly scheduled
meeting, the independent Directors also met in executive session, without the Chief Executive Officer or other
members of management present.

Al Directors attended all eight general Board meetings in 2020. During the period in which they served, all
members of each Board Committee were present at every Committee meeting held in 2020.

We expect our Directors ta attend our Annual General Meetings, All the Directors who were appointed for the
2020 term attended the 2020 Annual General Meeting.

Prior to COVID, the Board normally held a majority of their physical meetings at the Group’s operational plants,
as part of their monitoring role and to ensure a better understanding of the Group's operations. At these
meetings, the Board tours the plant and has an opportunity to meet local and divisional management on both a
formal and informal basis and discuss the progress of their operations with them. In addition to meetings held at
Luxfer's sites, the Non-Executive Directors may independently visit operational sites to enhance their knowledge
of the individual businesses that make up the Group. The Executive Director has regular business reviews at
operational sites thraughout the year, and any appropriate information gathered on those visits will be reported to
the Board. We hope to return to physical meetings as soon as reasonably practical as the situation with the
COVID-19 pandemic allows.
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Nominating and Governance Committee

Role: The Nominating and Governance Committee advises the Board on matters relating to Board governance,
structure, and composition. Responsibilities of the Nominating and Governance Committee include, among other
things, establishing critefia for Director candidates and identifying individuals for nomination to become
Directors, including engaging advisors to assist in the search process where approptiate, and considering
potential candidates recommended by shareholders; developing plans and making recommendations in relation
to the organization, composition, membership terms, and meeting structure of the Board and its Committees;,
recommending a succession plan to the Board and review management's succession plan; administering the
self-assessment of the Board and its Committees: overseeing Luxfer's corporate governance structure and
practices; and overseeing and recommending to the Board of Direclors changes to our Corporate Governance
Guidelines, Committee Charters, and other gaveming instruments,

A full description of the Committee's roles is set forth in the Nominating and Governance Committee Charter,
available at hitps:/Mmwww.luxfer.com/ under the “Invastors” tab.

Members: Clive Snowdon (Chair as of April 2020), Allisha Elliott (Chair through March 2020}, and David
Landless.

All members of the Nominating and Governance Committee have been determined to be independent under
SEC and NYSE rules.

Remuneration Committee

Role: The Remuneration Committee sets and administers the policies that govern executive and senior
management compensation. Responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include, among other things,
evaluating Executive Officer and senior management performance; establishing and administering executive
compensation; reviewing and approving the Executive Compensation Discussion and Analysis including in our
annual Proxy Statement; Recommending actions regarding the Chief Executive Officer's compensation for
approval by the Non-Executive Directors of our Board; and approving the individual compensation actions for all
Executive Officers other than the CEQ. To assist the Remuneration Committee in its review of executive and
director compensation programs, Meridian Compensation Partners LLC (*Meridian"), a human resource.
consulting firm, provides advice, data, and insight. Meridiah was retained by the Remuneration Committee in
2020 and provides advice at times the Remuneration Committee deems appropriate. Any other work undertaien
by Meridian for the Company must be approved by the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee
has conducted an agsessment of the independence of Meridian and has determined that Meridian does not have
any conflict of interest. Aside from the data provided by Meridian, the Committee also considers other sources to
evaluate extornal market, industry and peer company practices in its review of our compensation programs.

A full description of the Committee's roles is set forth in the Remuneration Committee Charter, available at
hitps:/hwww.luxter.comf under the “Investors" tab.

Members: Richard Hipple (Chair as of Novamber 2018), Allisha Elliott (beginning March 2019 upon appointment
to the Board), Lisa Trimberger {beginning September 2019 upon appointment to the Board).

All members of the Remuneration Committes have been determined to be independent under SEC and NYSE
tules,

Report: The Director's Remuneration Report appears in the Remuneration Report on pages 37 to 53.
Audit Committee

Role: The Audit Committee advises the Board on financial matters and overseas the Company's accounting,
financial reporting, and intemal.contral policies and procedures. Responsibilities of the Audit Committee include,
among other things, overseeing financial reporting, controls, and audit quality and perfarmance; manitoring and
overseeirig the independence and performance of aur Independent Auditors, with responsibility for the selection,
evaluation, remuneration, and, if applicable, discharge of such Independent Auditars; approving, in advance, all
of the audit and non-audit services provided to the Company by the Independent Auditors; facilitating open
communication among our Board, senior management, internal audit, and the Independent Auditors; reviewing
inlternal audit work, the system of internal controls and monitoring implementation of internal controls over
financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the progress of the update to the
interrial controls aver financial reporting framewaork to reflect the 2013 COSO framework throughout the Group;
overseeing our enterprise risk management and compliance programs; overseeing financial strategy, investment
policles, and financial performance of invested assets; raviewing the Company's annual SEC filing, statutory
report and consolidated financial statements and the quarterly financial releases made by the Company;

A further description of the Committea's roles is et forth in the Audit Committee Charter, available at hitps://
www.luxfer.com/ under the “Investors™ tab, The Audit Committee Charter were reviewed and approved by the
Cammittes in 2020.
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Members: Lisa Trimberger {Chair as of April 2020}, Clive Snowdon (Chair through March 2020), and Richard
Hipple.

All members of the Audit Committee have been determined to be independent under Section 303A.02 of NYSE
Rules and Rules 10A-3 under the Exchange Act.

Financial Experts: The Board considers that each member of the Audit Committee have appropriate financial
experience to ehable them to contribute to the Audit Committee’s work. The Board has determined that Lisa
Trimberger, Clive Snowdon and Richard Hipple are all financially literate under NYSE Rules and qualify as “audit
committee financial experts” under SEC standards.

Report: The Directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements to satisfy UK. law. This
responsibllity is explained further in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities an page 54 and the Independent
Auditors’ Report an pages 55 to 62.

Meetings: Prior to the commencement of the financial year, the Committee establishes a schedule of meetings
ta colncide wilh key events in the Company's tinancial reporting and audit cycle to ensure that it has sufficient
time to fulfil its responsibllities. Agendas and appropriale documentation are provided to the Committee by the
Company Secretary. The Chisf Financial Officer and the Chief Executive Officer may attend Committee meetings
as required. The Chair of the Audit Committee consults with external auditors as necessary in preparation for
Committee meetings and may invite the external auditor to attend a meeting of the Audit Committee if required.

The Audit Committee has adopted and implemented a ‘Policy on the Provision of Audit and Non-Audit Services
by Auditors’ (the “Pre-approval Policy”} to comply with auditor independence requirements contained in Rule
2-01 of Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act. The policy requires the Audit Committee to pre-approve all
matters upon which the Company's external auditors are requested to advise (audit and non-audit work),
including fees, subject to certain pre-approvals made annually by the Audit Committee. A pre-approved sum to
be spent on audit and tax matters is delegated to the Chief Financial Officer and there is a procedure for
approval of urgent items by the Chair between meetings. The policy also affimatively prescribes the Company's
external auditors from advising on certain matters,

Conflicts of Interest

Luxfer's Code of Ethics and Business Conduct and Corporate Governance Guidelines address conflicts of
interest. As provided in the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, a “conflict of interest” occurs when an
individual's private interest {or the interest of a member of his or her family) interferes, or even appears to
interfere, with the interests of Luxfer. A conflict of interest can arise when an employee, Officer, or Director {ar a
member of his or her family) takes actions or has interests that may make it difficult to perform his or her work for
Luxfer objectively and effectively. Conflicts of interest also arise when an employee, Officer, or Director {(or a
member of his or her family) receives improper personal benefits as a result of his or her position in Luxfer. The
Company periodically, but no less frequently than annually, solicits information from Directors and Executive
Officers in order to monitor potential conflicts of interest, Directors and Executive Officers are expected to always
be mindful of their fiduciary obligations to the Company, and they must seek determinations and prior
autharizations or approval of potential conflicts of interest exclusively from the Audit Committee.,

In 2020, there were no conflicts of interest.
Related-Party Transactions

In addition to the standards set forth in our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Luxfer has established a Related-
Party Transactions Policy. As defined in the Policy, a "Related Parson” is any (i) person who Is or was (since the
beginning of the last fiscal year for which Luxfer has filed a Form 10-K and Proxy Statement, even if they do not
presently serve in that role) an Executive Officer, Director, or nominee for election as a Director of Luxfer, (ii)
person who is the beneficial owner of greater than 5% of Luxfer’s outstanding ordinary shares, or (i) Immediate
Family Member of any of the foregoing. "Immediate Family Member” is defined as “any child, stepchild, parent,
stepparent, spousae, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law,
or any person (other than a tenant or employee) sharing the household of a person.”

In accordance with the Related-Panly Transactions Policy, the Audit Committee must review all “Interested
Transactions.” An “Interested Transaction” is any transaction, arrangement, or relationship, or any series of
similar transactions, arrangements, or relationships (including any indebtedness or guarantee of indebtedness),
in which (i) the aggregate amount involved will or may be expected to exceed $120,000 in any fiscal year, {ii)
Luxfer is a participant, and (iii} any Related Person has or will have a direct or indirect material interest (other
than solely as a result of being a Director or trustee (or any similar position) or a tess than 10% beneficial owner
of ancther entity).

In considering whether to approve an Interested Transaction, the Audit Committee takes into account, amang
other factors it deems appropriate, whether the Interested Transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms
generally available to an unaffiliated third-party under the same or similar circumstances and the extent of the
Related Person's interest in the arrangement.

In 2020, there were no related party transactions.
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Security Ownership

Various Luxfer policies address security ownership, including the Insider Trading and Dealing Policy and the
Stock Ownership Guidelines. Particularly, Luxfers Insider Trading and Dealing Policy prohibits a number of
transactions by "Covered Persons.” “Covered Persons” include Direclors, Executive Officers, and various Luxfer
empioyees and consultants in corporate, finance, IT, and investor relations roles. Specificafly, the Policy prohibits
the following in refation to Company securities; short-term trading, short sales, oplions trading, trading on
margin, and hedging. AR Covered Persons — including family members of Coversd Persons, members of a
Covered Person's household, and entities controlled by Covered Persons — are expected to comply with the
Insider Trading and Dealing Policy, as well as applicable securities laws and regulations.

Further, Luxfer has estabiished Stock Ownership Guidelines, which apply to all Non-Executive Directors, Named
Executive Officers, and any other key employees that the Remuneration Committee may identify from time to
time in consultation with management. The Company's Articles of Assaciation does not currently require
Directors to hold a minimum number of shares In the Company In order to qualify for appointment to the Board of
Directors; however, the Stock Ownership Guidelines provide the Company's expectations as to best practice.
The Stock Ownership Guidelines provide expectations as to the minimum amount of shares such persons
shouid own in the Company. These minimum amounts are based on the total value of the shares owned by a
person being equal to a certain multiple of such person's annua! base salary or retainer fee. Additionally, the
Stack Ownership Guidelines include share retention ratios to assis! in a person's continuous progress toward his
or her respective ownership guideline. Named Executive Officers and Directors are expected to achieve the
minimum ownership guidelines within five years of the effective date of the Stock Ownership Guidelines or his or
her appointment or election, whichever occurs later.

Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption

The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct requires compliance with all applicable anti-bribery laws, including the
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the UK. Bribery Act, and local laws where Luxfer conducts business. This
requirement applies to Luxfer's Directors, Executive Officers, employees and those with whom Luxfer conducts
its business. Luxfer has an established Anti-Carruption Policy, which sets for the Company’s policies, principles,
and procedures in relation to situations presenting corruption or bribery issues. Annual training is required for all
members of our Board of Directors, senior management, and any non-production employees, and more
thorough trainings are provided to employees in high-risk roles, including those in audit, sales, finance,
marketing, legal, and export and import. Luxfer’s Generai Counsel provides quarterly updates on all activities to
the Audit Committee and Board as a whole.

Whistieblowing

We highly encourage reporting of any wrongdoing regarding corporate governance, financial reporting, human
rights, or any concerns about business canduct brought forth in good faith. Luxfer operates an independent,
anonymous whistleblowing hotline that is available 2477 to our empioyees or anyone working in our supply chain.
Luxfer's longstanding Whistleblowing Palicy describes the procedures in place to ensure our due diligence in
thoroughly investigating and remedying any reports through this avenue. The policy provides strong protections
against retaliation for whistleblowers and anyone who cooperates in a Company investigation. The Audit
Committee oversees the operation of the Whistleblowing Policy and receives a report from the Company
Secretary at each meeting of the Audit Committee.

Relations With Shareholders

Shareholder and public engagerment are essential to maintaining our strong corporate governance practices and
long-term success. We value the opinions of our shareholders and welcome their views throughout the year cn
key issues. in 2020, we worked hard to bridge the gap in geography between us and qur sharehalders in 2020
due to travel restrictions in place as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. We maintained an active engagement
and outreach program, speaking with shareholders via telephone calls and virtual videoconference meetings
throughout the year. We had more than 100 calls and meetings with shareholders throughout 2020 during
investor conferences, nan-deal roadshows, and scheduled post-eamings follow up calls. In an effort to
continuously review our shareholder communication and outreach, we review key feedback received during
these meetings with our Board of Directors. The Oiractors carefully consider and evaluate this information and
modify the Company's approach to advance our shareholder engagement efforts.
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Executive Leadership Team

The membars of the Exacutive Leadership Team of Luxfer are responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Company. The Executive Leadership Team meets at least once a month. It is chaired by the Chief Executive
Officer and consists of the Chief Financial Officer and senior management at group and segment levels. The
Executive Leadership Team acts in an advisory capacity to the Chief Executive Officer and provides a forum
where matters of interest or concern to the Group can be reviewed and discussed, strategy debated, policies
developed and agreed best practice discussed, and appropriate measures |mplemented It also provides an
opportunity for senior management to receive updates on progress in other areas of the Group outside thelr
remit.

The following table fists the names and positions of the current members of the Executive Leadership Team as
well as those who served during the year.

Name Age Position

Alok Maskara ¥ =z 7.~ 50 1 ExeoutiveiDirector and Chief Executive Officer 5, e 2% ]

Heather C. Harding 52  Chief Financiai Officer

ANArew W, J. BUTCRBIS - ii52 2 President of LUXIEr.Gas CyNNOBTS La: et yo ¢ e 5 3 -Tog H6L w1
Graham D. Ward!ow 53 Managlng Director of Luxfer MEL Technologles

RIS AR TEA

Mark A. Chlvers 51 Managmg Dlrector of Luxfer Superform

[Peter N:Gibbonsy, w1+, > (60" ~Vice President and GeneraliManager.of Luxfer. Graphic Arts™. ™ &
Jaff C, Moorefield 57  Vice President of Operations
[Megan-E: Glise™t > - 285 .5"Gereral Counsel and:Campany Secretary © ., %t v op 3 -t e

- Biographies of the members of the Executive Leadership Team are set forth below:

 Alok Maskara,

Chief Executive Officer
Piease refer to the main Board biographies on pages 23 to 25.

Heather C. Harding

Chief Financial Officer

Heather Harding was named Chief Financlal Officer of Luxfer Holdings PLC in January 2018. From 2012 to
2017, Ms. Harding was Vice President of Finance for Eaton Lighting, a business unit of Eaton Corporation, a
power management company. Prior to that, she was Vice President of Finance for various operating units within
Cooper Industries and Emerson Electric. Ms. Harding is a Certified Public Accountant and received a Bachelor of
Science degree in Accounting from Southern lllinois University at Carbondale.

Andrew W. J, Butcher

President of Luxfer Gas Cylinders

Andrew Butcher has served as President of our global Luxfer Gas Cylinders business since Aprii 2014, having
been the President of Luxfer Gas Cylinders North America from 2009 to 2014, Mr. Butcher joined Luxfer in
Nottingham, United Kingdom, in 1991, He held positions of increasing responsibility throughout his career at
Luxfer, including leading the development of our composite business beginning in 2002, first as General
Manager and then as Executive Vice President. Mr. Butcher holds an M.A. degree in Engineering from
Cambridge University and an M.B.A. from Keele University.

Graham D. Wardiow

Managing Director of Luxfer MEL Technologies

Graham Wardlow was appointed Managing Director of Luxfer MEL Technologies in October 2017, following the
merger of our MEL Chemicals and Magnesium Elektron Alloys businesses. Mr. Wardlow joined Magnesium
Elektron in 1984 and undertook several technical and commerdcial roles before becoming Managing Director of
the Alloys business in 2008 and Divisional Managing Directar of MEL Chemicals in May 2017. Mr. Wardlow holds
a degree in Materials Engineering from Imperial College, University of London, as well as an M.B.A. from Keele
University,

32

C o i -




LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC

James G. Gardeila

President of Luxfer Magtech

James Gardélla was appointed President of Luxfer Magtech in July 2017. Prior to serving in his current position,
he was appainted President of the Company's Magnesium Elektron Powders business in 2007, which he joined
in 1990 as Financial Controller. Mr. Gardella holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting from Villanova
University and an-M.B.A, in Finance, He Is also a Certified Public Accountant.

Mark A. Chivers

Managing Director of Luxfer Superform )

Mark Chivers was appointed Vice President and General Manager of Luxfer Superform in April 2018. Mr. Chivers
joined Luxfer in 2008 as Operations Director of Superform U.K., before maovirig to California in 2014 to become
General Manager of the Riverside facility. Before joining Luxfer Mr. Chivers held Production and Operanons
Management and Vice President roles in the castings and tool making industry, particularly servicing the
automotive sector. Mr. Chivers holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Business Studies from Woalverhampton
University.

Peter N, Gibbons

Vice President and General Manager of Luxfer Graphic Arts

Peter Gibbons was appointad Vice President and General Manager of Luxfer Graphic Arts in July 2018. He
joined Luxfer in 2004 as Eurepean Financial Controller at Magnesiumn Elekiron, before moving to the corporate
office to take up the Group Financial Controlier role. He retumed to Magnesium Elekiron in 2014 as Divisional
Finance Director. Mr. Gibbons was appointed Director of Sourcing and IT and became a member of the
Executive Leadership Team in July 2017.

Jeff C. Moorefield

Vice President of Operations

Jeff Moorefield was appointed to the Executive Leadership Team as Vice President of Operations of Luxfer in
March 2019. Before joining Luxfer, Mr. Moorefiald served as Senior Vice President of Global Operations at
Tennant Company. Prior to that, he served as Global Vice President of Operations for various operating units
within Pentair. Mr. Moorefield attended Western Kentucky University where he received a Bachelor of Science
degree in Industrial Technolagy.

Megan E. Glise

General Counsel and Company Secretary

Megan Glise joined Luxfer as U.S. Legal Counsel in July 2018 and was appointed Associate General Counsel in

February 2019, In January 2020, Ms. Glise became a member of the Executive Leadership Team and an

Executive Officer of the Company, She was appointed General Counsel and Company Secretary in September
2020. Before joining Luxfer, she was an Assoclate Attomey at a Wisconsin-based law firm, where she focused

her practice on corporate and transactional law, Ms. Glise received her Juris Doctor from Marquette University

Law School and holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in English and Criminology and Law Studies from Marquette

University.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors of Luxfer Holdings PLC (the "Company”) present their annual report together with the audited
financial statements of the Group and the Company for the year ended December 31, 2020. This Directors’
Report should be read together with, and incorporates, the Corporate Governance section on pages 23 to 33,

Results

The profit for the year, after taxation from continuing operations, amounted to $17.8 million (2019: $6.0 million};
please see the Strategic report on pages 3 to 21 for more detail.

Dividends per Share

Quarterly interim dividends of $0.125 each £0.50 ordinary share, each quarter totaling $13.6 million, were paid in
2020 (2019: $13.6 million).

A further interim dividend was paid in February 2021 and a further dividend declared in April to be paid in May
2021 of $0.125 each £0,50 ordinary share totaling $3.4 million.

Directors

The names of the people who were Directors during the year, and up to the date of this report, and their brief
biographical details are set out in the Governance section on pages 23 to 25.

Capital Structure

On 11 December, 2017, the Company terminated its ADS facility and converted all outstanding ADSs into
ordinary shares. The conversion is a one-for-one exchange with one ADS converted into one ordinary
share. During 2018, the company issued an additional 1,863,201 shares and also canceled 7,578,369,556
deferred shares, '

As at Decernber 31, 2020, the Company’s issued share capital comprised of 29,000,000 ordinary shares of
£0.50 each and 761,835,338,444 daferred shares of £0.0001 each as set out in Note 20 to the financlal
statements,

Substantial shareholdings

The Company had been notified of the following interests amounting to 3% or more of its issued share capital as
at the end of the financial year:

Shareholder Number of shares Percent’'

SRR L i i 31662,032 AR TR A 31390 RN

Wellington Management Group. LLP 3 493 147 12 7%

Paradice Investment Management, LLC 2,321 ,954

William Blair, Iivestmer Mant LLC &1 s il o0 127006974 Yo &

Kempen Capital Management N.V 1,623,923 5.8%
[BIZEKRack Inshttional Trust Company. NZA e s tgins 11527384 = A IR WR s G0ty
American Century Investment Management, Inc. 1,257,414 4.6%

Granahan [nvestment Management/Ing & #¢:#5g% 45*”"1 1216,091, 5% el s
DePrince, Race & Zollo, Inc. 989,541 3.6%

' Percentage based on number of shares listed on the New York Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ Interests and Related Party Transactions

No Director had a material interest in, nor was any Director party to, any contract or arrangement to which the
Company or any subsidiary is or was party to either during the year or at the end of the year, with the following
exceptions: in the case of the Executive Director, his individual service contract and in the case of the Non-
Executive Directors, their engagement letters, see Note 34 of the financial statements.

The interests of the Directors who held office at 31 December, 2020, and those of their families, in the share
capital of the Company, including share options are set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 37 to 53. All of
the interests were beneficial. There has been no change in the interests of the directors between the balance
sheet date and the date of approval of the financial statements.

Going Concern

After making the necessary inquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has
adequate resources and borrowing facilities to continue operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financiat statements,
see Note 1 for more detail.

Research and Development

During the year, the Company invested $3.3 million (2019: $5.7 million) in research and development on new
and improved products and processes. Once a project is reasonably certain to deliver a commercial product,
certain of the development costs are capitalised. The Company continues to maintain links in fields of research
with both leading universities in various countries and outside agencies to support and supplement its own in-
house expertise. The Company also continues to gain significant tax benefit from the U.K. Patent Box regime.

Future Developments

An indication of the future developments of the business of the Company can be found in the Strategic Report.on
page 8.

Disabled Employees

Where an employee has developed a disability whilst employed in his or her business that impacts on his or her
ability to carry out a certain job effectively, the relevant business unit will make arrangements where possible to
retrain that employee and continue his or her employment. Applicants for job vacancies who are disabled are
given full and fair consideration, bearing in mind requirements of the particular job and the particular aptitude and
abilities of the candidate.,

Employee Involvement

Many employees are directly involved in the parformance of the Group and segments through the use of various
incentive schemes. These include bonus schemes and various share-related schemes, details of which ¢an be
found in the Enviranment, Social and Governance ("ESG") section of the Strategic Report on pages 13 to 15,

A combination of newsletters, regular line manager and team briefings, exchanges and consultations, at both
Group and site level (as appropriate) are used to systematically commuricate with employees and develop their
awareness of matters that concern them, their business unit, segment, and the Group. As required, employees
are consulted gn matters that concern them in an appropriate manner and through appropriate channels.

The Group continues to offer training and development opportunities to employees at all levels and to all
abilities, providing benefit to both the Group and the individual emplayee. Further details can be found in the
ESG section of the Strategic Report on pages 13 to 15. We undertake a succession planning review periodically
to ensure that we develop suitable candidates for critical leadership roles within the Group.

For senior management, we hold an annual management conference at the beginning of each year where
strategy for each business segment and at the Group leve! is presented and discussed for the year. Workshops
on subjects that will promote Group strategy will be held throughout the year. Meetings of employees who have
the same or similar functions within the Group also meet periodically for training, to exchange best practices and
convey Group policy.

Our Equal Opportunity, Non-Discrimnation and Anti-Harassment Policy sets forth our employment practices
throughout the Group in the treatment of applicants and Luxfer employees at all stages of employment.

Political Donations
The Company and its subsidiaries made no political donations in either 2020 or 2019.
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Directors' Liabilities

The Company maintains liability insurance for Direciors and Officers ‘which provides appropriate coverage for
any legal action brought against Directors. Throughout the year and at the dale of approval of the financial
statements, the Articles provides indemnification for the Directors against fiability incurred in the proper conduct
of tha Company's business subject to the conditions set out in the Companies Act 2006,

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

A statemient regarding the greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the Company's operations can be found on
pages 11 to 12 of the Strategic Report.

Treasury and the Use of Financial Derivatives

Details of our finahcing and treasury policies, along with the management of treasury risks and use of financial
derivatives can be found in Notes 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Directars' Statement as to Disclosure of Information to the Auditors

The Directors, who served as members of the Board at the time of approving this Directors’ Report are listed on
page 23. Having made inquiries of fellow Directors and of the Company's auditors, each of those Diractors
confirms that:

+  To the best of their knowledge and belief thiere is no information relevant to the preparation of their report of
which the Company's auditors are unaware; and

«  All reasonably expectad steps were taken to be aware of relevant audit information and to establish that the
Company's auditors are aware of that information,

Statement of Directors® Responslibilities in respéct of the Financlal Statements

The Statement of Directors' Responsibifities in respect of the Financlal Statements can be found on page 54 and
farms part of this Repont.

Independent Auditors

A written Resolution will be put to the Annual General Meeting of the Company to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company's Independent Auditors.

The financial statements on pages 66 to 134 were approved by the Board of Directors on Aprif 29, 2021 and
signed on their behalf by:

e

Alok Maskara
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
April 29, 2021
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT
Chair's Letter
Dear Shareholder,

As Chair of the Remuneration Committee, | present my Report for the year 2020 to the shareholders pursuant to
the relevant U.K. regulations regarding the reporting and voting for the remuneration for Directors of quoted U.K
companies.

Our Remuneration Policy (“the Policy”) was last approved by our shareholders at the 2018 AGM for a three-year
period. It will be resubmitted to the Remuneration Committee {"the Committee"} for approval at the 2021 AGM.
The key changes to the policy are highlighted below in Decisions Affecting 2021.

The Company’s Remuneration Policy can be found in a standalone document in the Governance section of the
Company's website www luxfer.com/governance/.

The Annual Remuneration Report starting on page 398 sets out how the Directors were remunerated in 2020 in
‘accordance with the Policy. As the Committee generally reviews Director pay and incentives at the beginning of
the financial year, the second half of the report also contains details of the decisions made on the remuneration
of our Directors for 2021. The Annual Remuneration Report will be proposed for an advisory vote at the
Company's 2020 AGM as required by the relevant U.K. regulations.

Major Decisions on Remuneration during the Year
Dsgcisions made affecting 2020 remuneration

Overall, 2020 was a very challenging year for the Company due to the severe adverse impact of the coronavirus
pandemic (COVID-19) on the global macro environment. We experienced a 13% decrease in net sales from
continuing operations which centributed to a 25% decrease in management EBITA, despite the positive impact
of cost saving programs, which were accelerated as a result of COVID-18.

The main targets of the annual bonus for 2020 related to two financial performance goals, management EBITA
and cash conversion. Far the Chief Executive Officer, Alok Maskara, the bonus pian also contained a number of
non-financial objectives relating to the achievement of certain balanced scorecard objectives. Both financial
performance goals and the non-financial objectives pay-out on a sliding scale basis at predetermined criteria,
based on the achievement of threshold, target or siretch levels. Due to the challenging economic climate, the
total annual bonus awarded to Alok Maskara was 50.0% of his base salary, out of 8 maximum potential of 200%,
albeit this was capped at the 50% leve! by the Remuneration Commitiee as a result of the financial impact of
COVID-18. The achievement of the management EBITA metric fell in the range of between the threshold and
target levels, whereas the cash conversion metric achieved the maximum level. The achievement of non-
financial objectives did not increase the payout level due to the imposition of the 50% cap. Further details of the
bonus arrangements and the bonus paid can be found in the Single Figure, Executive Directors’ Remuneration
section of the Remuneration Report on page 40,

For 2020, 60% of the total target share award to Alok Maskara was in the form of performance-based share
awards and 40% was in the form of time-based restricted stock units. With regards to the performance-based
elements of his share awards, the Committee believe the targets set were challenging, motivated the Executive,
and align the interests of the Executive with those of shareholders. Stretch targets required exceptional
performance to be achieved. These performance-based awards for the year were based upon adjusted diluted
EPS (eafnings per share) targets and relative total shareholder return. The tota! shareholder return performance
measurement period runs until the year ending December 31, 2022, but in 2020 the Company's relative total
return to shareholders was in the third quartile of its peer group. The EPS share award opportunity for the year
ended December 31, 2020 was missed.

As previously reported, the EPS share award targets set for 2019 were missed and therefore no awards were
made in 2020 accordingly. Furthermore, although the relative total shareholder return metiric for the 2019 share
award opportunity is subject to remeasurement up to the year ending December 31, 2021, at present the
position as at December 31, 2019 showed the Company In the bottorn quartile when compared to its peer group.
Further details are set-out in the Single Figure, Executive Director's Remuneration and the Awards Granted
During the Year sections of the Remuneration Reporl, and the associated Notes.
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However, the refallve tolal sharsholder return metric for the 2018 share award opporlunity showed the Company
in the second quartile when compared to lts peer graup. This led to a payout at 100% and is included within the
Single figure, Execulive Director's Remuneration and the Awards. Granted During the Year sections of the
Remuneration Report, and the associaled Noles.

Decisions affecting 2021

Tha Commillse_reviewad_the_Chief Execulive Officer’s.salary_at lts. March_2021_meeling.in_accordance_with_the

Policy. In light of the challenging year and desplte the excellent work Alok Maskara and his taam continue to do
in driving simplification across the business againsl a background of COVID-18, it was agreed to freeze his
salary and benefits for the year -ending December 31, 2021. in addilion, no changes are proposed 1o the
maximum bonus and share award opporlunittes available under his variable remuneration arrangemients. For
2021, the maximum annual bonus epportunily relating to the achlevement of certain finangial metrics will remain
at 160% 'of base salary, with the metrics being conslstent with the previous year. The annhual bonus opponunlty
relating o the achlevement of certain non-inancial objectives will continue, capped at a maximum of 40% of
base salary. ‘Subject to approval of the Remuneration Policy at the 2021 AGM, the maximum share Incenlive
award available to the Chief Executive. Qfficer for achievement of certain finencial targets under-the Company's
Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP") is incredsed from 220% to 300% of base salary. The revised Remuneration
Palicy indludes new clawback provisions appiicable to all employees inciuding the Chisf Exacutive Officer, which
would apply should-e material misstatemant of previously released financial results be Identified.

A summary of the Chlef Executive Officer’s salary and Incentlve arrangements for the financial year 2021 can be
found under the seclion headed /mplemsntation of the Remuneration Policy for the Year Ending 31 December
2021 on pages 48 to 49 of the Remuneration Report.

The Committee has also reviewed the compensation of its Non-Execulivé Directors. In Hght of the financial
impact of COVID-19, it is proposed 1o also freeze the base fees for Non-Exécutive Directors and the Non-
Exacutive Chair for 2021, It is proposed however to Increase the value of share awards available to the Non-
Executive Diractors from 55% to 100% of annual basé fee, at the dale of award.

The Commitlee looks forward to geining your support for the Annual Remuneration Report at the 2021 AGM.

DI

R J Hipple

CHAIR OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
April 28, 2021

p—
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Remuneration Raport

2020 Remuneration Report

{subject to advisory vote by the shareholders at the 2021 AGM)

This report has been compiled in accordance with the UK, 'The Large and Medium-sized Companies and
Groups (Accounts and Reports} (Amendments) Regulations 2013’ As required by the Regulations, the report will
be proposed for an advisory vole at the 2021 AGM. The approved Remuneratlon Policy can be found on the
Company's wehsite at www.luxfer.com/governance/.

‘The-Remuneration-Committee,-its-Activities-and.Responsibilities

The members of the Committee during the year are set out helow.

Members of Committee Meetings held Meetings
during 2020 during membershlp attended
[ﬁEhard Hipple Member and Chair 4 L ]
Allisha Elliott Member 4 4
{lisa Trimberger Mambar ] 2 Fu ]

! Three of the Committes meetings were held via videoconference due to COVID-19.

The Company Secretary acts as secrelary to the Committee. The Chief Executive Officer nomally attends all the
meetings, at least in part.

The Committee is responsible for determining and agreeing with the Board the framework on executive

remuneration and its costs. The Committee's written Terms of Reference can be accessed In the
Governanca section of the Company's website www.luxfer.com/governancel.

During 2020, the Committee discussed the foliowing matters:

March 2020 +  Consideration as o whether, and to what extent, the Executive Dlractors' bonus largets for 2019

had been met;

+  Determination of the Executive Diractor's annual bonus targets for 2020;

+  Annual review of the Executive Director's and Company Secretary salaries;

+  Setting of geals to be met by the Exacutive Directors and Senior Managers which if met would
lead to the awarding of time-based share awards;

+  Delegation of authority to Chlef Executive Officer to make awards under the LTIP over a defined
number of shares to junior and middle management in his sole discretion; and

*  Review of of Executive and Non-Exacutive officer stock ownership guidelines..

June 2020 +  Review of benchmarking peer compantes; and
) ] ) * _Reviewof the__[mp_aql_of _CO_V_ID-_19 on executive compensation.
— = ———1 August 2020 - -~ -+ ~-Review of Executive -Director and Non-Exeautive Director compensation banchmarking study. - - §
" December *  Annual review of the Commlttee’s Tarms of Reference; and
2020 »  Review of proposed 2021 Executive and Non-Executive Officer compensation.

Advisors to the Committee

The Committee has access to independent advice when it considers it requires such advice.

The Company engaged with Meridian Compensation Partners, LLC ("Meridian") to provide advisory and
benchmarking surveys with regards to Director and Executive Officer remuneration and benchmarking peer
companies. The cost of advice provided by Meridian during 2020 was $12,216 (2019: $17,969).
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REMUNERATION RECEIVED BY THE DIRECTOR FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
{information with pages 40 to 48 have been audjted. Information on pages 48 to 55 not subject to audit
unless stated otherwise.)

Single Figure
The tables below set out an analysis -of the Director's total remuneration for 2020. Total remuneration reflects

both the performance of the Company and the contribution made by the Director to the continued success of the
Company during their period of tenura.

Executive Director’s Remuneration

Slhgle Total Figura Table

uss Year Salary™ Taxable Annual Long-Term  Other Pensions Total
Benefits! Bonus®™  Incentive Share  Contributions
_ 2 Awards!  Awards'® &
JAlok Maskara 2020 ~ 657,000~ 60,197 337,500 . 831,880 11,613 . 165480 2,063,680]
2019 675,000 57,513 405,711 485,300 42,127 168,750 1,834,401
U.s.$ Year Fixed pay Varlable pay Total
JAlok Maskara - T 2020 - 882,677 - _° 1,181,003 . 2,063,680
2019 901,263 933,138 1,834,401

.. Table compiled in accordance with the U.K. ‘The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
-. and Reports) Regulations 2008', as amended by The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups
-: (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013',

tsalary. Single Total Figure remuneration reflects the period from January 1, 2020 to December 31,
2020.

ATaxable Benefits. During the year an amount was pald to the director In respect of expenses relating
to car allowance, and medical and dental insurance. All payments made to Alok Maskara in respect of
these allowances were determined arid paid in U.S. dollars.

MAnnual Bonus. For the 2020 financial year, the annual bonus plan was based on the achievement of
two financlal performance goals, management EBITA (adjusted earnings bafore interest, taxation and
amortisation) performance and the ratio of management EBITA to adjusted operating cash flow “Cash
Conversion” {two of the key strategic performance indicators used by the Company to assess its
development against its financial objectivas during the year), measured against the annual budget and
an eloment was based on the achievement of certain predetermined balanced scorecard objectives.

- Given the impact-of COVID-19 In-2020,-the Committee set the EBITA Threshold lower than-in previous- -

years and capped the total payout factor at 50%. For the financial peiforiiahce goals, both~are
measured on a sliding scale that commences only once threshold has been achieved and rises through
the target performance up to a stretch target. The financial performance award elements of the annual
bonus opporunity were spiit evenly between the above two financial metrics. The achievement of
balanced scorecard objectives in 2020 did not increase the total bonus paid due to the payout cap set at
50%.
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Summary of the annual bonus potentlal as a percentage of base salary for the Executive Director for

2020: I
Silding scale betwean threshold, }
target and stretch _
Maximum Annual bohus Managemant Cash Bonus
{number of points avallable EBITAY Conversion™  outzoma '
and % of satary)i" » ‘ 2020 1
IAlmAaskara 200% . ° - 0.0% - 100.0% 0.0% -100.0% 50% J

) 2020, Luxfer achieved lavels of EBITA and cash conversion that resulted in a bonus opportunity of
54.5% cut of 200% being assessed for Alok Maskara. However due to the financial Impact of COVID-18,
the payout was capped at 50%.

Management EBITA {earnings before interest, taxalion and amortisation) Is defined as operating
income (as reported under U.S. GAAP) adjustéd for equity income Hloss) of unconsolidated affillates,
qualifying restructuring charges, impaimment charges, acquisition-related charges / credits, amortisation
of finance costs, the unwind of deferred consideration, amortisation of acquired intanglbles and share
based ¢compensation charges.

@Gash conversion Is defined as the ratio of management EBITA to adjusted operating cash flow.
Adjusted operating cash flow Is reconciled from management EBITA by adding back depreciation, loss /
{galn) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, changes in assets and liabllitles, net of effects of
business acquisitions, non-restructuring capltal expenditures, equity Incoma of unconsolidated affillates
and U X. pension deficit funding éontributions.

In 2020, the Comipany generated a management EBITA of $40.6 miflion belng in tha range of between agreed
threshold and target levels and a cash conversion ratio of approximately 219%, which Is at the top of the range.

The Beard has consldered whether to include in this report the targets which applled to the bonus arrangements
for the Executive Director in 2020 but has determined that these amounts are commaerciaily sensitive,

“'The Long-Term Incentive Awards. The 2020 Single Figure:

In 2020, 40% of the total target award communicated by the Remuneration Committes was in the form
of time-based restricted stock unils granted on March 13, 2020. The value of these awards was
$374,748 based on the closing share price on the day of grant of $42.22 per share and deducting the
naminal cost value of $1.00 each share. The awards will vest In one-quarter Increments on each of the
first four annual anniversarles following grant.

In addition, the Remuneration Cormmittee performancs targeéts for the year were based upon EPS

targets and total shareholder return, as described in Executive Director Awards Undar the LTIP on page

44, The total shareholder raturn parformance measurement period remains open untll the year ending
December 31, 2022_Thé EPS Share award opportunity for the year-ended December :31;-2020-was - - -

missed.

The LTIP share award disclosure in the Proxy Statement filed with the SEC (Form DEF 14A) for Alok
Maskara as part of his execulive compensation for the year ended December 31, 2020 differs to the
amaunt Included In the Single -Tolal Figure Table, as It Is based upon the achlevement of targeted
Company performance for ail performance-based awards communicated in the yeat. The value of the
awards Included Iri the Proxy Statement Is In accordance with U.S. GAAP.

In 2019, the Remuneralion Committee targets were based upon certain EPS and TSR targets,
consistent with the methodology applied for the year ended Dacembar 31, 2020. The total shareholder
return parformance measurement pericd remains open until the year ending December 31, 2021. The
EPS target was missed In 2019 resulting In no ime-based awards belng granted in 2020.

In 2018, the TSR targets set by the Remuneration Commitiee closed at December 31, 2020. The share
award opportunity showed the Company in the second quartile when compared to its peer group. This
led to an award of 23,760 share awards made to the Executive Director and vested immediately on
March 26, 2021. The valus of these awards was $457,142 based on the closing shara price on the day
of grant of $20.24 and deducting the nominal cost of £0.50 translated Into U.S. dollars at the same date.
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Bother Share Awards. In May 2017 Alok Maskara was granled share options in respect of his
appointment to the role of Chlef Executive Officer, These time-based awards and performance-based
awards were outside the terms of reference of the LTIP but granted in accordance with the provisions aof
the Remuneration Policy. The number, and detalls of the terms, of the grants are set out in the table in
Quistanding Share Awards During 2020 and the accompanying nates, on pages 46 to 47.

As shown In the Quistanding Share Awards During 2020 table on page 46, a total of 15,000 share
awards made to the Executive Director on his appoiniment vested and were released during the year.
The value of these awards was included in the Other Share Awards remuneration figure of the Single
Total Figure table for 2017. These awards carry with them the right to receive accumulated dividends

during the period of the award, in shares. The dividends are not credited untll the award vests. The value
of the dividends vested and paid in shares was $11,613 resulting from the vesling of 877 dividend
shares. The dividend shares were valued at the closing share price on the NYSE on the date of vesting,
less the issue price of £0.50 translated into U.S. dollars at the date of vesting.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, a total of 30,000 share awards made to the Executive Director
on his appointment vestad and were released during the year. The value of thesa awards was included
in the Other Share Awards remuneration figure of the Single Total Figure table for 2017, These awards
carry with them the right to recelve accumulated dividends during the pariod of the award, in shares. The
dividends are not credited until the award vesls. The value of the dividends vested and paid in shares
was $42,127 resulting from the vesting of 1,824 dividend shares. The dividend shares were valued at the
closing share price on the NYSE on the date of vesting, less the issue price of £0.50 translated inte U.S.
dollars at the date of vesting.
®)For detalls of penslon arrangements see page 48.

Paymants to Past Directors

There were no payments made to past Directors during the year.

Payments for Loss of Office

There were no payments made to Directors for loss of office during the year.

Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration

None of the Non-Executive Directors (including the Chair) received taxable benefits, annual bonus, long-term
incentive awards (exceeding one year) or pension-related benefits during the year.

Single Total Flgure Tahle

u.s.$ Year Base Fee® Other Fees (Fees in the Total
. o , form of share awards)™®
JDavid-Landless = - =~ 2020 - —~——115,000 =~ e mn e §0,462 — -—175,46 2
2019 103,194 55,770 158,964
[Clive Snowdon 2020 82,000 43,152 125,153]
2019 82,000 44 587 126,587
[Richard Hipple 2020 82,600 108,563 190,563}
2019 82,000 —_ 82,000
rAllishﬁ"foﬁ 2020 82,000 96,158 178,158
2019 67,492 — 67,492
|Lisa Trimberger 2020 82,000 ' 75,063 157,063 |
2019 27,333 — 27,333

Table compiled in accordance with the U K. 'Tha Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports) Regulations 2008', as amended by 'The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups
(Accounts and Reporis) (Amendment) Regulations 2013".
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) Aliisha Elliott was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Director from March 5, 2019. Her base
fee In 2019 reflects the periad of service from this date to December 31, 2019.

Lisa Trimberger was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Director from September 1, 2019. Her
base fes in 2019 reflacts the period of service from this date to December 31, 2019,

The Non-Executive Directors' feas of Cliva Snowdon, Richard Hipple, Lisa Trimberger and Allisha Elliott
are all determined in U.S. dollars.

The_Non-Executive Director's fee of David Landless although determined in U.S. dollars, is paid in GBP

sterling translated at the closing month-end exchange rate of each month prior to payment. Actual
payments received by David Landless aggregated to £80,104 (2019: £81,267). The base fee for 2019
includes the supplementary fee for being Chalr from May 15, 2019.

12 2020 Single figure:
The value of the Other Fees in the Single Figure table [s calculated as follows;

= An element of the fees recelved by the Chalr and the other Non-Execulive Directors are
delivered as time-based restricted stock units ("RSUs"). The award value Is a percentage of their
Base Fee as provided In the Director Equity tncentive Plan ("EIP") less the issue price per share
of $1.00. The value of the award Is capped at to up to 55% of base fees at the date of the award.
Awards were made immediately after the 2020 AGM and vest immediately before the 2021
AGM, The number of RSUs was calculated using the closing share price on the NYSE ($14,79)
the day before the award was made. The number of awards received by each Non-Executive
Director is set out in Awards Granfed During the Year - Non-Executive Directors Under the
Diractor Equity Incentive Plan (EIP) on page 45.

* The RSU awards carry with them the right to receive accumulated dividends during the period of
the award, in shares. The Other Fees amount includes the value of the dividends awarded In
2020 and vested immediately before the 2020 AGM or will vest immediately before the 2021
AGM. The value of the awards themselves were included in the Single Figure for 2020 as they
were time-based awards (see below). The dividend shares were valued at the closing share
price on the NYSE on the date of tha dividends being awarded, being $16.91, $12.78, $13.60
and $12.16 respectively, less the issue price of $1.00. The number of dividend shares allacated,
and their value were:

Non-Executive Director Dividend shares Value of dividend less
allocated nominal cost of share §
|Pavid Landiess 121 1,496 |
Clive Snowdon 89 1,106
[Richard Hipple — 151 1,787 ]
Allisha-Elliott __134 1.586 o
[Uisa Trimberger 104 1,231 A

LUXFER SHARE INCENTIVE PROGRAMS

Luxfer has a number of share incentive plans designed to align the interests of its Directors, managers and
employees with the interests of its shareholders. These plans help us remain competitive and act as retention
tools.

The plan under which awards are granted to the Executive Directors on an ongoing basis is the Luxfer Holdings
PLC Lang-Term Umbrella Incentive Plan {"LTIP"), Awards, which are considered part of their fees, are made to
the Non-Executive Directors under the Non-Executive Directors Equity Incentive Plan (“EIP"). The UK.
Executive Directors also particlpate in the Company's All Employee Share Pian (*SIP") open to all UK.
employees. In the U.S. the Company has established an Employee Share Purchase Plan (“ESPP®) which is
open to all U.S. employees and U.S. based Executive Directors.
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LTiP: The LTIP was adopted for the [.P.O. in 2012. It is used to grant awards not only to the Executive Directors
but also senlor and junior managers. In the Luxfer Group. A variety of different awards can be granted under the
LTIP. To date, it has been used to grant time-based nominal cost options to U.K. employees including the
Executive Directors, parformance-based nominal cost options and market value options lo the Executive
Directors and other senior UK. employees and time-based and performance restricted stock units to U.S.
managers and managers from other countries in which the Luxfer Group operate. The maximum value of awards
under the rules of the LTIP that can be granted to the Chief Executive Officer and Other Executive Directors are
defined in the Remuneration Policy.

IR.0.-Options:—As-part-of-the_L.R.O.-in_October. 2012, stand-alone_option_grants.were_made_ over shares_to the
Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and cerlain other key axecutives seen as critical to the Company's
future success on completion of the I.P.O. All these opfions had fully vested and were exercisable up to October
2018, being seven years from the date of grant. No dividend shares were allocated on these awards, either
before or after vesting, whilst unexercised. The exercise price is the 1.P.O. price of $10 per share. The IPO
Options expired in October 2019 and are no lenger avallable for exercising.

EIP: Annual awards are made under the EIP to Non-Exscutive Directors as part of their fees. The value of the
award is up to 556% of the base fee of a Non-Executive Director, These awards are made the day after the AGM
of the Company in each year and vest the day before the following AGM. Annual awards are usually made as
restricted stock units. They are paid out immediately on vesting, together with dividends which have been
accumulated during the vesting period. New Non-Executive Directars cannot participate In the annual awards
until they have served six months, however, the awards they would have earned from the date of appointment
are added to the next annual award provided they are re-slected at the AGM.

Copies of the LTIP, 1.P.0. Oplions and EIP plans mentioned above are filed on the Company's file at the SEC.
AWARDS GRANTED DURING THE YEAR
Executive Directors®’ Awards Under the LTIP

In 2020, the Remuneration Committee awarded long-term incentive compensation under the Long-Term
Umbrella Incentive Plan. As it does each year, the Remuneration Committee referenced benchmark data
{including compensation surveys, Comparator Group informatlon and other data provided by Meridian
Compensation Partners LLC) in setling target U.S. dollar award levels for the Executiva Director. In accordance
with the Remuneration Policy the maximum share award opportunity available to the Executive Director (in any
one year) al the time of communicating their award during 2020 was capped at 220% of their base salary, on
achlevement of stretch performance. Achievement of target performance would result In a share award
opportunity capped equivalent to 150% of base salary being available and threshold performance at 75% of
base salary.

Based on the target level of the Executive Dirsctor's share awards avallable {capped at 150% of base salary),
40% of this award was granted in March 2020 in the form of time-based restricted stock units, vesting evenly on
the first four anniversaries of the award from grant-date. This amounted fo 33,400 time-based restricled stock

“Units.” Thé remaining '60% of the fargét award allocation was ™ split 40% &vailable rased onthie deliveryof a—

certain adjusted diluted EPS targel for the year ending December 31, 2020 and 60% available on the delivery of
cartain total sharsholder return targets. The total shareholder return target consists of a ranking of Company
performance against a peer group of twanty companies for the last ninety days of the year ended December 31,
2019 against the last ninety days of the year ending Decamber 31, 2022. Based on the relative level of
shareholder return achieved, awards in relation total shareholder return would vest evenly in March 2023 and
March 2024. For each of the adjusted diluted EPS and tota! sharsholder return petrformance metrics, it is
possible to achieve a threshald, target and stretchi level of award grants, based on result delivery.

The EPS share award opportunity for the year ended December 31, 2020 was missed. The relative total

shareholder return performance will be subject to remeasurement up to and including the year ending December
31, 2021,

For 2019, the Remuneration Commitlee set performance targets consistent with that used in 2020 based upon
the achievement of adjusted diluted EPS to be measured at threshold, target and stretch levels and the
achievement of relative total shareholder return to be measured al threshold, farget and stretch levels, The
relative total shareholder retum performance will be subject to remeasurement up to and including the year

ending December 31, 2021. The reported EPS for 2019 was not achieved which resulted no awards being
granted.
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For 2018, the Remuneration Committee set performance targets consistent with that used in 2020 based upon
the achievement of relative total shareholder return to he measured at threshold, target and stretch levels. The
performance of the Comaphy meant target level being achieved which resulted in Alok Maskara eaming 100% of
the available awards. The number, and details of the terms, of the grants are set out in the tabie in Outstanding
Share Awards During 2020 and the accompanyirig notes, on pages 46 to 47,

The Commillea believe they set challenging targets to motivate the executive direclor and align the interests of
the executive with those of shareholders. Achievement of stretch targets requires exceptional performance.

Non-Executive Directors under the Director EIP

The table below sets out the share award grants made to the Non-Executive Directors during the year in
accordance with the Remuneration Policy.

Face Issue
Chair or Basis of Share Value Price per
Non- Aggregate  Price at No. of of share & in % of Face
Executive Date of Awards Dataof Typeof Shares Award Aggregate Vesting Value
Diractor  Grant Granted Grant$ Award Granted $ $ Data  That Vest
David ~Juned, 55%ofsnnuel 1479  Resiricled 4,276 63,242 $1.00 each Day- ~ On
Landless - 2020  feefor2020 Stock Unit - = share before * - vesting
2021-  date
i AGM - 100% :
Clive June 4, 55% ofannual 14.79  Restricted = 3,046 45,095 $1.00 each Day Cn
Snowdon 2020 fee for 2020 Stock Unit share before vesting
2021 date
AGM 100%
Richard Juned, 55%ofannual 1479 Resiricted 7,743 114,519 $1.00 each Day On
Hippla = 2020 fes for 20204 Stack Unit share before  vesting
2021 date
AGM 100%
Allisha June 4, 55%ofannual 14.79 Restricted 6,858 101,430 $1.00 each Day On
Elilott 2020 fee for 2020 Stock Unit share before  vesting
2021 date
AGM 100%
Lisa June 4, 55%of annual 14,79 Restricted 5354 79,186 $1.00 each Day On
Trimberger 2020 fos for 2020 Stock Unit share before  wvesting
2021 date )
AGM 100% !

! New Non-Executive Directors canhot partictpate In the ‘annual EIP awards until they have served six months; however, the
awards they would have earned from the date of appointment are added to the next annual award. Awards n 2020 for Richard
Hipple, Allisha Elliott.and.Lisa Trimberger.Include additional RSUs granted in respect of prior year service.
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QUTSTANDING SHARE AWARDS DURING 2020
Executive and Non-Executive Directors

Awards granled in 2020 in respect of 2019 Company financial performance to the Executive Director have baen
included in the table below. Based on the Company's financial performance in 2020, no performance related
awards were granted in 2020.

Awards Options/Restricted Stock Units

Vested Vested Vested

Avallable Granted Settled Avallable Awards Awards Setiled Awards Avallable
Jan1, During During Dec31, Jan1, During During Dec31, Unvested

Awards 2020 Yoar Year 2020 2020 Year Year 2020 Awards
Alok Maskara - - ' L B
Upon Appointment(" 15,000 —  {15,000) —_ — 15,000 (15,000) — -
[_UponAppointment™ " 30,000 — _ (15,000)__ 15,000 — 15,000 (15,000) — _._15,000]
LTIP 20179 32,367 —  {16,183) 16,184 — 16,183 (16,183) — 16,184
[TTiP 20784 49,280 — _ (24,640) 24 640 — 24640 (24640) — 24,640]
LTIP 20199 21,200 —  (5,300) 15800 — 5300 (5,300) — 15,900
{ L1ie 2020 — 33,400 — 33400 - — — — — 33,400
Totals 147,847 33,400 (76,123) 105,124 — 76,123 (76,123) — 105,124
L . , . |
David Landless
[CEP 2619 2,218 — (2,218) — —  2218. (2,218) — —]
EiP 2020 — 4,276 — 4276 — — — —_ 4,276
\Totals 2,218 4276 (2,218) 4,276 — 2218 (2,218) — - 4,276
iClive Snowdon ] 1
EIP 2019® 1,763 —  (1,763) — — 1,763 (1,763) — —
[ Eip 2020 - — 3,049 — 3,049 — — — — 3,049]
Totals 1,763 3,048  (1,763) 3,049 — 1,763 {1,763) . 3,049
L ]
Richard Hipple
[ EP2020® — 7,743 — 7,743 — — — — 17,7431
Totals — 7,743 — 7,743 — — — — 7,743
L : ]
Allisha Elliott
[ EiP2020" — 6,858 — 6,858 — — — — 6,858 |
Totals — 6,858 — 6,858 — — — — 6,858
[ - 1
flisa Trimberger
[TEiP 26201 — 5,354 — 5354 — — — — 5,354 |
Tolals , — 5354 — . 5354 — — — — 5,354
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Key to table:
Exerclse
Prica /
Naminal Cost Remalning Vesting/ Vesting
Award Award Scheme, Type & Grant Grant Date  Each Award Settlement Dates Period
(1 Upon appointment - Time-Based  Aug 23,'17 £0.500 All vasted No longer
Rastricted Stock Units applicable
{2} Upon appointment - Time-Based  Aug 23,17 £0.509 May 23, 2021 To Jui 22, 2021
Restricted Stock Units ™ .
{3) LTIP 2017-Performance-Based- Mar 23,18 £0.500 Mar 23, 2021 To May 22, 2024
- EPStaigas '™
{4) LTIP 2018—Time-Basaed Restricted Mar 26, '18 £0.500 Mar 26, 2021 To May 25, 2021
o Stock Units @ _ _
{5) LTIP 2018-Performance-Basag- Mar 26, '19 £0.500 Mar 26, 2021 To May 25, 2021
EPS targets ¥
(6) LTIP 2019 — Time-Based Resiricted Mar 14, '19 $1.00 Mar 14, 2021, 2022, To May 13, 2023
Stack Units ™9 2023
{7) LTIP 2020 — Tima-Based Restricted Mar 13, 20 $1.00 Mar 13, 2021, 2022, To May 14, 2024
Stock Units 2023, 2024
(8) ElP 2019—Time-Based Restricted May 16, '13 $1.00 All vested the day No longer
Steck Units 1 before 2020 AGM applicable
(9) EIP 2020—Time-Based Restricted  Juns 4, "20 $1.00 Day bafore 2021 —
Stock Units AGM

{i} Upon Appcintment - The Remuneration Committee determined that the new Chief Execulive Officer should acquire
a2 minimum quantily of 22,500 shares within lwelve months of appointmeni. Upon the Chief Executive Officer
acquiring the shares, the Company matched the purchase by granting an award over 45,000 nominal cost RSUs, 1o
vest ovar three years.

(i) Where tha exercise price / nominal cos! is indicated in GBP sterling, In so far as It Is required to be translated Into
U.S. doliars for the purpose of the exercise / settlemant, it Is translated at the $:£ exchange rate reported in the
Financial Times for the date of exercise / setttement.

{iity Upon Appointment - The Remuneration Commiltee determined to make a one-off share award to the new CEO,
outside the terms of the LTIP, over 60,000 time-based nominal cost RSUs, to vest over four years. ‘

(iv) LTIP 2017 Awards made on altainment of 2017 EPS performance goals and include *holding period” and “claw
back” provisions, to vest evenly over-three years. Time-based restricted stock units accumulate additional restriclted
stock units when the Company pays a dividend. Shares underlying the total amount of restricted stock units are then
issuad when the restricted stock unit vests.

(v) LTIP 2018: Time based awards granted on March 26, 2018 and Include "holding period” and “ciaw back™ provisions,
to vest evenly over three years, Tima-based restricled stock units accumulate additional restricted stock units when
the Company pays a dividend. Shares underlying the total amount of restricted stock units are then Issued when the
restricted stock unit vests,

{viy LTIP 2018: Awards made o attaiiment of 2018 EPS performance goals'and include "holding period” and “claw

back™ provisions, fo vest evenly over two years, Time-based resfricted Stock Units accumulate additional Testricted
stock units when the Company pays a dividend, Shares underiying the total amounl of restricted stock units are then
issuad when the restricted stock unit vests.

{vil) LTIP 2019: Time based awards granted on March 14, 2019 and include “holding period” and “ctaw back™ provisions,
to vest evenly over four years. Time-based restricted stock units accumulate additional restricted stock units when
tha Company pays a dividend. Shares underlying the total amount of restrictad stock units are then issued when the
restricted stock unit vesis.

{vili)LTIP 2020: Time based awards granted on March 13, 2020 and include “holding period” and "claw back” provisions,
to vest evenly over four years. Time-based restricted stock units accumulate additional restricted stock units when
the Company pays a dividend. Shares underlying the total amount of restricted stock units are then issued when the
restricted stock unit vests.

(ix) EiP 2019 and EIP 2020 annual awards are settled Immediately on vesting, together with dividends which have been
accumutated during the vesting period. The 2019 awards were settled in 2020 net of payroll laxss.
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PENSION ARRANGEMENTS

In liou of contributions into Company pensian plans, the Company offers a salary supplement, which ultimately
reflect the cost of previous defined benefit arrangements, now withdrawn. Executive Directors are paid the
equivalent of 25% of base salary, with an element of this funding being paid into the U.S, funded defined
confribution schema for Alok Maskara.

Details of the payments made 1o the defined contribution arrangement and salary supplement during years 2020
and 2018 for the Executive Director ara set forth in the tables below.

Director’s Remunaration and Benefits for the Year Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Executive Definted Funded Defined  Unfunded Defined Cash
Director  Year Benefit Contribution!” Contribution Supplement Total
| Alok Maskara® 2020 — 16,500 § s .— % 148,980 $  165,480|
2019 — 16,800 $ — % 151,950 $§ 168,750

. {1) The Funded Definad Contribution for Alok Maskara relates to amounts paid in respect of & 401(k) matching
program.

Implementation of the Remuneration Policy for the Year Ending December 31, 2021 (Information not
subject to audit unless stated otherwise) .

Set out below is @ summary of how the Directors Remuneration Policy will be applied during the year ending
December 31, 2020,

Base Salary
2021 2020
$ $ % Increase'’
T Alok Maskara ‘ 675,000 " 657,000 . — % |

M Actual base salary payout for Alok Maskara was lower in 2020 at $657,000 than his centractual salary ($675,000) due to
the Impact of COVID-related furlough and voluntary pay reductions,

Pension Arrangements
The Executive Director will receive a cash supplement calculated at a flat rate of 25% of base salary.
Annual Bonus

In_accordance wilth the Remuneration Policy, the maximurn anhual bonus for Alok Maskara, as Chief Executive

Officer, is capped at 200% of base salary. Included within this is the Additlonal Percentage Bonus to be awarded
on achievement of specific targets set by the Remuneration Commiltee. At the start of each year, the
Remuneration Commities reserve the discretion to set the Additional Percentage Bonus and related specific
targets that are aligned with the strategic goals of the Company.

As in previous years, the financial performance target element of the annual bonus will be based on a
combination of twa financial performance metrics, management EBITA and Cash Conversion. It will ba on a
sliding scale that commences only once threshold has been achieved and rises through the target performance
up to a stretch target. The financlal performance award element of the annual bonus opportunity will be split
evenly between the above two financial metrics:

Split; sliding scale between threshold,
target and stretch
Financial metric annual bonus opportunity Management EBITA Cash Conversion

JAlok Maskara T 0%-50% 0% - 50% {
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Long Term Incentives

The Remuneration Committee has then set targets for 2021 which, if attained, wouid lead to the granting of time-
based restricted stock units for Alok Maskara. The Committee has set a scorecard of metrics {0 assess the
performance of the Company based upon Total Shareholder Return (*TSR”) and adjusted diluted EPS. A greater
weighting has been assigned to the attainment of the TSR target which eams 60% of the performance awards
available, compared to the EPS target which has a 40% weighting.

The total shareholder return target wili consist of a ranking of Company performance against a peer group of
———————lwenly-companiesfor-the-last-ninety_days of the year ended-December_31,.2020_against_the last ninety days of

the year ending December 31, 2023. Based on the relative level of shareholder return achieved, awards in

relation total shareholder return would be granted in March 2024 and vest in equal tranches in 2025 and 2028,

The Remuneration Committee is also proposing that Alok Maskara be granted time-based restricted stock units,
which vest in equal tranchas commencing on the first anniversary of the grant date at the value of 40% of the
total target share award available.

If, during the preparation of the current year's financial resulls, a material misstatement of the previous year's
results is discovered, a clawback of the Jong-term Incentive awards granted with respect to the misstated
element of the previous financial resuits applies to all employees, including our Executive Director, The
Remuneration Committee has discretion to apply the policy to recover and recoup incentive compensation in
such situations Involving a material misstatement of financial resuls.

In accordance with the revised Remuneration Policy for approval at the 2021 AGM, the maximum value of
awards that can ba made to the Chief Executive Officer Diractor in any one year Is capped at up to 300% of
hase salary (increased from a cap of 220% of base salary in the previous Remuneration Policy).

Non-Executive Directors

Summary of how the Directors' Remuneration Policy for the Non-Executive Directors will be applied
during the year ending December 31, 2621,

The Board decldes the approach to compensating the Non-Executive Directors. The Board agreed to freeze the
base fees of the Non-Executive Directors for 2020, as shown below, The value of share awards as 2 percentage
of base fee Is to remain fixed at up to 55% of base fee under the EIP.

2021 2020 % Value of Share Value of Share
$ $ Increase Awards % of Base Awards % of Base Fee
Base Fee Base Fee Base Fee 2021 - 2020

{David Landless 115,000 115,000 A Upte 100%. Up to 55% |

Clive Snowdon 82,000 82,000 % Up to 100% Up to 55%
__[Richard Hipple . 82,000 82,000 % Upto100% -~ Upto55% - 1

Allisha Elliott 82,000 82,000 =% Up to 100% Up to 65%

[Cisa Trimbarger 82,000 82,000 % Up to 100% Uptc 55% . ]
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Directors' Interests in Shares in the Company (audited)

Number of Ordinary Shares  Number of Ordinary Shares

_ Held at Dec 31, 2020 ] Held at Jan 1, 2020
[David Landless ! - . 11,160 : 9,638]
Alok Maskara @ 195,950 154,925
[Ciive Snowdon ™ - 7,458 6,'44ﬂ
Richard Hipple ¢! 6,044 3,000
fAllisha Eifott = _ 3
Lisa Trimberger © 5,000 5,000

{1) David Landless acquired 1,522 shares throughout 2020 as a result of the vesling of 2,288 time-based Restricted
Stock Units. 2,218 Rastricted Sluck Units ware awarded In 2019 under the EIP and, together with an accrued
dividend of 70 shares, fully vested an June 2, 2020, Of those 2,288 shares, 1,138 shares wera used as payment of
exercise price or tax fiability. Of the 1,522 shares acquired by David Landless during 2020, 372 of those shares were
acquired through the operation of the Dividend Reinvestment Plan {DRIP), which allows for the pyrchase of
additional shares through the reinvestment of cash dividends. Further datails on these awards can be found in the
notes to Singte Figure-Non-Executive Directors' Remunaeration on pages 42 to 43.

{2) Alok Maskara acquired 41,025 shares throughout 2020 as a result of the vesting of 80,927 time-based Restricted
Stock Units, as detailed in the table titled Quistanding Share Awards During 2020 on pages 46 and 47, Of those
80,927 shares, 39,902 shares were used as payment of exerclse price or tax liability.

(3) Clive Snowdon acquired 1,012 shares throughout 2020 as a rasult of the vesting of 1,819 time-based Restricted
Stock Units. 1,763 Restricted Stock Units were awarded In 2018 under the EIP and, together with an accrnied
dividend of 56 shares, fully vested on June 2, 2020. Of thase 1,819 shares, 807 shares were used as payment of
exercise prica or lax liability. The shares Identified as held by Clive Snowdon are held by a connected person.
Further detalls on these awards can ba found in the notas to Single Figure-Non-Executive Director's Remuneration
on pages 42 to 43.

{4) Richard Hipple acquired 3,044 shares throughoul 2020. Richard Hipple purchased 3,000 shares on market in May
2020. Of the 3,044 shares acquired by Richard Hipple during 2020, 44 of those shares were acquired through the
oparation of the Dividend Reinvestment Pian (DRIP), which aliows for the purchase of addtional shares through the
reinvestment of cash dividends.

{5) In August 2019, Lisa Trimberger purchased 5,000 shares on market, These shares are awned by a trust of which
Lisa Trimberger is the sole beneficlary and her spousa is the trustee.

Executive Director Shareholding Requirements

The Executive Director Is required to hold and maintain ordinary shares equal in value to 150% of base salary.
The Director is allowed a period of three years from date of appointment to acquire the holding. Executive -
Diractors are required to abtain the Chair's permission befora they or their connected persons can deal in the
Company's shares providing an effective way of ensuring thelr shareholding requirements are maintained,

Total Directors’ Shareholdings and Interests at 31 December 2020

Shares Owned Optlons Vested Restricted Stock Units Not Yet Vested

Bensficially but not {assuming will be settled in Shares not
Exerclsed™ Cash)™"

[Alok Maskara - 195,950 — _ 33,400]
Non-Executive

[David Landless 11,160 — : 4,276}
Clive Snowdon 7.459 — 3,049
|Richard Hipple 6,044 — . 7.743]
Allisha Elliott — — 6,858
[Cisa Trimberger - 5,000 — ' 5,354 ]

(1) Abreakdown of tha vested and unvested awards ang brief detalls of the plans under which the awards were made
can ba found in the Outstanding Share Awards During 2020 table on page 46 of this report.
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Performance Graph

UK. legislation requires the Annual Reimuneration Report to contain a line graph that shows the TSR over a ten-
year period for Both a holding of the Company's listed shares and a hypothetical comparator holding of shares
representing & specified broad aquity market index. As the Company was only listed on the NYSE at the
beginning of October 2012, we are only able to provide TSR for the Company’s shares in a listed environment
for a period 3 October 2012 to 31 December 2020. We have used the Russell 2000 index as the most
appropriate published index for comparison purposes. The graph shows the value of $100 vested in Luxfer In

October 2012 at the 1.P.Q,, and the reinvestment of dividends since that-date, compared to $100 invested in the

Russell 2000.on.thie_same_date, assuming_the_same.reinvestment of dividends. The Russeli 2000 was chosen as

the index as It comprises companies that closely resemble Luxfer. The TSR is calculated in U.S. dollars.

TSR Oct 3, 2012 (1.P.0.} to Dec 31, 2020

g

g
3
oy 1000 —
8
a
p
i R
w09 ﬁr L
300
oo
ariioeae a1y as e [ 1Y ] a4 16 Q41y a4 18 ary og

51



LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC

History of Total Remuneration Figure for Chief Executive Oficer

Wa have included the total remuneration figure for the Chief Executive Officer for a seven-year period as
required by legislation.

us.$
Year ended

December 31 2014 2015 2016 2017 @ 2018 2019® 2020

Sfal remuneTation 853,320 1,021,357 836,317 3,306,615 5,071, 101~1:834:401~2,063;680

Annual

bonus % — % 39 % — % 124 % 200% 60% 50 %
Share awards x - . ., e S T 1
vesting% ™ - 599% " 21%. ~ —% T37% . 84%  584% - -.'146 %
% change in total

remuneration {13)% 20 % {18)% 306 % 76 % (69Y% 12 %

The average Increase in the CEQ's total remuneration over the past seven years Is a 44% Increase, although this Is heavily
impactad by the 306% incraase ln 2017. The CAGR over the same perlod was a 13% Increase.

(1) Parcentage of salary.

(2) The 2017 figures include Brian Purves' remuneration for the first six months of 2017 and Alok Maskara's
remuneration for the second six months of 2017,

(3) The 2019 share awards vaesting figure of 584% (as a percentage of salary) includes the vesting of 120,000
performance-based EPS awards granted on hire, Excluding these awards, the adjusted share awards vesting figure
would be 183%.

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay

The following chant sets out the Group's actual spend on pay {for all employees) relative to dividends pald in the
current and prior year.

Total Staff Costs vs Dividends Pald ($M)

$1144

2020 2019

BTotal Staff Costs @ Dividends Pald

(To asslst with conformity and transparency we have used staff costs as set out in Note 7 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.)
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Parcentage Change in Chief Executive Officer's Remuneration

For 2020, we have selected U.S. employees as the most appropriate comparator as the Chief Executive Officer
is based in the U.S. and the benefits structure is-similar, consistent with the approach taken for 2018.

uss 2020 2019 % change
|Salary . ' ]
Chief Executive Officer 657,000 675,000 2.7)%
- {Fmployee_averagn » 56,826 56,491 0.6 ‘2{;]
Benefits
[Chief Executive Officer 4' 60,197 57,513 47 %
Employee average 11,341 11,045 27 %
[Annual Bonus ' 1
Chief Executive Officer 337,506 405,711 {16.8)%
[Employee average ' 2,785 3,359 {(17.1)%)
Pay Ratio

For 2020, we have selected U.S. employses as the mast appropriate comparator as the Chief Executive Officer
is based in the U.S. and tha banefits structure is similar.

25th percentile 50th percentile 75th percentlle

Year Method pay / ratio pay / ratio pay / ratio
| 2020 A 43,945 70,952 103,402
24.0:1 14.9: 1 10.2: 1
| 2019 A 44,289 70,895 104,424}
25.7:1 16.4: 1 10.9: 1

The Company has selected method A for calculating the pay ratio, as the company has selactad to use U.S.
employees as the most appropsiate comparator and gender pay gap reporting (used in method B and C) is not
required in the U.S,, method A was deemed the maost apprapriate, this Is consistent with tha approach taken for
2019. When calculating the percentiles, the average 1U.S. person's salary was used throughout the year, When
calculating the pay ratios, share-based compensation has been omitted as only senior managers are part of the
LTIP scheme.

The individuals who represent the three quartiles are all full-time employees and are considered to be
reprasentative-of-the-25th-median-and-Z5th-percentile.pay.lavels_inthe.Group

The pay ratios have reduced year on year, with the decrease predominantly a result of the raduction. in the
annual bonus awarded and the CEQ's reduction in salary. The median pay for the U.S. employee has remained
relatively flat, with the reduction being a result of decreases in annual bonus,
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Statemant of voting at AGM

The Annual Remuneration Implementation Report and Remuneration Palicy was put to an advisory vole at the
2020 AGM.

Votes for (and Votes agalnst (and Proportion of
percentage of percentage of share capital
votes cast) votes cast) vating
%nnugm?mm:at:ﬁlmmmem_a_tlga,mza,gog;ss1 S 110,301 . 82.08 %
aport . ' ’
99.53 % 047 %

The vote recejved in favour of the Remuneration Report was 99.53%, and the larger shareholders with whom the
Directors liaise with from time to time did not make any negative comments In those conversations congerning
Directors’ pay and incentives.

Directors Remuneration Policy

The Directors’ Remuneration policy was last approved at the 2018 Annual General Meeting, where 84.84% of
the votes cast were in favor of approving the Directors’ Remuneration Policy. The Remuneration Commiitee (the
“Committee”), as a standing commiitee of the Board of Directars of Luxfer Holdings PLC (the “Board” and the
"Company” respectively), presents this proposed Directors' Remuneration Policy ("Policy”} for shareholder
approval at the 2021 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (*Annual General Meeting” or "AGM"). Following
approval at the 2021 AGM, this Policy shall take effect immediately and remains valid for a period of three (3)
yesars or unti! a subsequent version is appraved by an ordinary resoiution of the shareholders, The Commitiee
reviews the Company's remuneration programs and overall system to ensure (I} alignment with shareholders’
interests and best practices; (ii) fair and transparent remuneration; and (jli) that remuneration packages remain
competitive, attract high-quality talent, and reward performance.

Differences in Remuneration For Directors and Employees

The difference in remuneration for the Executive Director and other employees reflacts differing levels of
responsibility, seniority, and market norms in the jurlsdictions In which they are employed. The key differences in
remuneration are as follows:

» Bonus arrangements for seniar, middle, and lower management are set at a lower percentage than the
Executive Director but are broadly structured on the sama basis to ensure commonality of objectives.
There is greater emphasls on parformance-related pay for management, and bonus opportunity far other
employees may be lowered or not availabie, depending on jurisdiction.

+  Benefits for employees take into account their position and the market norms of the jurisdiction in which
they operate.

« Pension arrangements are offered where it is the norm in the jurisdiction of the employee. Where local

regulation_permits.and.where_it_is_the_market_norm,_highar_contributions_may_bs _available_for_niore

senior management. The Company's primary pension plans are described in the Company’s financial
statements.

« Parlicipation in the LTIP is Jimited 1o the Executive Director and a selsct number of senior officers and
senior managers. At the discrefion of the Committee, market value share awards or time-based share
awards may be awarded to employees in recognition of outstanding performance and lo encourage
share ownership and retention. UK employees, if eligible, can participate in the UK Share incentive Plan,
as described above.

The Committee commissions benchmarking studies of comparable companies and the pay of other senior
exacutives when setting the Executive Director's pay. Consideration Is also given to the pay and benefits that are
available throughout Luxfer, such as cost-of-living increases. Such consideration defines a clear structure of pay
and benefits layer-by-layer. The CGommittes does not consult with employees nor does It use internal comparison
metrics when drafting the Remuneration Policy. However, the Commiltee is aware of average pay and benefit
packages available within the Company. When setiing the terms of awards for the Executive Director, The
Committee also considers views expressed by institulional shareholder bodies.
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Approach to Recruitment Remuneration

Executive Director. When selling a remuneration package for a new Executive Director, including internal
promotions, the Commiltee will apply similar principles to those set out in the most recent approved
Remuneration Policy for both short- and long-term incentives.

Non-Executive Directors. New Non-Executive Diractors will ba paid fees on the same basls as existing Non-
Executive Directors. They will also participale in the Non-Execulive Directors Incentive Plan under which the
annual awards are non-discrationary. Awards can be made In the form of Options, Restricted Stock, or Restricted
Stock Units at the discretion of the Board and based on the value of each type of award and the number of

shares left In the Plan. The vesting period is determined at the discretion of the Comniifteé:
Severance and Change-in-Control Benefits

Executive Director. The Company may terminale the Executive Director's contract without notice on the
occurrence of certain events identified in their contract. Such termination would normally consist of conduct
justifying dismissal such as gross miscanduct. The Executiva Diractor has the same employment rights as any
other employee in the case of redundancy or if a relevant Iribunal determines that their termination was unfair
under UK law.

Ordinary nofice period is 12 months. the remuneration entitlement is payment in lieu of notice in the event of
early termination. This may include base salary benefits and pansion payabla for the notice periad. A benus may
be paid if the pericd for which pay in heu of notice is made extends past the year-end, subject to targets being
met.

Non-Executive Directors. Lettars of Appaintment for Non-Exacutive Diractors and the Chair are not for a fixed
term. The Chair and Non-Executive Directors do not have any employment rights. New appointeas to the Board
will generally be appointed on the same basis as the current Non-Exacutive Directors, Non-Executive Directors’
Letters of Appointment are available for inspection at the registered office of the Company.

Ordinary notice period Is 3 months, except if the Director fails to be re-elected at an AGM, then the contract
terminates immediately without notice or compensation.

Policy on payment for Loss of Office

Contractual entitlements through the date of termination will he honored, and the Company will (i) pay any
amounts it is required to pay in accordance with the Director's stafutory empioyment or cantractual rights and (i)
settle those rights. The Company will seek to apply the principles of mitigation ta ensure that it is not paying
more than Is required, In the event of a compromise or severance agreement, the Committee may make
payments it considers reasonable in settlement of potential legal claims, such as incidenta! and professional fees
paid by a Director.

a. Bonus Payment. Generally, thers is no entitlement to an annuat bonus upon cessation of employment
-within 1he first half of the calendar year. The Committee may; at its discretion, make a retroactive

paymant of & pro-tated basis during the second half-of thecalendar year-After-year-end-but-before
completion of an audit, departing employees will be paid the actual bonus earned on the normat bonus
paymant date. Departing empioyees are not efigible for bonus payments if they breach any obligations in
their employment contract, including the period of notice.

b. LTiP Provisions, For employees daparting for any reason other than termination for cause , all unvesled
time-based awards will immadiately lapse or be forfaited. All vestad unexercised options and stock
appreciation rights will lapse an the first anniversary date of departure, Performance based awards will
vegst on a pro-rated basls based on the performance results to the date of termination. The Committee
has the discrefion to accelerale vesting and exercise dates, walve conditions 10 vesling or exercise, or
extend exarcise periods after termination of employment. Discretion is typically used in such
circumstances where Directors are retiring before the fast vesting date or leaving employment through il
health or redundancy. In the case of tarmination for cause, all time-based awards, unvested
performance-based awards, and unexercised aptions wili immediately lapse or be forfeited on the date
‘of termination.
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Approval of Report .

Richard Hipple, the Chair of the Committee, will altend ihe forthcoming AGM and will be availiable to answer any
questions. shareholders may have concerning the Directors' remunaration. This Remuneration Report will be
submitted for approval by an advisery vote at ihe forthcoming AGM.

Signed on behalf of the Board by:

R i Hipple

CHAIR OF '!-'HE‘.REM!.INERA“ON COMMITTEE
April 29, 2021
Forand on behalf of the Board
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Statement of Directors® Responsibilities in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Diréctors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Direclors to prepare financial statements for each financlal year, Under that law, the
Directors have prepared the Group an Company financlal statements in accordance with International
accounting.standards in_conformity with the_requirements of the Companies Act 2008.

Under Company law, the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company for the period. In preparing the financial
statements, the Directars are required to:

«  Selact suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

« State whether applicable International accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of
Companies Act 2008 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements;

»  Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

+  Prepare the financial statements on the going concem basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the Group and Company will continue in business.

The Directors are also respansible for safeguarding the assats of the Group and Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detaction of fraud and other irreguiarities.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Group and Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements and ‘the Directers’
‘Ramuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company's website. Legislation in-the
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from fegisiation
in other jurisdictions,

Directors’ Confirmations

The Directors consider that the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the Information necessary for sharehaolders to assess the Group and Company's
position and performanice, business model and strategy.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in Directors' Report confirm that, to the best of their

knowledge:

« Company financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with International accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of Companias Act 2006, give a true and fair view of the
‘assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the Company; and

» The Directars' Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the husiness and
the position of the Group and Company, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that it faces.
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Independent auditors’ report to the

—members-of Luxfer Holdings PLC
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Luxfer Holdings PLC's group financlal statemeants and company financlal statemenls (the “financial
statements™):

+ give a true and fair view of the state of lhe group’s and of lhe company's affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of the
group’s profit and the group’s and company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

+ havs baen properly prepared in accordance with International accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of
the Companies Act 20086; and

« have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financdlal Statements (the "Annual Report”),
which comprise: the consoiidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 202(; the consolidated income statement
and consolidated statement of comprehensl\}e income, the consolidated and company cash flow statements, and the
consolidated and company statemants of changes in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial
statements, which inciude a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“iSAs {UK)") and applicable law. Our
respansibilitias under 1SAs (UK} are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We beliave that the audit evidence we have obtained Is sufficient and appropriate to providse a basis for
our opinion,

Independence

We remained independent of the group In accordance with the ethlcal requirements that are relevant to our sudit of the
financial statements in the UK, which Includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed entities, ahd we have
fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in.accordance with these.requirements. . .

Qur audit approach

Overview
Audit scope

s  We performed a full scope audit of three significant reporiing units within the group, and additional procedures over
selected financial statement line items in certain smaller components. We also performed audit procadures over the
corporate entities and relevant consolidation adjustments for selected financial stalement line items. The audit work
performed over these components represented B4% of consolidated revenue and 71% of consolidated profit on
operatlons before taxation adjusted for restructuring and other expense.
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Key audit matters

+  Goodwill impairment assessment (group)
+  Impact of COVID-19 {group and company)

Materiality

+  Overall group materiality: U5$2,000,000 (2019: US$2,145,000) based on §% of three yaar avarage profit on continuing
cperations before taxation, adjusted for restructuring and other expense (2016: 5% of profit on operations before taxation,

adjusted-for-restructuring-and-other-expense):

+  Overall company materiality: £1,318,000 (2019: £1,462,000) based on 1% of total assets restricted to 90% of group
materiality.

« Performance materality: US$4,500,000 {group) and £988,000 {company).

The scope of our audit

As part of dasigning our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements,

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irreqularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedurss in line with
our responsibllities, outlined in tha Audltorg’ responsibilitias for the audit of the financial statements section, to detect material
misstatements In respect of irregularties, including fraud, The extent to which our precedures ara capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud, is detalled below.

Based on our yunderstanding of the group and Industry, we idenfified that the principal risks of non-compliance with taws and
regulations related to local and international tax legislation, health and safety regulations and environmental legislation in the
countries where the group operales, and we considerad the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effact on
the financial stalerents. We also considerad those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the preparation of the
financlal statements such as the Companies Acl 2006, We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for
fraudulent manlpulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of contrals), and determined that the
principal risks wera related to posling Inappropriate journal entrles to manipulata financlal results, inciuding relating to
revenue recognition and EBITA, and management bias in accounting estimates. The group engagement team shared this risk
assessment with the component auditors so that thay could Include appropriate audit procedures in response to such risks in
their wark. Audit procedures performed by tha group engagement team andfor component auditors included:

+ obtaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the group and how the group is complying
with that framework.

» discussions with management, the Audit Committee, General Counsel and internal audit, including consideration of
known or suspecled instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud.

+ reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.

+ challenging assumptions-and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates; including-but

not limited To the goodwill impairment assessment, pensions and deféfred income {axes.

+ reviewing intemnal audit reports.

« Incorporating an element of unpradictability into our audit pracadures.

+ identifying and testihg journal entries, in particular ‘any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations
Impacting financial rasults, ravenue recognition and EBITA.

There are inherant limitations- in the audit procedures described shove. We are less likely to become aware of Instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflectad in the financial
statamants. Also, the. risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud Is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from eror, as fraud may Involve deliberata cancealment by, for example, forgery or Intentlonal misrepresentalions,
or through collusion.

59



Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most signlificance In the audit of the
financial statements of the current period-and include the most signlficant assessed risks of material misstatement (whelher
or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the ovaerall audit strategy; the
ailocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we
make on the results of our procedures theraon, were addressad In the context of our audit of the financlal statements as a
whols, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on thase matters.

This Is not a complete list of all risks [dentified by our audit.

Valuation of retiremant benefits in relation to defined benefit schamaes, inventory costing and restructuring and cther expense,
which were key audit mattars [ast year, are no longer included becausa of the reduction In subjectivity in, and effort required
to audit, these balances. Otherwise, the key audit matters below are consistent with last year.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Goodwill impaiment assessment (group)

Refer to pages 72 and 80 within the accounting policles
and note 14 of the consolidated financlal statemants.

The group has goodwill assets of $58.9m as at 31
December 2020. Goadwill is tested at least annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.

The directors perform their annual goodwill Impairment
test by comparing the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit {"CGU"), to which goodwilli has previousty
bean allocated, to its carrying value, A goodwill
impairment charge will ba recognized for the amount by
which the CGU's carrying armount exceeds its
recoverable amount,

The recoverable amount Is the higher of fair value lass
costs of disposal and value in use. The value in use of
each CGU is determined by the directors using a
discountad cash flow analysis. Projecting discaunted
futura cash flows requires the diractors to make
significant eslimatas including: () future revenue growth
rates including the perpetual growth rate; (i) antic Fated
oparating margins; and i;u?‘ the discount rates applied to
the astimated future cash flows.

We focused on this area as the determination of the
value in.uss involves making judgments and estimates
based on the_directors’ assassment of the future resulis

To assess the goodwill impairment assessment
?arformed by the direclors we have performed the
ollowing:

We understoad and evaluated the controls and
processes related to the goodwill impalrment
assessment and selectively tested those controls we
identified as being key and on which we planned to rely.
Testing of controls included chacking sufficient review of
the key assumpllons and appropriate review of forecast
estimates and judgements. No significant control
deficlencies were Identifled.

We evaluated the historical accuracy of forecasts by
comparing the actual results from previous years against
the directors’ previous forecasts. These procedures
enabled us to determine the accuracy of the directors’
forecasting process, When comparing the prior year
foracasts to the actual petformancae in 2020, we
considered why some forecasts were not mat, including
the impaci of COVID-19, and factored this into other
areas of our work,

We evaluated the assumptlons underlying the estimated
future cash flows included in the discounted cash flow
analysis. We compared fulure revanue growth rates and
oparating margins with historical perfarmance as well as
gaining an understanding of key factors and judgements.
applied In detarmini‘r;{? the future growth rales and
operating marglns, We inspected detalled forecasts far
each CGU and obtalned avidence to support the key
drivers for growth incfuded within the estimated future
cash flows.

We angaged our internal specialists to assist us In
evaluating the perpetual growth rate used to determine
each CGU's terminal value. We compared ihe rates

and prospects of the CGUs. This in turnresuled in a
high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity and affort in
performing procedures to evaluate the directors'
discounted future cash flow analysls.

usad to the waighted average of (e Iong-term inflation |
forecasts in the main geographies in which each CGU
operates,

Our internal specialists also asslsted us In assessing the
appropriateness of the directors’ discount rates by
comparing tha rate used for each CGU to aur own
Independently determined range of what we would
conslder to be acceptable.

Wa questioned the directors on the appropriateness of
their sensitivity calculalions and also applied our own
sansitivity analysis to the discounted cash flow analysls
to ascertain the axtent to which reasonable adverse
changes would, elther individually, or in aggregate,
require the impalrment of goodwill,

Based on the pracedures performed and the evidence
obtained, we found the directors' goodwill impairment
assessment to be reasonable.
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impact of COVID-19 (group and parent)

Refer 1o page 80 within the accounting policies.and note | in response to the key areas Identifled as being

22 of the consolidaled financial statemenis. significantly impacted by Covid-19, we have performed
the following:

The Covid-19 pandamic has had a materlal Impacton | Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the

the peiformance of the group during the financial year. g:oup‘s and the company’s ability to continue to adopt
As a result, the pandemic has brought increasad e going concern basis of accounting Included the-
estimation uncertalnty to certaln areas of the financial pracedures detailed in the ‘Conclusions relating to going
slatements, concern’ section further below,

The key areas of the financlal statements most impacted |Qur avaluation of the diractors' assessment of the
by the increased estimation uncertainty are described  [impairment of goodwill included the pracedures detslied

balow: In-the-Geedwlll-impairment-assessment-key-audit
matter In the saction ahave.

1. Tha directors have considered the appropriateness of |Finally, we assessed whather the nature and extent of
tha going concern basis of preparation in the group's the disclosure made by the directors was sufficlently
financial statements and concluded that this is complete to articulate tha impact of the pandemiic on the
appropriate. The group has.a $350m revolving cradit group, supported by the information available to date.
facllity, expiring In July 2022, and s required to remain in
compliance with covenants altached to this facifity.

2. The ﬁlrou‘ has goodwill of $58.9m as at 31 Decamber |Based on the procadures performed, we concluded that
The

2020. rectors considered the Impact of Covid-19  |the Impact of Covid-19 has been appropriately evaiuated
on the goodwill impalrment assessment, as well as and refiacted in the preparation of the financial
reasonab!fy pessible changes in key assumptions, statements. .

including future growth rates and the discount rates. No

impairments were identified in the year ended 31
December 2020 and this assessment was nat found to
be sensitive to reasonably possible changes in key
assumplions.

How we tailored the audlt scope

We tallored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements. as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the company, the accounting processes and
controls, and the industry in which they operate.

The group s split into two main reporing divislons being Gas Cylinders and Elektron. These are further split into four
business units as Luxfer Gas Cylinders, Luxfer MEL Technologles, Luxfer Graphic Arts and Luxfer Magtech. The Luxfer
Superform business unit, now presented within discontinued operations, was previously aggregated into the Gas Cylinders
reporting division.

Each business unit has multiple managemsnt reporting units In a range of different geographles and Is structured mainly
across Europe and North America. The financial staterents are a consalidation of a number of the group’s managemant
reporting units and its the centralized functions.

The management reporling units vary in size and we identified threae reporting units from across two countries which required
an audit of their full financial information due to thelr individual size ar risk characteristics, Additionally, we identified eight
reporting units from across two countries which required an audit of specific balances to be performed. In {otal;-these 11

reporling unils accounted for 84% of cansolidated revénus and 7 1% of the consolifated profil on aperations betare taxation,
adjusted for restructuring and other expense,

Two component audit teams perfarmed the required audit and spacifiad pracedures over eight of the. 11 raporting units, with
the procedures aver the remaining three performed by the group engagement team, The group engagement team attended
the audit clearance meetings via conference call and had regular communication with the local teams during thelr audits. Qur
attendance at the clearance meelings, review of selected audit working papers, review and discussion of reporting received
from local component teams, together with the work performed at a group level, gave us the evidence we needed for our
opinion on the consalidated financial statements as a whole.
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Materilality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thrasholds for materiality.
These, togethar with qualitative considerations, helped us 1o determine. the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and
extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line ifems and disclosures and In evaluating the effect of
misstatements, both individually and In aggregate on the financial statements -as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for tha financial statements as a whole as follows:

Financlal statements - group Flnanclal statements -
company
Ovarall US$2,000,000 (2019: US$2,145,000). '£1,318,000 {2019: £1,462,000).
malerialily
How we 5% of three year average prafil on continuing operations bafore | 1% of total assels restricted to

determined it |taxation, adjusted for restructuring and other expense {;?'?1 9: 5% | 90% of group materlality
of profit on operations before taxation, adjusted for restiucturing
and other expanse)

Ratlonale for |Based on the benchmarks used In the Annual Report, profit on | Tota! assels is appropriate as the
banchmark oontinulnﬂ aperations before taxation is the primary measure entily is not profil oriented. The

applied used by tha shareholders In assessing the performance of the | company holds investments in
group, and is a generally accepted auditing benchmark, subsidiaries and therefore lotal
Restructuring and other expense were adjusted for as this assets Is considered a generally

provides us with a cansistent year on year basls for determining | acceptable auditing benchmark..
materlalily. Glven that current yaar performance has baen
significantly impacted by'Coerd 9, we conslder using an
average of three years average henchmark better reflacts what
a reader-of the financial statements would consider malerial.

For each component in the scope of cur group audit, we allocated a materiality that Is fess than our overall group materiality.
The range .of materiality ellocated across components was from $266,000 1o $1,634,000. Certain éomponents were audited
to 8 local statutory audit materiality that was also less than our overall group maleriality.

We use performance malteriality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds overall maleriality. Spacifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope
of our audit and the nalure and exienl of our testing of account bhalances, classes of transaclions and disclosures, for
example In determining sample slzes. Our performance materialily was 75% of overall materiality, amounting to
US$1,500,000 for the group financial statements and £388,000 for the company financial statements.

In determining the performance materialily, we considered a number of factors - tha history of misstatements, risk
assessment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount in the middie of our
normal range was appropriata,

We agreed with those charged with gavernance that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audil above
$200,000 (group audit) (2019: $110,000) and £131,000 {company audit) (2019: £75,000) as well as misstatements below
those amounts that, In our view, warranted reporting for qualilative reasans.
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Conclusions relating to going concern
Our gvaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and the company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting included:

+ oblaining the directors' forecasts and going concern assessment for the period to June 2022, which included the expected
continuing impact of Covid-19.

+ evaluating and assessing the process by which the directors’ future cash fiow forecasts were prepared.

+ agreeing the opening gross debt and cash position of the diractors’ cash flow forecasts to the March 2021 management
accounts.

+ reviewlng the arithmetical accuracy of the direclors’ forecasts.

« evaluating and assessing the direclors' key assumptions in the going concern assessment, including the forecast
revenues and anticlipated aperating margins over the period to June 2022, which Included a senslivity analysis of the key
assumptions underplnning the cash flows throughout the going cancefn period.

+ obtalning tha terms of the group's financing facllity and the covenants in place In refation to this faciiity, and determining
that the directors' base case and severe bul plausible downslde scenarios demonstrated compliance with all covenant
conditions for at least 12 months from the date of the approval of the financial statements.

s gaining an understanding of the potential mifigating actions that the directors could Impiement to meet the requirements of
the covenants,

« reviewing the directars’ disclosures In the financlal statements.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not ideniified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and the company's ability to continue as a going concern
for a period of at least twelve manths from whan the financial statements ara authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial staternents, we have.concluded that the directors’ use of the golng concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financla! statements is appropriate.

Howsaver, because not all fulure events or conditions can be predicted, this concluslon is not a gusrantee as to the group’s’
H and the company's abllity to continue as a going concern.

Qur responsibilities and the respaonsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other Information comprises all of the Information In the Annuai Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ repor thereon. The directers are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statemants does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
axplicitly stated in this report, any formn of assurdnce thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in daing so,
cansider whether the other information Is matarialty inconslstent with the financlal statements ‘or our knowledge obtalned in

the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there 1s a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement .of the other information. I, based on the work we have perfarmed, we conclude that
there is a matarial misstatement of this other infermation, we are required o report that fact. We have nothing to report based
on these responsibilities,

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the. UK
Companies Act 2008 hava been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requlres us also to report certain opinions
and matters as describad balow,
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Strategic report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Stralegic report and
Directors' Report for the year ended 31 December 2020 is consistant with tha financlal statements and has been prepared In
accordance with applicable legal requlremants.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained In the course of the
audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors’ Report,

Directors’ Remuneration
In-our-opinion; the"part-of the-Directors-Remuneration-Report-to-be-audited-has-been-properly-prepared-in-accordance-with
the Companies Act 2006.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in Respect of the Financlal Statements, the directors
are responsible for the preparation of the financlal statements in accordance with the applicable. framework and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determing is
necessaty to enable the preparation of financlal statements that are free from materia! misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, the direclors are responsible for assessing the group's and the company’s abllity to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors elther intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease operatlons, or have no
realistic-alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financlal statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report thal includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance
is a high leve! of assurance, bul is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs {UK) will always detect a
malerial misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise fram fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statemaents,

Our audit testing might Include testing complete populations of cerlain transactions and balances, possibly using data
auditing techniques. However, It typically Involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than {esting complgte
populations. We wili often seek to target particular items for testing based on thelr size or risk characterisiics. In other cases,
we wiil use audit sampling to enable us-to draw a conclusion about tha poputation from which the sampla is selacted.

A further description of our responsibliities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of cur auditors' report.

Use of this report

This report, Including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body In accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibllily for any other purpose or 1o any other person to whom this report is shown or Into whose hands it may
come save where exprassly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are raquired to report to you if; in our opinion:

+  we.have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
+ -adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
recelvaed from branches not visited by us; or

« certain disclosures of directors’ rémuneration specified by law ara not made; or
+  the company financial statements and the pari of tha Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreemant
with the accounting records and retumns. ’

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Gregoty Briggs (Senlor Statutory Auditar)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhiouseCcopers LLP
Charlered Accountants ahd Statutary Auditors
Manchester

April 29, 2021
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LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC

LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
All amounts in millions, except share and per share data

2020 2019
Note M M
lREVENUE N I T L P A T, G i) o b o) 324,80, 0 .~'4,E'5373:4j
Cost of sales {237.3) (2614}
[Gross Profit < = & . gy feir robar o o s e s DT Uy G G B et AP e T s BT T 112.0]
Distribution costs (8.5) (7.6)

[AAMINISUAIVE OXDERSES g & v fer e o tong A T2 B e o Tr et el P (49 Bl e T {EE B

Share of results of joint ventures and assoclates 15 (0.1} 07
[Changes to defined.benefit pension'plans & >. i 2.7

; 3 ‘{F“ N SN AR AT o TSR

Restrucluring and other expense 8 {7.3) {29.6)

[OPERATING PROFIT™ . o7t = 3% o - 7= v o oo COLL T oiiil 47 g % 034,01y i 34227 |

Other (expensae) / incomea:

"Net loss on acquisitions and disposals: !

Finance income:

Lo_ainterest racelvad et & RIS
Finance costs:

[g=sInterest Cosle T ae® s, . 40 " 8" TS s

1AS 19R retirement banefits finance charge
7 2Unwind of discount on deferred contingent consideration from acquisitions,’ -~ 8757, 28

Total finance costs {7.0) (7.2)
PROFIT,ON OPERATIONS BEFORE TAXATION, :00% T E LT e 8 =yt 0 SR 14,21
Income tax expense 10 {6.2) (8.2)

RN f oz dte e s e U4 T By TS 8.0
Net loss from discontinusd cperations 1 (0.9) {1.8)
[FETINCOMEEOR THEVEAR, 7 ot oo o o e o ettt et B Y Gy 716.9. Sl X w421
Attributable to:

[Equity’shareholders; ™ = i" 2 3ioe wr. .

[Earnings por.share iy " e . ufs o¥mss
Basic from conlinuing operations

[Basic from discontinued operations i "2, * i - >R e DO FAN
Basic 0.61 0.15
PR gt T gy S e Y v Y T RN A T TV am sy L L
. _Diluted fram contlnumg operations 0.64 0,22

iDHulad drom discontinued.operations te—t vew
Diluted
i_.-- ’."-_;",JLL“;“-"‘:. AR ; e ,‘:..';' o v ﬁmxﬁu‘: < E‘-}Ip -~ ;-( ) '1"‘-!\‘:'3&'.'-- ¥ e RS |

{Walghted average ordinary shares outstanding:..y 5% ~.% ~ "™ a5 » ‘ . "
Baslc 27, 557 219 27,289,042

X U ety K L e _4-27,971,382L_“f; ‘27,882.864']

b+

(" The calculation of earnings per share is performed separately for continuing and discontinued operations. As a
result, the sum of the two in any particular period may not equai the earnings-patr-share amount in total.

In 2020, the basic average shares outstanding and diluted average shares outstanding were the same for
disconiinued operations because the effect of potential shares of comman stock was anti-diiutive since the
Company generated a net loss from discontinued operations. As a result, 593,822 shares comhined were not
included in the computation of diluted EPS for discontinued operations in 2020.
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LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC

LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2020 2018
Note M ™
[Netincome Tor the year T188 42|
Other comprehensive (loss) / Income movements
(Itams that may be reclassified to the consolidated income statement: i
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operanons 2.9 {0.6)
|Falr value movements in cash flow hedges j - 03T
Transfers lo consolidated Income statement on cash flow hedges _ 0.1
[Deferred income taxes on cash flow hedges ~ (0.13
Hedge accounting Income adjustmants — 0.3
{Total hadge accounting and transfation of foreign operations movements 2.9 (U.Sﬂ
Items that wlll not be reclassifiad to the consolidated Income statement:

{Remeasuremant of defined benefit retirement plans . 31 {19.0) _(2.3)
Defarred income tsxes on retirement benafits remeasurements 24 3.7 0.6
[Retirement banefits changes - (15.3)" (1.7}
Total other comprehensive loss movements for the year {12.4) {2.0)
jTotal comprehensive Income for the year . 4.5 2.2J

Attributed to;
IEqulty shareholders 4.5 22|
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LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC

LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31,2020 Dacember 31, 201%

M $M
TR R R CAE SR RN

Non-current agsets

r‘"-"-"-""""_ Toparty plantand oqu;pm,.. mw. = ;m'u'nmag..w-*. ‘xwﬂ‘_r;mmmm—‘rﬂ 5 {f‘w‘ﬂ{m‘?{'{" 6.2

Eppm——— .u-... i ——

Right-of-use assets 14.5
WWM%M@T my_‘,@&% ‘7:]29
Invaestmants

[Defeired income tex assets 1 5, MWWW
186.8 204.4
{Current assets T e R A SR B e

Inventorles
[Trade and ciher mmnwbmmm 663
Income tax recelvable 1.2
[Cash'and cash equivalanis'} e A0.3
Heid for-sala assels 3.9
¥ £ _ ; DT RN A BRI SR 51 A DT Y maa 1 76.2 |
TOTAL ASSETS 337.9 380.8
v pey v . e T . z: e == =
(EQUITY.AND LIABILTIESE ¥ e - R T O T T L LTS

Capltal and reserves
!Mnarysharocapjlal‘» ! el ! : & :
Deferred share capitel 20 1499 149£

. [Share premiom account ﬂ‘ﬂm i A L P e R 77.

‘ Treasury shares 20 {4.0) (4.0

: Reatalned esrnings ¢ X% & e Ons P el LN R TA SR P 30813
Own shares held by ESOP 20 (1.4 .7
[Share based compensation raserve: -+ AT TS I TG SA LT TEATT RN OMRAey) T YT T Ee)
Translalion reserve {40.9} (51.8)
|Marger resarve - L ' .. (333.8) : {333.8)

INon-current liabilitles
Bank and othar loans
Retiremant benefis ¥
Leaao Habillty

Deferved iNcome X IabINies P FIaT 11/ S50 o WMQ&@"E '2:""% \"2 8 _s. ;
Provislons 09
1708 a3 e avabias Y Hes s o ﬁmmmﬁmwm (X275 T
115.4 140.4
[Carrant idbiries WRR S A S S REN
Trade and other payables i 41.7 63.7

{Current income tax iabiliies W

|L8B38 fabity - It 2 o

Provislons

{Heldfor-sale Nabiities 13 iz o tedeos G f Wi‘iﬂ oi‘@.‘@lm
67.2 78.3

rotamabmues oA IR R L s P IO 1826 B R s 2187

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3378 3806 °

THE FINANC?AL STATEMENTS ON PAGES 64 TO 113 WERE APPROVED BY THE BOARD ON APRHU. 29, 2021 AND SIGNED ON ITS

Alok Maskara,
April 29, 2021

Company Reglstratlon no, 03690830
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e LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC : .
) - CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT ’ '
The amounts betow include both contmumg and discontinued operatlcns

IECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES '3
Nat Incoma far the year

-

[Curtallment &nd past sarvica (cradits) | charges on retirement baneflis obligations w}@"" fm&“{mﬂm& 5 "ﬁm
IAS 19R retirament benaﬂts ﬂnance charge 1 0 14

[Share of rasults of joint ventures and assoclales g 4
Changes in operating assats and llabllilias:

- Decrease In Invenloﬁes . 137 c.3
. Movement in retirement bansﬁls ohligauons - : (5 2) . (5 9)
i 8 ¢t [Movemeniin provisions 14 SRS WS

" Income taxes pald ' - ) (2 1) (6 1)
i ’.-ﬁ'sz'!ﬁse o FarmRired0.2|

|Purchases of property, plant and equipment ¥
Purchases of intangible assets
fPiocaeds from sais of BUSINess

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (TQ‘ - (8. 9)
T e I T Aeri49.8 Vv 5|

Intarast ahd skmiiar fmance costs Pald ON DANKING FACIILIES [EEp CArat ks il s gt 145 T bk s sl Y er s (1.3)-

Lyl

interest pald on L.oan Notes — ‘4.91 —(34)

Nat {repayment) / drawdown on banklng !‘adl[ﬂas : (38.2) 17.5
T T S (3.1 oo 1)
. Dividends pald 2 (13.6) (13 6)
[Froceeds fram iastie of shares Rty o2 bR Yo r aaeird P 2 2 i o

Net cash and cash equivalents at Docemnr 31 . 19 . 1.5 10.3
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LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC

LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity attributable ta the equlty shareholders of the parent

oﬁ'{'r'-” D::\.:;:d pfaart.;lru.m Treasury  Retalned .lr::irc‘l " anw ? Total
capltal capital actount sheras asmings by ESOP oquity
Note M M M $M M $M $M s $M
———————F - At Atdmnuary 172018 — T 268 1499 —— 65.7 -~ —— (43}~ ~ 3702~ -~ (2.2} e (306D dOQTS |
Nel Income for the year $ — & — 8 — 4 — & 42 % — $ — % 42
[Currency translation differances $ — 8§ — $ — § — 8§ — % — § (8 $ (8]
Increase In falr valua of cash flow hedgas 51 — % — % — % —-—8% —-8% - % 03 & a3 !
[Transler 1o consolldated (ncome slatement on cash flow A B - ~ j
hadgey - $ — 5 — 3 — 35 —$ -3 — $ 061 % 04
R | of definad banafil etirament plans $ — § — $ — § — % (23) % — $ — § A%
Dealamed income laxes on Hams laken to other s L -
comprahensive Incoma - 24 3 — — $ — % — % 06 3 — 0.9 % 05 ]
Tolal comprehensive Income for the year —_ —_ —_ —_ 25 — {0.3) 2.2
[Shares scid from ESOP $ — $ —$ 33 8 —~ $ —§ 028§ — 8§ 25|
Equity dividends 21§ — § - $§ — % — % (135) % — $§ — $ (138)
|Equity setifed share based compensation charges s — 3 — $ — & — § — 3% ~— 8 41 % 41|
Utilization of ireasury shares 20 % — § - 8% — 8% 03 % — § — % 1}y s 02
{umzation of sheras from ESOP 20 § — 5§ — § 553 — § — $ 03 8§ (0003 (3]
Othar changes In squity in the year —_ — 8.8 0.3 {13.8) 0.5 {6.0} {10.0}
[ AtDscember 31, 2018 268 1488 74,5 40 _ 3094 (17 _ (3925 __161.9°]
Net Income for the year s — § —§ — 5 — % %6835 —~ 5 -— § 168
[Gurrancy Iranslation diffajancas $ — § — $ — 3 — $ — § — $ 29 § 59—]
Remeasurement of defined benefit relirament plans ] P ) - § - § - & (19.0) § - § — $ (19.0)
Oefarred Income 1axes on K8M3 tokan o olner
comprehenalve Income 24 % — § - § - $ — % 37 § — % — 3 ;7—1
Total comprehansive incama for the year —_ — -_— -— 1.8 - 2.9 4.5
|Shares sod from ESOP S - $ — § 08 § — 3 - $ 03 § — % 1.1_J
Equity dividends 21 $ — 8 — § -8 — § (138§ — § — § (138
[gquiiy seliled shere based compensation charges $ — § — 3 — 3 — $ — $ — $ 28 % 2@
Utiizatlon of treasury shares 20 $ — S — % 01 %8 - 8% — 8§ — 5 {02 %5 (04)
|ubizatlon of aheres fram ESOP 17 § — § — § 17 % — % — $' — $ {30 $ (1.3)]
Othar chaenges in equitly [n tha yagr — — 2.8 —_ {13.8) 0.3 [0.4) {11.1)
[ At Dacember 31, 2020 268 __ 1498 774 {40} 2074 (1.4) (3900 1583 |

(1}  Otherresarves include a hadging reserva of nll {2019; nll), a transtation reserve of $48.9 million deficit {2019: defict of $51.8 milllon), a merger
reserva of $333.8 million deficlt {2019: $333.8 miliion daficii) and & share based compensation reserve of $7.3 million deficll (2019: $6.9 miltlon
deficit).
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LUXFER HOLDINGS PL.C

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
All amounts In millions, except share and per share data

1. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation and statement of compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial stalements have been prepared in accordance with international accounting
—_standards_in_conformity with_the_requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as they apply to the consolidated

financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2020. The consolidated financial statements
have been preparad on a historical cost basis, except where IFRS requires or permits fair value measurement.

The directors have a reasonable expeciation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for tha foreseeable future. In assessing the appropriateness of adopting the going concetn basis in the
preparation of these financial statements, cash forecasts and projections have been prepared to June 2022.
There Is sufficient headroam In our cavenant compliance which would enable the Group to drawdown on the
RCF and not impact the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore the directors continue to apply
the goeing concern basis for accounting In the preparation of tha cansolidated financiai statements.

For the purpose of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, subsequent events have been
evaluated through to April 29, 2021, which is the date the consolidated financial statements were autherized by
the Board. The consolidated financial statements were issued on April 29, 2021,

Baslis of consolidation

The consoiidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Luxfer Hoidings PLC and its
subsidiaries (the "Group") at Decomber 31 each year, The financial statements of the subsidlaries are prepared
for the same reporting year as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. All inter-company
balances and transactions, including unrealized profits arising from Intra-Group transaclions, have been
eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.

The accounting policies which follow, set out those polices which apply in preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the years endad December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2020.

Parent Company Guarantee

In accordance with S479A of the Companies Act 2006, Luxfer Holdings PLC has provided a parent company
guararitee for the below listed subsidiaries, meaning that for the year endad December 31, 2020, they are
exempt from audit.

Name of Company , Company reglstered number
——|Biggleswick Limlted™ — ~ - - - - = ~<:= - ~. - -oa-- eo-e—s ~~3340880.- i
Lumina Trustee Limited 6055812
{Luxfer Gas-Cylinders China Holdings Limited 5165622 |
Luxfer Group Limited 3944037
[Luxfer Group 2000 Limited 4027006 |
Luxfer Group Services Limited 3981385
|Luxfer Magtach International Limited 2891444 1
Luxfer Overseas Holdings Limited 3081726
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FPresentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
$0.1 million except when otherwise indicated. The books of the Group's non-U.S, entities are converted to U.S.
dollars at each reporting period date in accordance with the accounting pollcy below.

The functional currency of the holding company Luxfer Holdings PLC and its U K. subsidiariss remains GBP
sterling for the year-anded 2020. As of January 1, 2021, the functional currency of Luxfer Holdings PLC will be
USD given a raview of the intercompany financing and the primary operations of the company.

Business-combinations-and-goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any
non-confrolling interest in the acquiree, The choice of measurement of non-controfling interest, either at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets, is determinad on a transaction by
transaction basis. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of the
consideration transferred and the amount recognized for the non-controlling interest over the net identifiable
amounts of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed in exchange for the business combination, After initial
recognition, goodwill Is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in -a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to the
Group's cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination. Goodwill is tested at leaset
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset is
impaired.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous
U.K. GAAP amounts subject to being tested for impairment at that date and in subsequent years.

A bargain purchase is measured at cost being the excess of the net identifiable amounts of the assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed in exchange for the business combination over the aggregate of the acquisition-date
fair value of the consideration transferred and the amount recognized for the non-controlling interest. Any
amount of a bargain purchase is recognized immediately as income.

Contingent consideration arising as a result of a business combination is recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability are accounted for In accordance with the relevant IFRS standards.

Gther intangible assets

Gther intangible assets excluding development costs, are measured initially at purchase cost, or where acquired
in a business combination at fair value, and are amortized on a stralght-line basls over their estimated useful
lives as shown in the table below.

Research expenditure Is expensed as incurred. Internal development expenditure Is charged as administrative
costs_to_the.consolidated.income_statement_in_the year_it is_incurred unless It meets the_recognition criteria of

IAS 38 "Intangible Assets". Where the recognition criteria are met, intangible assets are capitalized and
amortized over their estimated useful economic lives from product launch, as shown in the table below.
Intangible assets relating to products in development are subject to impairment testing at each balance sheet
date or earlier upon indication of impairment,

[ Technalogy and patents s " 14— 20 years)
Tradenames and trademarks 20 — 25 yaars
|Customer relationships ) i ' : 40 — 15 years]
Backlogs and non-compete agresments 5 -6 years
[@velopment costs ] . : - 510 years]
Soflware 4 -7 years

The carrying values are reviewed for impairment when events or changes In circumstances Indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. Reviews are made annually of the estimated remaining lives and residual
values of the patents and trademarks.
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Revenue

A performance obfigation is a promise in a contract fo transfer a distinct good or senvice to the customer. The
majority of the Group's contracts have a single performance obligation as the promise to transfer the individual
goods or services Is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contracts and, therefore, not distinct,
There is no varlable consideration or obligations for returns, refuiids, and no other related cbligations In the
Group's contracts.

Payment terms and conditians vary by contract type and may include a requirement of payment in advance. In
instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, the Company has

determined its contracts do nat include a significant financing component,

The Company's revenue is primarily derlved fram the following sources and Is recognized when or as the
Company satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a good or service to a customer.

Praduct revenues

We recognize revenue when it is realized or realizable and has been earned. Revenue is recogiized when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, shipment or delivery has occurred {depending on the terms of the
sale), which is when the transfer of produét or control occurs, our price to the buyer is fixed or determinable, and
the ability to collect is reasonably assured.,

Royalties

Royalty revenue.is recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements,
provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow te the Group arnd the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably.

Tooling revenue.

Ravenua from certain long-term tooling contracts is recognized over the contractual perlod under the cost-tg-cast
measure of pragress as this is when the benefit is received by the customer. Incremental direct costs associated
with the contract include, direct labor hours, direct raw material costs and other associated costs. Under this
method, sales and gross profit are recagnized as work is performed either based on the relationship between the
actual costs Incurred and the total estimated costs at completion (*the cost-to-cost method®) or based on efforts
for measuring pragress towards completion in situations in which this approach is more represenlative of the
progress on the contract than the cost-to-cost method. We record costs and sarnings In excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts within Trade and other receivables and billings in excess of costs and earnings on
uncompleted contracts within Trade and other paysbles in the consolidated balance sheel. Where customer
acceplance is on final completion and handover of the tool, revenue is recognized at the point the customer
accepis ownership of the tool. All tooling revenue relates to discontinued operations resulling in all related
activity included in discontinued operations and associated balances Included in assets and liabilities held-for-
sale,

Practical Expediants

The Company applies the practical expedient and does not disclose information about remaining performance
obligations for conlracts that have original expected durations of one year or less.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment Is stated at cost less accumulated depreclation and any Impalrment In value.
Depreciation is Initially calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the particular asset. As
a result of the complexity of our manufacturing process, there Is a wide range of plant and equipment in
operation. The rate of annual charge is summarized as follows:

[Freehold buildings . _ _ 3% - 10%|
l.easshold land and buildings The lesser of lifs of
lease or freehold rate
JPlant and equipment ) _ R B 4% — 30%]
Including:
[Heavy production equipment (including casting, roliing, extrusion and press equipment) - 4%~ 6%)]
Chemical productlon plant and robotics 10% — 15%
[Oth_e!' production machinery ) 10% — 20%]

Furniture, fittings, storage and equipment 10% — 30%
Freehold land is not depreciated.

Reviews are made annually of the estimated remaining lives and residual values of individual productive assets,
taking accourtt of commercial and technological obsolescance as well as normal wear and tear.

For any Individua) asset the carrying vaiue is reviewed for impairment when events or changes In circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying value
exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the asset [s written-down to its recoverable amount. The
recaverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and
the value in use. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific 1o the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. impairment losses are recognized
in the consolidated income statement as part of the profit or loss on operations before taxafion.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset, Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference beiween the net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the item) is included in
the consolidated income statement in the year the item is derecognized.

Maintenance costs in relation to an item of property, plant and equlpment are expensed as incurred,
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Raw materials are valued on a first-in, first-
out basis. Strategic purchases of inventories in order lo secure supply and reduce the impact of price volatility on
the cost of inventories are valued on an average cost basis. Work in progress and finished goods costs comprise
direct materials_and, where applicable, direct labor costs, an apportionment of production overheads and any

other costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their prasent location and condition. Nel
realizable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimatad costs of completion and cosls to be
incurred in selling and distribution. Inventories are reviewed on a regular basis, and we will make allowance for
excess or obsolete Inventorles and write-down to net realizable value based primarily on committed sales prices
and our estimates of expected and future product demand and related pricing.

Held-for-sale assets / liabliitles

In accordance with IFRS 5, assets and liabilities held-for-sale are written down to their fair value leés costs to sell
and classified as held-for-sale on the face of the balance sheet. Impairments recognized on the assets and
liabilittes will be taken to the income statement and presented within restructuring and other expense.

If an asset or liability Is no longer available for sale, then they will be reclassified within their relevant asset or
liability financial statement line and held at amortized cost.

Discontinued operations

In accordance with IFRS 5, certain amounts In prior-year income statement were reclassified to conform to the
current-year presentation due ta the classification of certain businesses as discontinued operations.
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Forelgn currencies

Transactions in currencies othar than an operation's functional currency are Initially recorded in the functional
currency at the rate of exchange prevailing on the dates of transactions. At each balance sheet date, the foreign
currency monetary assets and Habllities are translated into the functional currency at the rates prevalling on the
balance sheet date.

All differences are taken to the consclidated income statement with the exception of differences on foreign
currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net Investment in a foreign entity. These are taken directly to
equily until the disposal of the net investment, at which fime they are recognized In the consolidated income

———————statementTax-charges-and-credits-attributable-te-exchange-differences-on-these-borrowings-are-aiso-dealt-with.
in equity.

On consolidation, the assels and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated at exchange rates
prevailing on the balance sheet dale. \ncome and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the perlod. Exchange differences that arise, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group's
translation reserve. Such transfation differences are recognized in the consolidated income sfatement in the
period in which the operation Is disposed or partially disposed.

income taxes
Current Income faxes

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be
recoverad from or pald to the taxatlon authorities, The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are
those that are enacted, or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operales
and generales taxable.income.

Current income taxes relating to items recognized directly in equily Is recognized in equity and not in the
consolidated income statement. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicabie tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions
where appropriate.

Deferred incoime faxes

Deferred Income taxes are the future income taxes expected to be payable or recoverabls on differences
between the carrying values of asseis and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases usaed in the computation of taxable profit, and are accounted for using the balance
sheet liability method. Deferred income tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognized if the temporary difference arises from goadwill or from the Inltial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on investrmnants in
subsidiarles, invesiments.ln.associates,.and interests.in joint ventures,.except where_the_Group.is_able_to_control
the reversal of the temparary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future,

[

The camying vaiue of a deferred Income. tax asset Is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part ¢f the asset to
be recovered.

Defarred income taxés are caiculated at the tax rate that is expected to apply in the period whan the liability is
settled or the asset is realized based on tax rates and tax taws that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date. Deferred income taxes are charged or credited to the consalidated income statement,
except when it relafes to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred income taxes
are also dealt with in equity.
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Leases

The Group leases various buildings, equipment and vehicles. Rental contracts are {yplcally made for fixed
periods of 12 months to 10 years, but may have extension options. Contracts may contain both lease and non-
lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease
components based on their relative stand-alone prices. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contaln a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreaments do not impose any covenants
other than the securily interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assels may not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets-and-liabilities-arising from-a-lease-are-initially-mieasured-en-a-present-value-basis~-ease-liabilities-include
the net present value of the following lease payments:
+ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

» variahle lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measgred using the index or rate as
at the commencement date

« amounts expacted to be payable by Whe group under residual value guarantees

+ the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

+ payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension oplions are also included in the measurement
of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee's incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the individua! lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security
and conditions.

" The group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which
are not included in the lease liabiiity untll thay take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an
index or rate take effect, the lease lability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. Lease
payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
+ the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
»  any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
= any initial direct costs, and
« restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certaln to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life. Payments assoclated with short-term leases of equipment
and vehicles and all leases of low-vaiue assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as-an expense in profit or

ioss. Shori-lerm leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or 1853, Low-valug assets comprige~fT— =~~~

equipment and small items of office furniture.
Retirement benefits costs

In respect of defined benefit plans, obligations are measured at the present value whilst plan assets are
recorded at fair value. The cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, with
actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date.

The charge to the consolidated income statement is based on an actuarial calculation of the Group's portion of
the annual expected costs of the benefit plans and the net interest cost, which is calculated by applying the
discount rate to the net defined benefit obligation, taking into account contributions and benefits paid. Re-
measurements are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

When g settlement or curtailment occurs tha obligation and related plan asseis are remeasured using current
actuarial assumplions and the resultant gain or loss recognized in the consolidated income statement In the
period in which the settlement or curtailment occurs.

Payments to defined contribution plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.
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Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it Is probable that'
a transfer of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation,

Share based compensation

The cost of equity sellled transactions is recognized, based upon the fair value at grant date, together with a
corresponding increase in the share based compensation reserve in equity, over the period in which the
performance or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognized for equity settled

transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equily instruments that will ultimately vest. The
consolidated income stalement expenses or credit for a period represents the moverment in cumulative expense
recognized at the beginning and end of that period.

Separate disclosure of expenses ar income

Certaln items of expense or income are presented separately with restructuring and other expenses, on the face
of the income statement, basad on management's judgment that they need to be disclosed by virtue of their
size, nature or incidence in order to provide a proper understanding of our results of operations and financial
condition. Such items of expense or income incurred during a period are disclosed under identifiable headings in
the consolidated income statement and further explained in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.
Examples of such items include but are not limited to:

« Restructuring of the activities of the Group and reversals of any provisions for the costs of restructuring;

+  write-downs of invenicries 1o net realizable valua or of property, plant and equipment to recoverable
amount, as well as reversals of such write-downs,

+ disposals of items of property, plant and equipment;
» disposals of investments and subsidiaries;

+ discontinued operations;

«  itigation settlements; and

= other material reversals of provisions.

The nature of the itemns of expense or Income 1s considered to determine whether the item should be presented
as part of operating profit or ioss or as other expenses or income. The adjusted earmnings per share calculations,
presented by the Group exclude the impact of these items. Management believes that the use of adjusted
medsuras such as this provides additional useful information on underlying trends to shareholders.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with
an-original-maturity-date-of- three-months-or-less—For-thae purpose-of-the-consolidated-cash-flow-statement;-cash
and cash equivaients consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, but net of bank ovardrafts.

Interest in joint ventures

The Group has applied IFRS 11 to all joint arrangements. Under IFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements are
classified as slther joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and obligations of each
investor. The Group has assessed the nature of Its joint arrangements and determined them 1o be joint ventures.
Joint ventures are accounied for using the equity methed of accounting. Under the equlty methad of accounting,
interests in joint ventures are initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group's share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements In other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of iosses In a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form pan of the Group's net Investment In the joint ventures),
the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joInt ventures.
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The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any abjective evidénce that the Investment in the
joint venture |s impaired. If the investment is impalred, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the joint venture and its carrying value and recognizes the amount
as 'restructuring and other expense’ in the consolidated income statement.

Gains or lossas resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its joint venture
are recognized in the Group's consoiidated financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's
interests in the joint venture. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Interest in assoclates

Associates are all entiies over which the Group has significant influsnce but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of belween 20% and 50% of the voling rights. Investments In associales are
accounted for using the eqully method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the investmant is
initially recognized at cost, and the carrying value is increased or decreased to recognize the investor's share of
the profit or loss and movements in other comprehensive income of the Investee after the date of acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an assoclate is reduced but significant influence Is retained, only a proportionale
share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognized in the consolidated incorne statement, and its
share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive
income with & corresponding adjustment to the carrying value of the investment. When the Group's share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including other unsecured raceivables, the
Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the assoclate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the invastment in the
assoctate Is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the assoclate and its carrying value and recognizes the amount as
'restructuring and other expense' in the consolidated income statement.

Gains or losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognized in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's interests in
the associates. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution galns and losses arising In Investments In associates are recognized In the consolidated Income
staternent.

Financial assets and liabilities

-~ - ——Hedge-effectiveness-is-determined-at-the inceptien-of-the-hedge-relationship;-and- threugh-periedic-prospactive.. —....- ...
effectivenass assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging
instrument. For hedges of foreign currency purchases, the Group enters into hedge relationships where the
critical terms of the hedging instrument match exaclly with the terms of the hedged ltem. The Group therefare
performs a gquaiitative assessment of affactiveness. If changes In circumstances affect the terms of the hedged
item such that the critical terms no longer match exactly with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the
Group uses the hypothetical derivative method to assess effectiveness.

In hedges of foreign currency purchases, ineffectiveness rmay arise if the timing of the forecast transaction
changes from what was originally estimated, or if there are changes in the credit risk of a country or the
derlvative counterparty. As all critical terms matched during the year, the economic relationship was 100%
effective.

tn 2020 the Group did not hedge account for its contracts.
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Trade and other recelvables

Trade racelvables are recognized Initially at the amount of considaeration that is unconditional, unless they
contain significant financing components, in which case they are recognized at fair value. The group holds the
trade recelvables with the objectiva of coflacting the contractual cash flows, and so It measures them
subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expactad loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assels.

To measure the expected credit iosses, trade receivables and contract assets have been groupad based on

P

and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the irade receivables for the same types of contracts.
The group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for frade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the foss rates for the contract assels.

The expected loss rales are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 38 manths before
December 31, 2020 and the corresponding historical credit losses experiancad within this period. The historical
loss rates are adjustad to reflect current and forward looking information on macroeconomic factors affeciing the
ability of the customers 1o seftie the recaivables.

Trade receivablas and contract assels are written off whers there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
The maximum exposure at the end of the reporting periad is the ¢arrying amount of thase recsivables.
Bank and othar loans

Bank and other loans are recorded at the fair value of the proceeds received net of directly atiributable
transaction costs. lssue costs relating to revolving credit facilities are charged to the consolidated income
statemant over the estimated life of the facility on a periodic basis and are added to the camying value of the
facility, Issue costs relating to fixed term loans are charged to the consolidated income statement using the
effective intarast method and are added to the carrying value of the fixed term loan,

Trade payables
Trade payables are nol interest bearing and are staled at their nominal value.
Derivative financial instruments

The Graup uses detivative financial instruments such as foreign currency cantracts to hedge lts risks associated
with foreigh currency fluctuations. Such derivative financial instraments are stated at fair value.

Hedges are classifled as cash flow hedges when they hedge exposure fo variabilily in cash flows either
aftributable to a particular rigk associated with a recognized asset or fiability or a highly probabie forecast
transaction.

In relation to cash fiow hedges to hadge the foreign currency risk of firm commitments which mest the conditions
for special hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging Instrument that is determined to be
an"effective hédge Is recognized directly in equity and the ineffective portion-Is recognized in the consolidated
Income statement.

In relation to derivative financial instruments used to hedge a forecast transaction, the portion of the gain or loss
on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effactive hedge is recognized directly in equity and the
ineffective portion is recognized in the consolidated income statement. Amounts taken to equity are transferred
ta the cansolidated income statement when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss.

In 2020 none of the derlvatives ware denominated as a cash flow hedga at the year-end.
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Financlal liabllities and equity instruments

Financial liabllities and equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds recelved, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are all instruments that are issued by the Group as a means of raising
finance, including shares, loan riotes, debentures, debt instruments and options and warrants that give the
holder the right to subscribe for or obtain financial Habilities and equity instruments.

An equity instrument is any confract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entily after deducting

all-ofts-liabilities—All-equity—instruments-are—included-in-sharehclders’ funds..The.finance_costs. incurred_in

respect of an equity instrument are charged directly to the consolidated income statement. Other instruments are
“classified as financia! liabilities if they contain a contractual obligation to transfer economic benefits.

Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertalnty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of eslimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying values of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below. The judgments used by management in the
application of the Group's accounting policies in respect of these key areas of estimation are considered to be
the most significant, The below policies include both elements of jJudgments and estimates.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any Indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting
date. Goodwiill is tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators exist. Other non-
financlal assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the camying value may not be
recoverable. Further details are given in Note 14,

The directors perform their annual goodwill impairment test by comparing the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit ("CGU"), to which goodwill has previousty been allocated, to its carrying value. A goodwill
impairment charge will be recognized for the amount by which the CGU's carrying amount exceeds lts
recoverable amount,

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The value in use of
sach CGU is determined by the directors using a discounted cash flow analysls. Projecting discounted future
cash flows requires the directors to make significant estimates including: (i) future revenue growth rates including
the perpetual growth rate, {il) anticlpated operating margins; and (ii) the discount rates applied to the estimated
future cash flows, These assumptions are determined over a three year long-term planning period. The three
year growth rates for revenues and operating profits margins vary for each CGU being evaluated. Revenues and
operating profit margins beyond 2022 are projected to grow at a perpetual growth rate of 1.8%. A reasonable
change in these estimates would not result in an impairment.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value In use, The value in use of
each CGU Is detarmined by the directors using a discounted cash flow analysis. Projecting discounted future
cash flows requires the directors to make significant estimates including: (i) future revenue growth rates including

= —-"—~the-perpatual-growth rate;~(il)-anticipated- operating- margins;-and-{iii)-the-discount-rates-applied-tothe-estimated——— .- . ..

future cash flows.
Pensions

Determining the present value of future obligations of pensions requires an estimation of future mortality rates,
future salary increases, future pension increases, fulure inflation increases and discount rates. These
assumptions are determined In assaclation with qualified actuaries, Dug to the long-term nature of these plans,
such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. The pension liabilities at December 31, 2020 are $50.8
million {2019: $35.2 million). Further details are given in Note 31.
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Impact of COVID-19 on the Financial Statements

Luxfer's top priority during this global pandemic is the health and well-belng of our employees, customers,
shareholders, and the communities in which we operate. The Group continues to monitor the COVID-19 situation
closely, while simultaneously executing business continuity plans, Thase business continuity plans include, but
are not limited 1o, {i} retooling operations to maintain social distance and maximize employee safety; (i)
increasing resources and efforts to satisfy demand from the most Impactiul parts of our business; (i) expanding
flexible work arrangements and policies, where practical, to maximize employee safety; (iv) Increased monitaring
of short-term cash fiow, including measures to reduce costs and generate cash; and (v} providing regular
updates to our shareholders, employees, custormers, and suppliers in a transparent and timely manner.

At this time, Luxfer continues to operate all of its facilities, following temporary ciosures at a small number of
locations earlier in 2020. However, due to weaker demand resulting from uncertain economic conditions,
potential supply constraints, and the continued impact of COVID-19, Luxfer has implemented additionai cost
saving programs, including headcount reductions,

Luxfer’s results continue to reflect the global macra environment resufting from the COVID-19 pandemic,
inciuding broad-based market weakness, which has been especiaily evident in our generai industriai and
transportation end-markets in 2020 with full year decline of 18.0% and 14.7% respectively, However, while
general industrial has continued to decline in the fourth quarter by 12.5% relative fo prior year, transportation has
experienced a recovery with growth of 20.1%,; largely on the back of the return to growth of sales of alternative
fuel products. Despite the adverse macro trends, the Group has a strong balance sheet and access to an
existing $150 millian credit facility, of which only $4.1 milllon was drawn down at the end of the year following
continued strong cash genaration which allowed the early repayment in the fourth quarter of $25 milfion of Loan
Notes due 2021. Furthermore, as our net debt to EBITDA ratio has fallen to 1.0x at the end of 2020 (from 1.2x at
the end of 2019}, we have identified na issues In relation ta financial covenants nor availability of funding for
conlinued operations.

Changes In accounting policies
The accounting policles adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year.
New standards and amendments to standards not appiled

The IASB has issued the following significant amendments to standards with a mandatory effective date on or
after January 1, 2020:

International Financial Reporting Standards Mandatory effective date
}IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements {amendments)  No earller than January 1, 20221
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment {amendments) No earller than January 1, 2022
[IFRS3’ ‘Businass combination {amendments) No earller than Janlary 1, 2022]
1AS 37 Onerous Contracts (amendments) No earlier than January 1, 2022

o —————Tha-directors-da-naot-expect-that-the-adoption-of-the-standards -listed. abave-will_have_a.material.impact_on_ths
consolidated financial statements of the Group in future periods.

2. Revenue

Disaggregated ravenue disclosures for the fiscal years ended Decernber 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 are
presented below.

Net sales by end-market

2020 2019
™ M $M $M $M $M
Gas ‘ Gas .

Cylinders  Elektron Total Cylinders Elektron Total

General industrial 24.2 87.7 1119 247 111.7 1364
{Transportation - 49.8 42.3 92.1 48.5 59.5  108.0)

Defense, First Responsa & Healthcars 67.9 529 1208 80.3 487  129.0
H 141.9 1829  324.8 153.5 _ 219.9  373.4]
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Net sales hy geographic destination

2020 2019
$M Percent $m Percent
lUnited States -~ .~ - .. T L 173.0°  533.% . 2014 53.9%
UK 18.7 5.8 % 239 6.4%
lcermany = . .. . S v 157 - 48% - - 218 - ‘58%
Italy 10.5 3.2% 13.3 36%
{France -~ : T S 6.2.% o ee15.9 —n 2 4,39
Top five countries 2381 73.3% 276.3 74.0 %
[Rest of Europs - 254 7.8 % 377 10.1 ‘3_6]
Asla Pacific 452 13.9 % 42.8 11.5%
|other ) 16.1 50% 16.6 4.4'%
3__24.8 3734

Y QOther includes Canada, South America, Lalln America and Africa.

The Company's performance obligations are satisfled at a point in time. With the reclasslification of our
Superform business as discontinued operations, none of the Company's revenue is satisfied over time. As a
result, the Company’s contract receivables, contract asseis and contract liabliities at December 31, 2020 are
disclosed within current assets and fiabilities held-for-sale.

The following table provides information about contract receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities with
customers as at December 31, 2019.

in miflions December 31, 2019
lContracl raceivables il 1.7 l
Confract assets 1.3
{Contract liabilities - ' (0.5)

Contract assets in 2019 consisted of $1.3 milllon accrued unbilled amounts refating to tooling revenue and were
recognized in prepayments and accrued income in the consclidated balance sheet. Of the $2.1 million contract
assets recognized as of December 31, 2018, $2.0 million were bliled to customers and transferred {o receivables
as of December 31, 2019.

Contract liabilities in 2019 of $0.5 million consisted of advance payments and billing above costs incurred and
were recognized as accruals and deferred income. Significant changes In contract liabilities balances during
2019 were as follows:

In millions 2019
&at January 1, i 8§ (1 .1)‘I
(Payments received) / amounts billed {0.9)
[(Costs incurred) / revenue recognized | .5]
As at Decembar 31, $ (0.5)
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3 Segmental Information

We classify our operations Into two core business segments, Gas Cylinders and Elektron, based primarily on
shared economic characteristics for the nature of the products and services, the nature of the production
processes; the type or class of customer for their products and services; the methods used to distribute thelr
products or provide their services; and the nature of the regulatory environment. The Group has four identified
business units, which aggregate inte the two reportable segments. Luxfaer Gas Cyfinders forms the Gas
Cylinders segment, and Luxfer MEL Technologies, Luxfer Magtech and Luxfer Graphic Arts aggregate into the
Elektron segment. The Superform business unit used to aggregats into the Gas Cylinders segment, but is now
recognized within discantinued aperations. Prior to its sale at the &nd of tha second quarter of 2019, there was a
further business unit, Luxfer Czech Republic which was part of the Elektron Segment. A summary of the

operations of the segments is provided below:

Gas Cylinders sagment

Our Gas Cylinders segment manufactures and markets speclalized products using carbon composites and
aluminum, including pressurized cylinders for use in various applications Including self-contained breathing
apparatus (SCBA} for firefighters, containment of oxygen and other medical gases for healthcare, alternative fuel
vehicles, and general industrial.

Elekiron segment

Our Elektron segment focusas on specialty materials based primarily on magnesium and zirconium, with key
praduct lines including advanced lightweight magnesium alloys with a variety of uses across a variety of
industries; magnesium powders for usa in countermeasure flares, as well as heater meals; photoengraving
plates for graphic arts; and high-performance zircanium-based materials and oxides used as catalysts and in the
manufacture of advanced ceramics, fiber-optic fuel cells, and many other parformance products.

Other
Other primarily reprasents unallocated corporate expense and includes non-service related defined benefit
pension cost / credit.

Management monitors the operating results of its reportable segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource aflocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated by the
chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments and has been identified as the CEQ, using adjusted EBITA™ and adjusted EBITDA, which is
defined as segment income and is based on operating income adjusted for share based compensation charges;
loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, restructuring charges; impairment charges; acquisition and
disposal related gains and costs; other charges; depreclation and amortization; and unwind of discount oh
deferred consideration.

Unallocated assets and liabilities inciude those which are held on behalf of the Group and cannot be ailocated to
a segment, such as taxation, investments, cash, retirement benefits obligations, bank and other loans and
holding company assels and liabilities,

Financial information by reportable segment for the years ended December 31, is included in the following
summary:

Net Sales______Adjusted EBITDA®

in millionsg 2020 2019 2020 2019
lGas Cylinders segment 0§ 1419 § 1535 § 213 $ 223
Elektron segment 182,9 2199 326 448
IConsalidsted $ 3248 § 3734 § 539 § 6741

Depreciation and Restructuring and
amortization other expense
in millions 2020 2019 2020 2019
]Gas Cylinders segment $ 39 $ 39 $ 59 $ 21 ﬂ
Elektron segment 9.7 9.7 1.3 7.8
Junallocated , — — 0.1 -~
Consolidated $ 136§ 13.6 §$ 73 § 23,6
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Capital expenditure

In millions 2020 2019

|Gas Cylinders segment $ 20 § 44
Elektron segment 5.1 10.9
{Unallocated _ .
Discontinued operations $ 03 3 0.8

fConsoIfdatad

$ 74 $ 148

Total assets

Total labllities

In millions 2020 2019 2020 2019
|Gas Cylinders segment $ 908 § 1045° % 64 § 36.3
Eiektron segment 186.7 197.¢ 28.6 34.0
Hnallocated 28.6 34.2 106.6 1296
Discontinued operations $ 33.8 44.0 11.0 18.8

IConsoIIdated

$ 3379 § 3808

$§ 1826 $ 2187

Non-current assets

in millions 2020 2019
[united States 107.7 122.8|
United Kingdom 68.5 68.5
fRest of Europe . 1,1 1.0]
Canada 9.4 11.5
{Asta Pacific 0,1 0.6

188.8 204.4

M adjusted EBITA is adjusted EBITDA less depraciation and loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment.

@ 2020 and 2019 adjusted EBITDA Is calculaled on a US GAAP basls, our primary GAAP. A raconciliation can be found in our FORM 10-K
filed with tha SEC on March 2, 2021,

4. Operating profit

Operating profit for continuing activities is stated after charging:

2020 2019
$M $M

[Research and development expendiiura charged to the consclidated income statement EEN 57|
Dapraciatian of property; plant and equipment {Note"12) 13:4— 43:1
&ight—-of-use assel depreciation - 33 ER
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 13) 13 2.2
jLoss on disposal of praperty, plant and equipment ‘ - 04 - 0.2]
Restructuring and other expense (Note 6) 7.3 29.6
|staff costs (Note 7) . 89.1  114.4)
Cost of invantories recognized as expensa 239.3 226.9
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5. Fees payable to auditors

The tota) remuneration of the Group's auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and other member fims of
PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited, for services provided to the Group during the years ended
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 is analyzed below.

2020 2018
$M 1

Feas payable to auditors for the audit of the consolidalad financial statements and its - ‘
subsldiarias 1.7 1.8

Fees paid for non-audit services were less than $0.1 millien in both 2020 and 2019,

The audit fee for the company financial statements of Luxfer Holdings PLC was $0.1 million (2019: $0.1 million).

6. Other {(expense) / Income items

2020 2019
M L)
{a)} Changes to defined benefit pension plans
iCreditad / {charged) to operating profit: i
. Changes to defined benefit pension plans - 2.7
i r : — 271
{b) Restructuring and other expense
f(_:hargad 1o operating profit: l
Raticnaiization of oparations {6.9) {22.4)
{Asset impairments ‘ - = @.7)
' Environmental remediation costs {0.4) (2.5)
— (13 ___ (296)
{c) Net loss on acquisitions and disposals
|[(Charged)icredited to non-cperating profit: - |
Marger and acquisition casts {0.4) {4.4)
|Gain on disposal of business — 2.9}
Gain on previously written down Inventory 0.3 —
IRemeasurement of deterred contingent consideration v - -c . en . e comceeee - 04 .04}
— (1.4)

Changes to defined benefit pension plans

During 2020, there was no change in the defined benefit pension plans that has been recognized outside of
interest,

During 2019, a $2.7 million credit has been recognized in relation to special events occurring in the US and
France. There was a $1.8 million curtailment gain on the French plan as a result of the redundancy exercise
which took place in June 2019, There was also a $0.9 million gain on the US plan as a resull of offering deferred
members the opportunity to receive a lump sum In respect of their benefits in the Plan. Lump sums of $2.7
million were paid out and $3.6 million of defined benefit abligation was extinguished.
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Rationalization of operations

In 2020, there was a further $5.4 milllon of costs in relation to the closure of Luxfer Gas Cylinders' Franch site. [t
is expected that there will be further costs incurred in 2021, in response to uncertain global economic conditiaris,
we undertook actions to reduce the Group's cost structure and improve operating efficiency. Thesé actions
included a workforce reduction program resuliing in $1.5 million of severance-related charges, of which
$0.4 million and $1.0 milion was Incurred In the Gas Cylinders and Elektron segrment raspectively, and
$0.1 million Other.

in 2019, $21.5 million of costs were incurred in relation to rationalization cost in the Gas Cylinders Segment and

$0:9-million-in-the-Elekiron-Segment-$214-4-millien-of-the-charge-in-the-Gas-Cylinders-Segrment-was-n-velation-ta
the the closure of the Company's French site. There is an expectation that further costs will be Incurred in, but
not beyond 2020. $0.6 million of the charge in the Elektron Segment relates to one-time employee bensfits
following the decision to scale down production at one of our Luxfer Magtech sites in 2019 and further closure
costs in relation to the previously announced rationalization of Elektron's Graphic Arls operations. There were
other simplification costs of $0.4 million across both segments.

Asset Impalrments

In 2019, an impairment charge of $2.1 million has bean recognized In respect of the Gas Cylinders Segment and
$4.4 million within the Elekiron Segment. Within the Gas Cylinders Segment, the charge predominantly relates to
our Superform business following a downturn affacting European luxury automotive sales, Within the Elektron
Segment, the $4.4 miflion relates to the write down of land and buildings following the decision to scale down
production at one of our Luxfer Magtech sites,

Environmental remediation costs

In 2019, the Company decided to commence a project to remove |low-level naturally occurring radioactive
matarial (NORM) from a redundant building at Elektron's Manchester, UK site. The work represents remediation
of a legacy environmental issue and is expected to complete in the first quarter of 2021. In 2020 and 2019, the
Company recognized $0.4 million and $2.5 million respectively, in other charges on the consolidated income
statement related to this remediation.

Net loss.on acquisitions and disposals

Acquisition-related costs which were net $nil in 2020 and related to $0.4 million costs incurred in relation to
merger and acquisition ("M&A™) exploration activities offset by deferred consideration adjustments and profit on
previously written-down inventory. In July 2020 wa sold our 51% Investmeant In Luxfer Uttam Indla Private Limited
to the joint venture ("JV") partner. Allowing for legal costs, we generated a profit on disposal of less than $0.1
million.

In 2018, acquisition and disposal related costs of $1.4 million were incurred. This amount inciuded a $3.5 million
charge in relation to the reimbursement of costs and $0.9 million of professional and legal fees incurred in
connection with the.terminated Neo acquisition, partially offset by a $2.9 milllon galn from the sale of Magnesium
Elektron CZ s.r.o in the second quarter of 2019 and a $0.1 million credit on the remeasurement of the deferred
contingent consideration,
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7. Staff Costs

Staff costs from continuing operations were as follows:

2020 2019
$M $M

|Wages and salaries : 75.6 '83.3]

Social security costs 5.1 6.5
|Retirement benefits costs 3.2 4.0]

TAS™9RTatirement benafts finafta charge 120 =4
[&dundancy costs: Continuing activitles 14 14.7 I
Share based compeansation charges (Note 33) 2.8 45

[ 801 1144l

The average monthly number of employees from continuing operations during the year was made up as follows:

2020 2019
No. No.
@duction and distdbutlon 1,070 1,131
Sales and administration 168 176
[Research and development 29 45|

1,267 1,352
The compensation of the members of our Board of Directors {each, a "director*) was:

2020 2019
M $M
E@uneraﬁon {short-tarm banefits) 1.5 11'
Social security costs 0.1 0.1
|Post-retirement benefits 0.2 0.2}
Totat short-term and post-retirement benefits 1.8 1.9

In 2020, compensation of key management personnel for the pariod thay served on the Executive Leadership
Team, (including directors) was $4.8 million (2019: $6.0 million) in total which includes; $3.2 million (2019: $4.4
miition) for shori-term employee benefits, $1.2 million {2019: $1.0 million) for long-term incantive plans and $0.3
million (2019: $0.4 million) for post-employment benefits. Social security costs were Incurred of $0.1 million
(2019: $0.2 million).

Detalis of the share awards granted are included In the Remuneration Report in Outstanding Share Awards
During 2020, are on pages 46 to 47 of the Remuneration Report.

Forthet datails of directors remuneratiomareincluded- inthe Remuneration-Reporton-pages-39 to-56:
During 2020 and 2019, one director was a member of the Group's U.S. registeréd defined contsibutlon plan.
Directors’ interests and related party transactions

No directors had a material interest in, nor were they a party to, any contract or arrangement to which the parent
company, Luxfer Hotdings PLC (the "Company") or any of its subsidiaries is or was party to either during the year
or at the end of the year, with the following exceptions: in the case cf the executive director his Individual service
contract and the Luxfer Holdings PLC Long-Term Umbrella. Incentive Plan; in the case of the non-executive
directors their engagement latters or the contract for services under which their services as a director of the
Company are pravided; in the case of the executive director and the chairman, the Luxfer Holdings PLC Non-
Executive Directors Equity Incentive Pian. Information regarding the share options exercised during the year is
included within the Remuneration Report. See Note 34 for related party transactions.
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8. Flnance incoime

Finance income from continuing operations was as follows:

2020 2019
M $M
[Rank Interest received o ~odl
9. Finance_costs
Finance costs from continuing operations was as follows:
2020 2019
$M™ $W
|Bank and other loan Interest payable 5.1 471
Amortization of issue costs 0.5 0.5
[Leass Interest payable : 04  04]
1AS 19R retirement benefits finance charge 1.0 1.4
Fanind of discount on.deferred contingent consideration from acquisitions L — . 0.2[
Total finance costs 7.0 7.2
10. Income tax expense
{a) Analysis of taxation charge for the year
2020 2019
$M $M
[current Income taxes: ' : ]
U.K. corporation tax G1 06
[Adjustments In respect of previous years ' : ‘ 03 0 04
: (0.2) 0.7
INon-U K. tax S IEEY 3.91
Adjustments in respect of previous years 0.3 (0.4)
{Tolal current tax charge ) 2.2 42|
Deferrad Income taxes:
lOrlgination and reversal of temporary diffarances 4.7 4.3]
Adjustments In respect of previous years (0.7} (0.3)
lTotaI deferred Incame taxes charge - . ,' 4.0 ; 4.0_1
Tax charge on profit on operations i 6.2 8.2

The income taxes charges relate to continulng activities.
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{b) Factors affecting the taxation charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year differs from the standard rate of 19% (2019: 19%) for corparation tax in the U.K.
The differences ara explained below: '

2020 2019
$M $M
[Profit an operations before taxation ' i 24.0 14.2|
:'ro/f ; -an-operations-at-2020-slandard-rate-of.corporation tax-in.the U.K. of 19%(201.9: 5 55
|Effects of: : ‘ : o
Non-deductibla expenses 1.5 3.3
|Unprovided deferrad Income taxes 0.8 1.6}
Forelgn tax rate differences — 1.1
JAdjustments in respect of previous years : {0.7) {0.5)
Tax expanse 6.2 8.2

The 2020 deferred tax charge includes a non-cash accounting adjustment In respect of previous years of $0.8
million, which predominantly results from a re-evaluation of the availability of historic tax losses to offset future
taxable profits.

The 2019 deferred tax charge includes a hon-cash accounting adjustment In respect of previous years of $0.3
million, which predominantly results from a re-evaluation of the availability of historic tax losses to offset future
taxabie profits, partially. offset by the re-évaluation of the deduclibility of share-based compensation expense.

{¢) Factors that may affect future taxation charge

At December 31, 2020, the Group had carried farward tax losses of $104.2 milfion (U K.: $30.0 milion, non-U.K.:
$74.2 million). Carried forward tax losses for 2019 were $94.9 million (U.K.: $32.8 millicn, non-U.K.: $62.1
million). To the extent that these losses are not already recognized as deferred income taxes assets, and
available to offset against future taxable profits, It is expected that the future effective tax rate would be below the
standard rate In the country where the profits are offset. The Group has unrecognized deferred tax. assets
relating to certain trading and capital losses and other tempaorary timing difference of $19.3 miltion (2019: $14.9
million), potantially available for offset agalnst future profits.

Changes to the UK, corporation tax rates were announced as part of the UK. government's Finance Bill of
March 2021, which will increase the rate from 19% to 25% from April 2023. We expect that U.K. deferred taxes
will be remeasured based on the anticipated timing of reversal of associated timing differences once the
announced rate change has been substantively enacted, expected to be later in 2021. However, it is likely that
the overall effect of the change, had it been substantively enactéd by the balance sheet date would be to
increase the deferred tax asset by approximately $3.5 million.
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11. Discontinued Operations

Our Superform aluminum superplastic forming business operating from sites in the U.S. and the UK, and our
U.S. aluminum gas cylinder business were historically included in the Gas Cylinders segment. As a result of our
decision to exit non-strategic aluminum product lines, we have reflected the results of operations of these
businesses as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Income for all periods presented, The
U.S. aluminum gas cylinder business was sold in March 2021, see Note 35 and we expect the sale of the
Superform businesses to occur in 2021.

The assets and liabllities of the above businesses have been presented within Current assets held-for-sale and

Current lighliitlesheald-for-saleinthe—consolidatedbalance-sheet-of-2020. The-Group-has-detarmined-that-the
carrying value of the held-for-sale assets is recoverable and as a result no impairment losses have been
recognized,

Resuits of discontinued operations were as follows:

2020 2019
M $M
[REVENUE _ 53.2 -70.1]
Cost of Sales (50.4) (64.3)
[Gross profit 2.8 "~ 5,81
Distribution costs {1.9) (1.6}
{Administrative expenses (2.3) (4.7)
Restructuring and cther expense (0.1) {1.9)
[OPERATING PROFIT ‘ R - {0.7) . (2.4)
Net finance costs (0.2) {0.3)
[LOSS ON DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BEFORE TAX ' (0.9) (2.7)
Income tax credit —_ 0.9
[NET LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (0.9) {1.8Y
The assets and liabilities classified as held-for-sale were as follows:
December 31,
2020

Reciassified to held-far-sale assets and liabllities M
[Pﬁaperly, plant and equipment ] : ' '7.9]
Intangible assets 0.3
lnghl—of—use assels 3.(ﬂ
Inventories 12.6
}Trade and other recelvables ' ] 8.7
Held-for-sale assets 325

l e

Reclassifled to held-far-sale llabllities

IILade and other payables .. : _ 6.9]
Lease liability a1

fOther Habiliies : o, - o 1.0
Heldfor-sale liabilities 11.0

Also included within assets held-for-sale in 2020 is one building valued at $3.7 million, within our Eiektran
Segment.
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The discontinued cash flow statement Is presented below: 2020 2019
M M
{Cash flow from operafing aclivitias $ 0.3 % 0.8|
Cash flow from invesling activitias {0.3) (0.8)
[Cash fiow from financing activities — —i
Net change in cash and cash equlvalents $ — § -

The depreciation and amortization, capital expenditures and significant non-cash items were as follows:

2020 2019
$M M

[Qash flows from discontinued operating activities: I

Deprecialion 1.4 11
|impairment charged — 20}
l_Cabh flows from discontinued Investing activitles: _I

0.3 0.8

12. Property, plant and equipment
Long Short Plant and
Freehold leasehold leasehold equipment Total
$M $M $M M M

{Cost: }

At January 1, 2019 43.4 74 14.1 2795 344.5
[Additions 0.1 — 0.1 14.6 . 14.8]
Disposals (0.6) —_ (0.2) {4.9) {5.7)
[Transfers 2.7 13 (2.6) 1.2) )

Exchange difference 2.2 0.3 0.1 6.0 8.6
|At Dacember 31, 2019 47.8 8.8 11.5 294.1 362.2

Additions 0.2 0.2 0.1 6.8 7.3
[Dlsposals — — — {2.9) (2.9}
Transfers - Held for sale {5.8) — {1.2) {41.5) (48.5)
[Fransfers™ 2.0 0.1 0.3 (2.4) —|

Exchange difference 0.8 0.3 0.1 6.8 8.0
{At December 31, 2020 45.0 9.4 10.8 260.9 326.1]

Accumulated depreciation and impalrment:

[At January 71,2018 24.9 4.4 6.7 206.9 242.9]
Provided during the year 1.4 a4 0.8 105 13.4
fimpairment - ' 1.5 — 0.3 43 8.1
Disposals {0.6) —_ (0.2) 4.7) (5.5)
[Transfers 22 04 {0.1) {2.5) —]
Exchange difference 1.8 0.2 — 5.4 7.4
[At December 31, 2018 31.2 5.4 75 219.9 2640
Provided during the year 1.5 0.5 0.6 10.8 13.4
|Disposals — — — {2.8) (2.8)
Transfers - Held for sale {3.4) — (1.2) {36.0) (40.6)
[Exchange difference 0.5 0.2 041 58 6.6
At December 31, 2020 298 6.1 7.0 197.7 240.6
[Net book values: - ]
At December 31, 2020 15.2 3.3 38 63.2 85.5
[At Décember 31, 2019 . 16.6. .34 40 742 - . - 98,2{
At January 1, 2019 18.5 3.0 74 727 101.6

As at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, no assels were held under finance leases.

Assets relating to our Superform and U.S. aluminum cylinder businesses have been classified as held-for-sale in

2020.
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Impairment of property, plant and cquipment

$4.4 million of the impairment in 2019 relates to the Elektron Segment following the decision to scale down
production at one of our Luxfer Maglech sites. $1.6 million of the impairment relates to our Superform business
within the Gas Cylinders Segment following a downturn affecting European juxury automotive sales and $0.1
million in relation to other business units within the Segment. The impairment in relation to our Superform
business has been raeclassified as discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement.

Long and short leasehold
The long and short Isasehold costs relate to leasshold property Improvements.

13. Intangible assets

Technology
Customer and trading Development
Goodwill related related costs Software Total
$M $M $M M M $M
[Cost: - ] C T 1
At January 1, 2019 76.8 134 8.2 74 2.8 108.3
|Additions ‘ — — — — - . . 01 - 0.1
Disposals —_ — —_ (1.8) (0.5) (2.3)
[Exchangs difference - 1.8, o — 03 04 o1 - 24|
At December 31, 2019 784 13.4 85 54 25 108.2
[Fransfer to held-far-sale — — — (1.5) {0.5) {2.0)|
Exchanga difference 1.5 — 6.3 o1 0.1 2.0
[AtDecember 31, 2020 798 13.4 8.8 40 214 _ 1082}
Accumulated amortization -
and impairment;

[At January 1, 2019 19.9 3.8 3.2 5.2 1.9 34.0]
Provided during the year — 0.8 0.4 0.6 0.3 2.2
|Disposals — — — {1.8) {0.5) {2.3)
Impalrment — — — 04 — 0.4
{Exchange difference 06 — ot 0.2 cA1 1ﬂ
At December 31, 2019 205 4.7 37 45 1.8 353
[Provided during the year — 0.4 04 _ 0.2 0.3 1.3]
Transfer to held-for-sale — — — (1.2) (0.5) {1.7)
[Exchange difference 0.5 — 0.1 0.2 01 . . 049]
At Decembesr 31, 2020 21.0 5.1 4.2 3.8 1.7 35.8
|Net book values: - - § ]
At.December.31, 2020 58.9 8.3 46 0.2 0.4 72.4
[t December 31, 2019 679 8.7 4.8 08 07 72|
At January 1, 2019 56.9 9.6 5.0 1.9 0.9 74.3

Customer related intangibles include customer relationships, order backlogs and non-compete agreements.
Technology and trading related intangibles include technology, patents, trade names and trademarks.

Development costs include $0.2 million (2019: $0.8 million) relating to internally generated intangible assets, all
ather intangible assets are externally generated.

Assets relating to our Superform and U.S. aluminum cylinder businesses have been classified as held-for-sale in
2020.

Impairment of intangible assets

The $0.4 million impairment of development costs in 2019 is In relation to the write down of Superform assets in’
the Gas Cylinders Segmant following a downturn affecting European luxury automotive sales. The impairment
has bean reclassified as discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement.
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14, Impairment of goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination Is allocated, al acquisition, to the cash-generating units {CGUs)
that are expected to benefit from the busiriess combination. The five identified CGUs {Luxfer Gas Cylinders,
Luxfer Superform, Luxfer MEL Technologies, Luxfer Magtech and Luxfer Graphic Arts) represent the lowest level
within the Group at which goodwill is monitored for internal management reporting purposes. The fivea CGUs are
aggregated lo form the Group's two defined reportable segments: Gas Cylinders Segment and Elektron
Segment. Luxfer Superform forms part of the discontinued operations disclosure. The table below summarizes
the carrying value of goodwill by segment:

Gas Cylinders Elektron

Segment Segment Total
{ ‘ - ‘ $M $M M|
At January 1, 2019 418.5 g4 56.9
|Exchange ditference ' 07 . 0.3 1.0
Al December 31, 2019 19.2 38.7 57.9
{Exchange difference 0.8 0.4 1.0]
At December 31, 2020 188 35.1 58.9

The Gas Cylinders -Segment goodwill of $19.8 milllon (2019: $19.2 rnillion) relates wholly to the goodwill
attributable to our Luxfer Gas Cylinders operations.The Elektron Segment goodwill of $39.1 million (2019: $38.7
million) included goodwill attributable to our Luxfer MEL Technologies operations of $5.4 miliion {2019: $5.2
million) and goodwill attributable to our Luxfer Magtech operations of $33.7 million (2019: $33.5 million); no
goodwill is allocated to Luxfer Graphic Arts. The goodwill figure was allocated based on which operating
segments historical acquisitions were allocated 1o and the value of the acquired goodwill on those historical
acquisitions.

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications thal goodwill might
he impaired. The recoverable amount of each of the cash-generating units has been determined based on a
value-in-use calculation using a discounted cash flow method. The cash flows were derived from a 3-year
husinass plan preparad at a detailed lavel by each CGU. The results of these plans were then extrapalated to
give a terminal value based on a growth rate of 1.8% (2019: 2.3%). The 3-year business plans were driven by
detalled sales forecasts by product type and best estimate of future demand by end market, using current
margins. The cash fiows included aliowance for capital maintenance costs, along with working capital
requirements based on the projected level of sales. A pre-tax discount rate of batwesn 8.0% and 9.0% was used
for the individual CGUs (2019: between 8.3% and 9.0% for ali CGUs), which was considered a best estimate for
the risk-adjusted cost of capital for the CGUSs, The long-term projections assumed product prices and costs were
at current levels, but the exchange rates used were USD:GBP of $1.34 and USD:EUR of $1.12.

The Directors and management have considered and assessed reasonably possible changes for other key
assumptions and have not identified any instances that could cause the carrying amount of the CGUs to exceed
its recoverable amount,
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Shares in joint ventures
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L. sm - |
At January 1, 2019 1.6
IShare of resuits 0.7}
At Dacember 31, 2019 23
{Share of results (0.1)
Disposal (1.7)
m December 31, 2020 0.5

investment In joint ventures and associates

Al December 31, 2020, the Group had the fallowing Joint venture which affect the profit of the Group. The
Group's joint venture has share capital which consists solely of ordinary shares and are indirectly held, and the
country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of operation.

Proportion of

Country of voting rights and Nature of
Name of company Incorporation Holding shares held Classlificatlon business
Nikkel-MEL Co. . Lo S A L .
Limited o Japan Ordinary shares 50.0 % . Jointventure Dislribution

the above ownership percentage remains consistent with 2019,

In 2020, the Company sold its 51% investment in Luxfer Uttam India Private Limited to our joint venturs pariner
. for INR 137.4 million (§1.8 million) cash, Allowing for legal costs, we generated a profit on disposal of less than
$0.1 mitlion.

Sub161 Pty Limited, our Australian associate in which we held a 26% interest, was liquidated and deregistered
as a legal entity in 2020.

The main trading activity in 2019 was in Luxfer Uttam India Private Limited and Nikkei MEL Co. Limited.

The share of results of all joint ventures and associates was loss of $0.1 miliion {2019: profit of $0.7 million),
with no items recognized in other comprehensive income in 2020 or 2019,

The Group has looked in detail at the ownership agreements of its foint vantures and associates in order to
determine the level of control that it has. The Group has determined that it has joint controi of its joint ventures
mainly based upon the number of members on each company board of directors and their associated voting
rights. In relation to the associate undertaking, the Group has significant influence but not jeint contro! based on
the preportion of directors on the company board and assoclated voting rights. The Group therefore accounts for
all material joint ventures and assaciates on an equity basis.

Related-panty-transactions-with-joint-ventures-and -associates-have-been- diselased-in-Note-34 -to-the-Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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16. Inventories

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
M ™
[Raw materials and'consumables 26.2 334|
Work in progress 19.7 322
[Finished goods and goods for resale 229 . 28.9]
68.8 . 84.5

Inventaries above are disclosed net.of any pravisions far obsolete and excess invenlories. The provision against
obsolete and excess inventories at December 31, 2020 was $7.3 million (2019: $10.5 million). The cost of
Inventories recognized as an expense In continuing operations during the year was $239.3 million {2019: $226.9
million). The cost of Inventories written-off during 2020 was $0.6 million (2019: $0.4 million).

17. Trade and other recelvables

December 31, December 31,

2020 2019
$M M
[Current Assets i , |
Trada receivables 3316 52.4
[Kmounts owed by joint venfures and assoclates - 0.2 271
Other recelvables 3.4 42
{Prepayments and accrued Income 5.5 6.71
Derivative financial instruments 0.2 0.3
[peferred consideration 0.2 —1
43.1 66.3

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 day terms. Trade receivables above are
disclosed net of any provisions for doubtful receivables of $0.5 million due to credit risk. The following table
provides information about the exposura to credit risk and expacted cradit lossas for trade receivables (including
amounts owed by joint vantures and associates) as at December 31, 2020 based on aging profile:

Gross Lifetime
carrying expected
Defaultrate ™  amount credit loss
Trade receivables and amounts owed by jolnt
ventures and assoclates % M $M
[Current {not past due) T T T T T ey T ttgg gt T ”—?I
1-30 days past due — % 3.7 —
[31-80 days past due , - — % 0.7 -]
61-90 days past due 1.5 % 0.1 —_
[91.120 days past due , 15.0 % 0.1 -]
> 120 days past due 100.0 % 0.5 0.5
[ 344 0.5]

) Dafaull rata Is applied to uninsurad trade recaivables and amounts owed by joint ventures and assoclates.
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At Decernber 31, 2020, trade receivables with a nominal value of $0.5 million (2019: $1.3 million) were impaired
and fully provided for. Movements In the provision for impairment of trade receivablas and amounts owed by joint
ventures and associates were as follows:

2020 2019

$M $M
[At January 1 o ' 13 . 24)
Charge in the year — 12
|Recoverles for.expected.creditlosses_. . _ {0.7) (2.0}
Exchange difference {0.1) (0.3)
[Af Decembar 31 ‘ . 0.5 1.3]

18 Held-for-sale assets and liabilities

In 2020, the Group classified its Superform aluminum superplastic forming business opsrating from sites in the
U.S. and the UK, and its U.S. aluminum gas cylinder business as assets and liabilities held-for-sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 - Discontinued Operations.

There was also one building valued at $3.7 million, within our Elektron Segment classified as held-for-sale
assets, previously included within currant assets. The building was also classified as held-for-sale in 2019, as
the expectation was that the buiiding would be sold within 12 months. There are conditions attached to the sale
which the Company expects to be met In 2021 and as such the bullding continues to be classified as held-for-
sale.

in 2019, thera was also $0.2 milllon of inventary which has been reclassified as held-for-sale assets, in relation
to ane of cur operatlons within ocur Gas Cylinders Segment.

. The respective assets and liabilities of the above disposal groups have been reclassified as held-for-sale within
other current assets and other cusrent liabilities per the table below.

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Reclassified to held-for.sale assets and liablilities $M M
|Property, plant and equipment ' 116 37|
Intangible assets 0.3 —
@ht-of-use assets L ) 3.0, —]
Inventories 12.6 0.2
{Frade and other racelvables : ‘ - - 8.7 N |
Held-for-sale assets 36.2 3.9
R _ il
Reclassifled to hald-for-sale liabilitles
T R e, - - |
Lease llability 31 —
{Other liabilities . 10 —|
Held-for-sale Habllities 1.0 —

As a result of items reclassified to held-for-sale, there has beaen no raclassification of tems from other
comprehensive Income to the income statement.
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December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
L $M M|
Gash at bank and in hand 1.5 10.3
i 15 10.3]

included within the cash at bank and in hand balance is nit (2019: $0.1 million) cash held in escrow, as restricted

cash.

20. Share capital
(a) Ordinary share capital

Dacember 31, Decemher31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2020 2019
No., No. M $M
Mhorized: . T _I
Ordinary shares of £0.50 each 40,000,000 40,000,000 357 (1) 357
Defarred ordinary shares of ' S g
£0.0001 each ’ .761,835,338,444 761,835,339,444 148.9 (1), 148.8 {1
761,875,338,444 761,875,338 444 185.6 (1 185.6_{1
@mad. called up and fully pald; j
Ordinary shares of £0.50 each 29,000,000 28,000,000 266 (1) 26.6 (1)
Daefarred ordinary shares of .
. £0,0001 each 761,835,338,444  761,835,338,444 148.9 (1) 149.9 (1)
761!864-!338!444 761!864!338!444 176.5 (1) 176.5_ (1)
" The Group's ordinary and deferred share capital are shown in U.S. dollars at the exchange rate

prevailing at thé month end spot rate at the time of the share capital being issued.
The.rights of the shares are as fallows:
Ordinary shares of £0.50 each

The ordinary shares carry no entitiement to an automatic dividend but rank pari passu In respect of any dividend
declared and paid. The ordinary sharas were allotled and issued to satisfy share awards which vested under the
Group's share award and share Incentive plans.

At December 31, 2020, there were 27,636,153 (2019; 27,431,283) ordinary shares of Luxfer HoMdings PLC listed
on the New York Stock.Exchange (NYSE).

Deferrad-ordinany.shares-of-£0.0001-each

The deferred sharas have no entitiement to dividends or to vote. On a winding up (but not otherwise) the holders
of the deferred shares shall be entitled to the repayment of the paid up nominal amount of the deferred shares,
but only after any payment 1o the halders of ordinary shares of an amount equal to 100 times the amount paid up
on such ordinary shares.
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(b) Share premium account

$M
[At January 1, 2019 ' ; 65.7}
Shares sold from ESOP 33
{utiization of shares - 5.5|
Al December 31, 2019 74.5
|Shares sold from ESOP . . ‘ 0.8]
Utilization of shares 1.8
At Decamber 31, 2020 * ~77.1%

The share premium account is used to record the excess of procesds over nominal value on the issue of shares.
Share issue costs directly related to the issue of shares are deducted from share premium,

(c) Treasury shares

$M
[At January 1, 2019 ‘ "~ | (4.3}
Utilization of treasury shares 0.3
JAt December 31,2019 i N _(4.0)
At December 31, 2020 (4.0)

In June 2015, the Board announced a share huy-back program of up to $10 million, to cover the needs of
employee share plans. Shareholder approval for this program was granted at the 2014 Annual General Meeting
(for repurchases up to an aggregate amount of 2,700,000 ordinaty shares or ADSs).

. During 2020 and 2019 no ordinary shares were repurchased under the share buy-back program. At
December 31, 2020, there were 350,335 (2019: 352,499) treasury shares held at a cost of $4.0 million (2019:
$4.0 miilion).

(d) Own shares held by ESOP

$M
[At January 1, 2019 ' - - ©o(2.2)
Shares sold fram ESOP 0.2
|utilization of ESOP shares - j i 03]
At December 31, 2019 (.7
|Shares sold from ESOP 0.3{
At December 31, 2020 (1.4)

At December 31, 2020, there were 1,013,512 ordinary shares of £0.50 each (2019: 1,216,220 ordinary shares of
£0.50 each) held by The Luxfer Group Employee Share Ownership Plan (the "ESOP").
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21. Dividends paid and proposed
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2020 2019
$M $M
IDividends declared and pald durlng the year: ]
Interim dividend pald February 6, 2019 ($0.125 per ordinary share) —_ 34
[lnterim dividend paid May 1, 2019 {$0.125 per ordinary share) — 3.4 ]
Interim dividend pald August 7, 2019 ($0.125 per ordinary share) — 34
—{interim dividend pald November-8,-2019 ($0.125.per.ordinary.share) — 34 l_
Interim dividend paid February 5, 2020 ( $0.125 per ordinary share) 3.4 —
m’l—terfm dividend pald May 6, 2020 ($0.125 per ordinary share) 34 -—]
interim dividend paid August 5, 2020 ($0.125 per ordinary share) 34 —
[interim dividend paid Novamber 4, 2020 ($0.125 per ordinary share) 3.4 —[
13.6 13.6
2020 2019
$M $M
IDIvldends dac!ared and pald after Dacemnber 31 (not recognized as a Ilablllty at
December 3
intarim dlvidend paid February 5, 2020; {$0.125 per ordinary share) — 34
[interim dividend paid May 8, 2020: {$0.125 per ordinary share) — 3.4)
Interim dividend paid February 4, 2020: ($0.125 per ordinary share) 34 —
[Inlerlm dividend to be pald May 5, 2021 {$0.125 per ordinary share) 3.4 —1
6.8 6.8
22, Bank and other loans
December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
$M $M
[Loan Notes due 2021—gross - 25.0]
Unamoriized finance costs — —
[Loan Noteg due 2021—net — - 250]
Loan Notes due 2023—gross 25.0 25.0
lUnamortized finance costs - {0.1)
Loan Notes due 2023-—net 25.0 24.9
}Loan Notes due 2026—gross 25.0 25.0
Unamortized finance costs {0.3) (0.3)
|Loan Notes due 2026—net 24.7 24.7|
Revolving credit facllity—gross 41 175
[Unamortized finance costs (0.7 (1.1}
Revolving credit facility—net 34 16.4
| 53.1 91.0]
lincluded In current liabilities — —|
Included in non-current liabilities 53.1 91.0
R ' 53,1 91.0

The Loan Notes due 2021 were due to mature on September 15, 2021, however we voluntarily chose to repay
the notes early, on December 31, 2020, largely using surplus cash generated from operations, plus a small
drawing on the Senior Facilities Agreement. In addition to the repayment of the $25 million principal, we incurred

an early repayment charge of $0.5 million.
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On July 31, 2017, an extension to the Senior Facilities Agreement was agreed which provides $150 million in
committed debt facilities, in the form of a multi-currency revolving credit facility, with an additional $50 million of
uncommilted facilities thraugh an accordion facility. The Senlor Facilities Agreement was due to mature in April
2019, but has now been extended until the end of July 2022. Finance costs of $1.2 milllion were capitalized
foliowing this extension and were deemed to be a madification of the existing facility. The Senior Facility
Agreement bears interest equal to a margin based upon the Group's leverage plus either EURIBOR or LIBOR,
depending on the currency drawn down. Note that GBP sterling drawings will be subject to interest rates based
on SONIA (Sterling Overnight Index Average) once LIBOR is phased out by the end of 2021, We do not expect
this change to have a material effect on our interest expense.

The welghted-average Interast rate on the revolving credit facility was 2.19% and 2.47% in 2020 and 2019
respectively.

The maturity profile of the Group's undiscounted contractual payments is disclosed in Note 29.

23. Provisions

Rationalization
and Employee Environmental
redundancy benefits provislans Total
M ™ $M $M

At December 31, 201 9 8.2 0.9 2.2 11.3
[Charged to consolidated income statement ; ¢ ity JAENCN 6.9 0 - : ' '
Cash payments (4.9) — (1 5) (6 4)

At December 31, 2020 10.9 1.0 1.1 13 0

*J-.‘_g.-d_ - -‘-l..‘"-‘-..;'ﬁ‘ .

At Dacember 31, 2020

[inciuded In current ADHNIBS T ™ oikor @~ s & Ry
Included In non-current liabilities o 1.0 — 1.0
M 2 H A0 T 0TS 5 e s wehik vanby e D, ot 3L R 1 0,9 TN T 0 EASHLHE 04 T 1 P 13,0
At December 31, 2019

Nincluded in current liabilties = m g 2re. ~ 5 2"« 3E AT S rn T XL T F 09 v 10.4)
!ncluded in non—current liabllities — 0.9 — 0.9
P A R B e R R T T TN 3 Y R o el T2.21 .4711i3]

Rationalization and redundancy

At December 31, 2020, the Group had $10.9 million of provisions reiating o redundancy and the rationalization
of its operations (2019 $8.2 million). $0.3 milllon (2019: $0.4 million) and $10.6 million (2019: $7.8 million) of this
provision related to the Elektron and Gas Cylinders segments respectively.

Employee benefits

At December 31, 2020, the Group had $1.0 milion of employes benefit liabilities (in addition to retirement
bensfits), as calculated on an actuarial basls, relating to a provision for workers' compensation in the U.S. (2018:
$0.9 miillion).

Environmental provisions

At December 31, 2020, the Group had environmental provisions totaling $1.1 million relating to anvironmental
clean-up costs (2019: $2.2 million). $1.0 million relates to a provision to remove low-level naturally occurring
radioactive material (NORM) from a redundant building at Elektron's Manchester, UK site. The remaining $0.1
million relates to a provision for dishursement of environmental liabilities as part of the acquisition of the trade
and assets of the Spedlalty Metals business of ESM Group Inc,
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24. Deferred income taxes

Accelerated Other Retirement
tax temporary Tax benefit
depreciation differences losses obligations Total
M $M M mM___sm
{At January 1, 2019 (2.8) 3.8 8.5 7.0 17.5]
(Charged)/ credited to consolidated .
income statement (1.1) 0.1 1.0y {2.0) {4.0)
{Charged) / credited to othar. \ n
COMprafiansive INCoMe == {Ox1y = 0.8—0:5
Credited to discontinued operations 0.8 — — — 08
[Exchangs differance ' — 0.1 T 04 0.2 0.7\
At December 31, 2019 {3.1} 3.9 8.9 58 15.5
’Charged) / credited 10 consolidated
ncome Staternent 0.7 {2.2) (2.6) 0.1 (4.0)
Credited to other comprehanslve Income — — —_ 37 37
[ Transfer to assets held for sale 0.6 — — — 0.8}
Exchangse difference — 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.6
JAt Decernber 31, 2620 - {1.8) 1.8 6.5 2.9 16.4}

The amount of deferred Income taxes accounted for in the Group balance sheef, after the offset of balances
within countries for financial reporting purposes, comprised the following deferred income tax assets and
liabilities:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
M M
[Deterred income tax ablities 2.8) (1.0}
Doferred income tax assets 19.2 18,5
ﬁ\lat defarred income tax assels 16.4 - . 15.5[

The 2020 deferred tax charge includes a non-cash accounting adjustment in respect of previous years of $0.8
million, which predominantly results from a re-evaluation of the availability of historic tax losses to offset future
taxable profits.

The 2018 defarred tax charge includes a non-cash accounting adjustment in respect of previous years of $3.3
mitlion, which predominantly resuits from a re-evaluation of the avaitability of historic tax fosses lo offset fufure
{axable profits, partially offset by the re-avaluation of the deductibility of share-based compensation expense.
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25. Trade and other payables

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
M M

INon-current Liabilities , ‘ -
Accruals and deferred income 0.1 0.6
M ‘ " R ' 0.4 . 06l
Current Liabllities

ﬁ'rade payables . i L o -18.1 S - 36.4]
Other taxation and soclal security 0.5 0.1
{Accruals and deferred income ] - - 22.8 26.81
Intarest payable 0.3 0.4
r e i B 417 0 637

The directors consider that the carrying value of trade payables approximates to thelr fair value.

26. Acqulsitions
Deferred conlingent considaration

The deferred conlingent consideration is in relation to the acquisilion of Truetech and Innotech, (Luxfer Magtech)
is linked to the future profitabllity of the antity. Where appropriate, this was payabile annually from 2015 to 2020,
The deferred consideration totaled nii at December 31, 2020 (2019: $0.5 million}, following the final payment in
2020,

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

M $M
[Net cash fiows on purchase of business: R L R
Included in net cash flows from invasting activities:
1Deforred considerallon paid S - . (o4 T T {0.5)
Net cash flows on purchase of business (0.4) {0.5)
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27. Leases

Right-of-use assets

Land and
bulldings  Motor vehicles Equipment Total
M $M $M M

[Cost: ‘ |
At January 1, 2019 — — —_ —

{Opening balance 16.4 0.2 1.5 18.1]
Additions = — 01 01

[At December 31, 2019 16.4 0.2 1.6 18.2 |
Additions — — 0.8 0.8

[Disposals - - : — — (0.9) (0.1)
Transfer to held-for-safe (4.8) G.1) {0.2) (5.1}

{Exchange difference ) 0.3 — 0.1 0.4]
At December 31, 2020 11.9 0.1 2.2 14.2

L | |
Accumulated depreclation:

|At January 1, 2019 - — e =l
Charge for the year 3.0 0.1 0.6 3.7

|At December 31, 2019 3.0 0.1 0.6 3.7
Charge for the year 29 — 0.4 33

|Disposais —_ — (0.1) (0.1)]
Transfer to held-for-sale (2.0} —_ {0.1) {2.1)
Exchange difference 0.2 — — 0.2}
At December 31, 2020 4.1 0.1 0.8 5.0

L |
Net book values:

[At December 31, 2019 13.4 0.1 1.0 14.5 |
At December 31, 2020 7.8 — 1.4 9.2
Leasa liability December 31, December 31,

2020 2019
$M $M
[The present value of lease Habilities is as follows: -
T Within 1 2 months 3 271 33

{1 - 5 vears , 4.1 6.0]
> 5 years 3.5 5.7

[Total $ 9.7 150

The total cash outfiow for leases in 2020 was $3.7 million and total expense was $4.2 million.

Supplemental balance sheet information December 31, December 31,
2

2020 2019
{Welghted average remaining lease terms (years) 219 - 171 |
Weighted average discount rate 4.43 % 446 %
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28. Commitments and contingencies
Capital commitments

At December 31, 2020, the Group had capital expenditure commitments of $1.1 mililon (2019: $1.0 miilion) for
the acquisition of new plant and equipment.

Committed banking facilities

At December 31, 2020 and 2016 the Group had committed banking facilities of $150.0 million. Of the committed
facilitios-$4-1-million-was-drawn-at-December.34,.2020.(2019:_$17.5.million)

The Group had a separate (uncommitted) facility for letters of credit which at December 31, 2020 and 2019 was
£1.0 million ($1.3 million). None of this wers utilized at December 31, 2020 and 2019 respectively.

The Group also has two separate (uncommitted) bonding facilities for bank guarantees, one denominated In
GBP sterling of £4.5 million (2020: $6.1 million, 2019: $5.9 million), and one denominated in USD of $1.5 million
(2019: $0.4 million). Of that denominated in GBP, £1.0 million ($1.4 milllon) was utilized at December 31, 2020
(2019: £1.6 million / $2.3 million). Of that denominated in USD, $0.8 million was utilized in December 31, 2020
{2019: fully utilized).

Contingencles

During February 2014, a cylinder was sold to a long term customer and ruptured at one of their gas facilities. As
a result of this rupture, three people were noted to have minor injuries such as loss of hearing. There was no
major damage to assets of the customer. A claim has been faunched by the three people who were injured in the
incident. We have reviewed our quality control chacks from around the time which the cylinder was produced
* and no instances of fallures have been nated. it has also been noted by the investigator that the customer has
poor quality and safety checks. As a result we do not believe that we are liable for the incident, and therefore, do
. not currently expect this case to have a material impact on the Group's financial position or results of operations.

In November 2018, an alleged explosion occurred at a third-party waste disposal and treatment site in Boise,
Idaho, reportedly causing property damage, personal injury, and ona fatality. We had contracted with a service
company for removal and disposal of certain waste resuiting from the magnesium powder manufacturing
operations at the Reade facility in Manchester, New Jersay. We belleve this service company, in turn, apparently
contracled with the third-party disposal company, at whose facility the explosion occurred, for treatment and
disposal of the waste. in November 2020, we were named as a defendant in three lawsuits in relation fo the
incident — one by the third-parly disposal company, one by the estate of the decedent, and one by an injured
employee of the third-party disposal .company. At present, we have received insufficient information on the cause
of the explosion, We do not believe that we are liable for the incident, have asserted such, and, therefore, do nat
currently expect this matter to have a material impact on the Company’s financlal position or results of
operations.

The Group's financial instruments comprise bank and other loans, senlor loan notes, derivatives and trade
payables. Other than derivatives, the main purpose of these financial Instruments Is lo raise finance for the
Group's operations. The Group also has various financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and cash
equivalents, which arise directly from its operations.

A Treasury Committes, chalred by the Chief Financlal Officer, oversees the implementation of the Group's
hedging policles, including the risk management of currency and aluminum risks and the use of derivative
financlal instruments.

It is not the Group's policy or business actlvity to irade In derlvatives. They are only used to hedge underlying
risks occurring as part of the Group’s normal operaling activities.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign
currency translation and transaction risk, aluminum price risk and credit risk on trade receivables.

The Group regularly enters into forward currency conlracts to manage currency risks and when considered
suitable will use other financial derivatives to manage commodity and interest rate risks.

104




LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC

Interest rate risk

The Group has exposure to variable interest rates when it draws dowri on the revolving credit facllities. As a
result of this exposure, the Group may decide to hedge interest payable based on a combination of forward rate
agreements, interest rate caps and swaps. it has also used fixad rate debt within its financing structure to
mitigale volatifity in interesi rate movemenls,

Liquidity risk

To understand and monitor cash flows, the Group uses a combination of a short-term rolling six week cash

————foreeast—based-on-expected-daily_liquidity_requirements_and_longer_term_monthly.roliing_forecasts,_covering
forecast periads of between 6 and 18 months forward. The Group also prepares, at least annually, a longer-term
strategic cash forecast. Together this system of control is used to ensure the Group can fund its ongaing
operations, including working capital, capital expenditure and Interest payments and fo ensure that bank
covenant targets will be met. Short and medium term changes in liquidity needs are funded from the Group's
revolving bank faciiity, as disclosed (n Note 22, which provides the abliity to draw down and repay funds on a
daily basis, In monitoring Yquidity requirements and planning its working capital and capital expenditure
programs, the Group aims to maintain a sufficlently prudent level of haadroam against its banking facilities and
forecast covenant position as protection against any unexpected or sudden market shocks,

The Group also uses forecasts lo manage the compliance with any associated covenant tests in relation to the
Group's financing arrangements. The Group is subject to maintaining net debt to adjusted EBITDA levels of
betow three times, adjusted EBITDA to net interest above four times, and a number of other debt service tests
which include adjusted EBITDA, taxation, capital expenditure and pension payments.

The Group has been in compliance with the covenants under the Loan Notes due 2021, 2023 and 2026 and the
banking facilities throughout all of the quarterly measurement dates.

The maturity of the Group's llabilities Is also monitored to ensure sufficient funds remain availabie to meet
liabilities as they fall due. The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at
December 31, based on contractual payments.

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Within Within
12 1-5 >5 12 1-5 »>5
months years years Totali months years years Total
M n b0 W iM M o L]
Loan Notes due 2021 — — — — — 25.0 — 25.0]
Loan Notes dus 2023 —_ 254 —_ 25.0 _ 250 — 2506
Loan Notes dus 2026 — — 25.0. 25.0 — — 25.0 26,0}
Revolving credit facility - 41 - 4.1 — 17.5 — 178
|Lease ilabllity 2.4 4.1 3.5 9.7 3.3 6.0 5.7 15,0]
Deferred contingent
consideration — — — _ a.5 — — 0.5
{Trade‘pavables T o —_ 18.1 36.4 — — 36.41
Accruals and deferred Income 228 0.1 -— 22,8 26.8 0.6 — 27.4
linterest payable 0.3 — — 0.3 0.4 —- —— 0.41
Curren income tax 0.5 — — 0.5 0.1 _— —_ 0.1
| - 438 33,3 28.5  105.6 67.5 74.1 307 172.3)
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The table below summarizes the malurity profile of the Group's financial liabilties at December 31 based on
contractual undiscounted payments. Interest rates on the Group's varlable rate debt have been based on a
forward curve.

December 31, December 31,

2020 2019
M $M
|undiscounted contractual maturity of financial llabllities; ' ) 1
Amounts payabie:

[Within 12 months - - 46 725]
1-5 years 411 86.5
[> 5 years v ' 34.1 36.8]

1218 1958
E_ess: future finance charges - - (16.2) - (23._5?1
105.5 172.3

Capital risk managemont

The capital struclure of the Group consists of shareholders’ equity, debt and cash and cash equivalents. For the
foraseeable future, the Board will maintaln a capital structure that supports the Group's sirategic objectives
through:

= Managing funding and liquidity,
«  Optimizing shareholder return; and
« Maintaining a strong, investment-grade credit rating

The Group monitors its adjusted EBITDA, for continuing activities to net debt ratio, adjusted net income and
adjusted diluted earnings per share in its primary GAAP, that being US GAAP. These KPIs and reconcitiations to
GAAP measures can be found In our Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2021.

Credit risk

The Group only provides frade credit to creditworthy third parties. Credit checks are performed on new and
existing customers along with monitoring payment histories of customers. Ouistanding receivables from
customers are closely monitored to ensure they are paid when due, with both outstanding overdue days and
total days of sales outstanding reported as a business unit key performance measure. Where posslble sales are
also protected through the use of credit insurance. At December 31, 2020, the Group has a provision for bad and
doubtfu! debtors of $0.5 million (2019: $1.3 million) and no charge (2019: $1.2 million} has been made to the
consolidated income statement in relation to bad debls recognized in 2020.

The analysis of trade recelvables that were past dua but not Impaired is as follows:

Past due but not impaired

Neither-past
due nor <31 31-60 61-90 91-120 >120
Total impaired days days days days days
$M W M §M M $M. $M
[At December 31,2020 336 29.0 3.7 0.7 0.1 01 —]
At December 31, 2018 524 35.3 9.2 25 0.3 0.9 0.2

The Group also monitors the spread of its customer base with the objeclive of {rying to minimize exposure at a
Group and segment level to any one customer. The top 10 customers in 2020 represented 35% {2019: 27%) of
total revenue. There were no customers in 2020 or 2019 that represented over 10% of total revenue,
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Exchange rate risks

The largest risk Is from our operations in the U.K., which in 2020 generated sales revenue of $153.5 million.
Filuctuations in exchange rates, particutarly between the U.S. dolfar and GBP sterling (which has been subject to
significant fluctuations), can have a material effect on our consolidated income statement and consolidated
balance sheetl. In 2020, mavements in the average U.S. dollar exchange rate had a negative impact on revenue
of $0.3 miilion; in 2019, movements in the average U.S. dollar exchange rate had a positive impact on revenue
of $(9.5) million. Changes in translation exchange rates increased net assets by $2.9 million in 2020, compared
to an increase of $3.1 million In 2019.

Commaodity pricerisks

The Group s exposed to a number of commodity price risks, Including primary aluminum, magnesium, rare earth
chemicals, zircon sand and ather zirconium basic compounds. All have been subject to substantial increases in
recent years, Historically the two largest exposures to the Group have been the prices of aluminum and
magnesium and the Group will spend annually approximately $80 to $100 million on these two raw materials.

Aluminum is traded on the London Matal Exchange ("LME") and therefore the Group is able to use LME
derivative contracts to hedge a portion of its price exposure. In 2020 the Group purchased approximately 7,000
(2019: 8,000) metric tons of primary aluminum. The processed waste can be sold as scrap aluminum at prices
linked to the LME price. Basad on the 2020 level of aluminum purchasas, a $100 increase in the LME price of
aluminum would increase our Gas Cylinders sagment's costs by approximately $0.7 million.

In the jong-term, the Group has sought to recover the cast of increased commodity costs through price Increases
and surcharges. Any hedging of aluminum risk is performed to protect the Group against shortterm fluctuations
in aluminum costs.

[n 2020 the Group purchased approximately 3,000 (2019: 5,000} metric tons of primary magnesium. Magnesium
Is not traded on the LME so we are not able to maintain a hedge position of its price exposure.

The Group purchases various rare earth chemicals which it uses in the production of various materials produced
by its Elektron Segment and when these chemicals became subject to significant price volatility it used
surcharges on its praducts to maintain its product margins.

340, Financial instruments

The following disclosures relating to financial instruments have been prepared cn a basis which axcludes short-
term debtors and creditors which have resulted from the Group's aperating activities.

{a) Financlal instrumants of the Group

The financial instruments of the Group other than short-term deblors and creditors and non-current derivative
financial instruments were as follows:

Book value Falr value Book value Fair value
December 31, December 31, Decémber 31, December 31,
Financial instruments - 2020 2020 2019 2019
measured at amortized cost $M L0 M $M
‘flnancial assets: i l
Cash at bank and In hand 1.5 1.5 10.3 10.3
[Einancial liabliities™: ' . |
Loan Notes due 2021® — —_ 25.0 25.0
[Loan Notes due 20232 25.0 25,3 - 250 25.91
Loan Notes due 20267 25.0 26.0 25.0 26.2
|Revalving cradit factiity ' 41 41 17.5 17.5}
Deferred contingent conslderation — — 0.5 0.5

i Tha financlal instruments induded in financial liabilities are shown gross of unamiortized finance costs.

The falr value of these financial instruments Is calculated by discounting the future cash flows, including
interest payments due.

All financial assets mature within one year. The maturity of the financial liabilities is disclosed in Note 28.
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At Decemnber 31, 2020, the amount drawn in bank and other loans was $54.1 miillion (2019: $92.5 miliion), of
which $50.0 million was Jenominated in U.S. doliars {2019: $75.0 miilion) with the remainder being denominated
in GBP sterling.

Book value Falrvalue Bookvalue Fairvalue
Derivative financial Instruments - December December December December

measured at falr value through profit or 31, 2020 31, 2020 31,2019 31,2019
loss M _$M M sm
Field fo hedge purchases and sales by trading -~~~ . . - o e o p
businesses: " " ., - L. 8

Y

i g

.. Pl F)
2

o A Lk w -

Forward foreign curreficy exchange rate contracts {0.2) (0.2) (0.3} (0.3)
The falr valuc calculations were perforined on the following basis:

Cash at bank and in hand / overdrafts

The carrying value approximates to the fair value as a result of the short-termn maturity of the instruments.
Bank loans

At December 31, 2020, bank and other loans of $54.1 million (2019: $92.5 million)} were outstanding. At
December 31, 2020, bank and other loans are shown net of issue costs of $1.0 million (2019: $1.5 million) and
these issue costs are to be amortized to the expected maturity of the facilities. At December 31, 2020, $4.1
million (2019: $17.5 million) of the total $54.1 million (2019: $92.5 million) bank and other loans was variable
interest rate debt and subject to floating interest rate risk, with the remainder being fixed rate debt.

Forward foreign currency exchange rate contracts

The fair value of these contracts was calculated by determining what the Group would be expected to receive or
pay on termination of each individua! contract by comparison to present market prices.

Deferred contingent conslderation

Disclosure of the basls of calculation of the fair value of defarred contingent consideration is included within
Note 26 of the consolidated financial statements,
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Fair value hlerarchy

At Dacamber 31, 2020, tha Group used the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of
financlal instruments by valuation technique:

Leve! 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
obiservable, either directly or indirectly.

Leve! 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based

on cbservable markat data.

December 31,
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
m $M m M
Net derivative financial (assets) / llabiiities at ’ ) '
fair valua through profit or lass: .

Forward foreign currancy exchange rate contracts 0.2 — 0.2 —
[Interest bearing {oans and borrowings: |
Loan Notes due 2021 —-— — — —
lLoan Notes due 2023 25.0 — 25.0 —]
iL.oan Notes due 2026 25.0 — 250 —
[Revolving cradit facility ‘ 4.1 — 4.1 —1

During the year ended December 31, 2020, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements.

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended December 31, 2020 and
2019,

2020 2019
$M $M

IBalanca at January 4 0.5 0.9{

Payments made during year (0.4} {0.5)
|Unwind of discount an deferred consideration - ~_0.2)

Remeasurement of defarred conslderation (0.1} (0.1)
|Batance at December 3t - , — ~as]
Total (gains) / losses for the year included in profit and loss {0.4) 0.4

The deferred contingent consideration relates to estimations of amounts payable in the future regarding
acquisittons—madein—prior-years—TFhis-is-based-upon-an—estimate-of-the-future-profitability-of-the-businesses
versus targets agreed upen as part of the acquisitions.
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{b) Interest rate risks
Interest rate risk profile on financial assets

This table shows the Group's financial assets at December 31, which are cash and cash equlvalents. These
assets are all subject to floating interest rate risk.

December 31, December 31,

2020 2013
Cash by currency: $M $M
[US. dollar e (1:6) 6.1}
GBP sterling 1.0 1.9
{Euro T 0.2 ‘ 0.2]
Australian dollar —_ 0.6
{Chinese renminbi i A o ©T 1.1]
Canadian dollar 0.2 0.3
{Japanese yen . - S — 0.1]
1.5 10.3

The Group earns interest on cash balancas through either deposit accounts or placing funds on money markets
at short-lerm fixed rates. In all cases, with the exception of the restricted cash, interest earned is at
approximately ICELIBOR rates during the year.

Interest rate risk profile 6n financiat Nabliltles

The following table sets out the carrying value, by original maturity, of the Group's financlal instruments that were
exposed to both fixed and varlable interest rate risk, The carrying values include interest payments to be made
and interest rates on the Group's variable rate debt have been based on a forward curve.

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Within Within
12 1-5 >5 12 1-5 »>5
months years years Total months years years Total
M $M M $M M M M M

Floating Interest rate ' ' ' - - ‘

risk: .- ©T

Revolving credit facility

(including Interest

payments) —_— 42 — 42 1.0 19.0 — 200
[Fixed interest rate risk: § |
Loan Notes due 2021

(including interest

payments) — — — — 0.9 25.7 — 26.6
Loan Notes dug 2023 ~— ame e ro v r e et e e sa e m s
(Including nterest . ) .

payments) . 1,2 26.8 e . 28.0 1.2 28.0 —_ 20.2
Loan Notes due 2026

(including interest

payments) 1.2 4.9 256 N7 1.2 5.0 26.9 334
I ' 2.4 359 25.6 + 639 - 43 111 26.9 108.SJ

110




LUXFER HOLDINGS PLC

(¢} Hedging activities
Forward foreign currency exchange contracts

The Group utilizes forward forelgn currency exchange contracts to hedge significant future transactions and cash
flows tc manage its exchange rate exposures. The contracts purchased are primarily denominated in GBP
sterling, U.S. dollars, Euros and Australian dollars. The Group is also exposed to a number of other currencies
like Japanese yen and Canadian dollars with hedges against these an 8 more ad hoc basis, when expasures are
more slgnificant.

At December 31, 2020, the fair vaiue of forward foreign currency exchange contracts deferred in equity was nil

{20797 Rl DuRing 2020, Tl (20797 1555 of $0.1 milion) has been transferred o the consolliated Income
statement in respect of contracts that have matured in the year.

At December 31, 2020 and 2018, the Group heid various forward foreign currency exchange contracts
designated as hedges in respect of forward sales for LI.S. dollars, eusos, Japanese yen and Canadian dollars for
the receipt of GBP steriing or euros. The Group also held forward foreign currency exchange contracts
dasignated as hedges In respect of forward purchases for U.S. dollars, euros, Canadian dollars, Australian
dollars and Chinese yuan by the sale of GBP sterling. The contract totals in GBP sterling and Euros, range of
maturity dates and range of exchange rates are discicsed overleaf, with the valua denominated in GBP sterling
given that this is the currency the majerity of the confracts are held in.

December 31, 2020

Japanese Canadian
Safes hedges U.S. dollars Euros Yen dollars
{Contract totais/Em 3.0 11.1 0.1 0.1}
Maturity dates 01/21 t0 03/21  01/21 {0 04/21 01/21 o121
$1.3045t0  €1.0317t0 .
Exchange ratas $1.3667 €1.1181 _ JPY136.89 $1.7409
Canadian Australian Chinese
Purchase hedges U.S. dollars Euros doliars dollars yuan
IContract totals/Em 48 1.7 9.4 0.9 0.9]
Maturity dates 01/21 to 64/21 01121 ta 02121 o121 a1/21 03/21
‘ © $1.3046t0  €1.1065t0  $1,7409t0
limhange rates $1.3667 €1.0944 $1.7201 $1.7729 ¥8.9184
December 31, 2019
Sales hedges U.S. dollars Eures Japanese Yen
[Contract totals/m 0.1 78 0.1]
Maturity dates 01120 01/20 to 03/20 01/20
{Exchange rates 1.2944 €1.1551 10 €1,1750 JPY 142.86]
Purchase hedges °S. dollars EUras Canadian dollars
|Contract totals/Em , 1.3 0.8 , 7.0}
Maturity dates 03/20 03/20 1120
|Exchange rates 1.3228 1.1863  $1.7137 to $1.7664]

Aluminum commodity contracts
The Group did nat hold any forward aluminum commodity contracts at December 31, 2020 or 2019.
Forward interest rate agreements

The Group did not hold any forward interest rate agreements at December 31, 2020 or 2018.
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{d) Forelgn currency translation risk disclosures

Exchange gains and losses arising on the translation of the Group's non-U.S. asseis and llabllities are classified
as equity and transferred to the Group's translation reserve. In 2020, a gain of $2.9 million (2019: loss of $0.6
million) was recognized in translation reserves.

{e) Undrawn commiited facllitles

At December 31, 2020 and 2019 the Group had committed banking facilities of $150.0 million. Of the committed
facilities, $4.1 million was drawn at December 31, 2020 (2019: $17.5 million).

The Group had a separata {uncommitted) facility for letters of credit which at December 31, 2020 and 2019 was
£1.0 million {$1.3 million}. None of this were utilized at December 31, 2020 and 2019 respectively.

Tha Group also has two separate (uncommilted) bonding facilities for bank guarantees, one denominated in
GBP sterling of £4.5 million (2020; $6.1 million, 2019: $5.9 mlllion), and one denominated in USD of $1.5 million
{2019: $0.4 million). Of that denominated in GBP, £1.0 million ($1.4 million) was utilized at December 31, 2020
(2019: £1.6 million / $2.3 million). Of that denominated in USD, $0.8 miilion was utilized in December 31, 2020
{2019: fully utilized).

31. Retirement benefits

The Group has defined benefit pension plans in the UK., the U.S. and France. The levels of funding are
determined by periodic actuarial valuations. The assets of the plans are generally held in separate trustee-
administered funds. The Group also operates defined contribution plans in the UK, the U.S,, Australia and
Canada.

Remeasurements are recognized in full in the perlod in which they occur. The liability recognized in the balance
sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation, as.reduced by the falr value of plan assels.
The cost of providing benefils is. determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The principal defined benefit pension plan in the Group is the U.K. Luxfer Group Pension Plan ("the Plan"),
which closed fo new members in 1998, new employees then being eligible for a defined contribution plan. With
effect from April 2004, the Plan changed from a final salary to a career average revalued earnings benefit scale.
In August 2005, a plan specific earnings cap of £60,000 per annum subject to inflation increases was introduced,
the figure had risen to £76,000 in 2015, in October 2007, the rate of the future accrual for pension was reduced
and a longevity adjustment was introduced to mitigate against the risk of further unexpected increases in life
expectancies. In 2015, following a consultation with the Trustees and members, it was agreed the Plan would
close to future accrual of benefits effactive from April 5, 2016 and for the purpase of increasing pensions in
payment, to use the Consumer Prices Index ("CPI"} as the reference index in place of the Retail Prices Index
("RPI") where applicable. The remaining active members, numbering approximately 160, were transferred into a
defined contribution plan. The weighted average duration of the expected benefit payments from the Plan is
around 16 years. The pension cost of the Plan is assessed in accordance with the advice of an independent firm
of professionally qualified aciuaries, Lane Clark & Peacock LLP. The Plan is registered with HMRC for tax
oo ——— PUIFPOSES; Operates-separately-from-the-Group-and-is-managed. by-an.independent. set.of Trustees. The Plan____._ . .
operates under U.K. trust law and the trust is a separate iegal entity from the Group. The Pian is governed by an
independent board of Trustees, composed of two member nominated Trustees and four company appointed
Trustees.

The Trustees are required by law to act in the best interests of scheme members and are responsible for selting
certain policies {e.g. investment funding) together with the Company. A schedule of payments provides for deficit
funding, which comprises a shorifall-correction contribution totaling £3.9 million to be paid in the Plan year
commencing 6§ April 2018 and annual contributions of £4.1 million pald in sach Plan year thereafter until 31
December 2023.

The Group's other arrangements are less significant than the Luxfer Group Pension Plan, the largest baeing the
BA Holdings, Inc. Pension Plan in the U.S. In December 20085, this plan was closed to further benefit accrual with
members being offered contributions to that Company's 401(k) plan. At January 1, 20186, the L.S. pension plans
(BA Holdings, Inc. Pension Plan and Luxfer Hourly Pension Plan) merged into one plan.,

The total charge to the Group's consalidated income statement for 2020 for retirement benefits was a cost of
$5.4 milllon (2019: cost of $3.9 million).
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The movement in the pension liabilities is shown below:

2020 2019
$M $M
[@anc& at January 1 35.2 40.0J
Charged / (credited) to the consolidated income stalement:
|Past servica cost I ‘ : 0.1 =]
Seltlament gain —_ {0.9)
—{%allment credit - = (L.8)
Current service cost —_ 0.1
Net interest on net liability 1.0 1.4]
Administrative costs 0.9 09
|Cash cantributions {5.8) (7.9)
Charged / (credited) to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 19.0 23
{Exchange difference _ 0.4 1.1}
Balance at December 31 50.8 35.2

The financtal assumptions used in the calculations were:

Projected Unit Credit Valuation

LK. Non-U.K.
2020 2019 2020 2019
Y% % % %
[Dlscount rate 1.40 210 230 3.490]
Infiatlon ralated assumptions:

[Pre-2030 ]
Retail Price Inflation 2.90 2.90 nia —
|Cansumer Price Inflation 1.80 2.00 nia . nfal
Penslon increases—pre 6 April 1997 1.70 1.80 nla nla
| —1997 - 2005 1.90 2,10 n/a nial

—post 5 April 2005 1.60 1.70 n/a nfa
[Post-2030 . {
Retail Price Inflation 2,70 2.90 nia nfa
ICOnsumar Price Inflation 2.60 2.00 nla n/,

Pension increases—pre 6 April 1897 2.20 1.80 nia nfa
| —1997- 2005 2.60 2.10 nia nla
—poast-5-April-2005 200170 nla nla

2020 2018

& cipal actuar sumptions: Years Years
Mfa oxpectancy of male / female in the UK. aged 65 at accounting date 21.5/243 215/ 24._2‘

Life expectancy of male / female in the U K. aged 65 at 20 years after accounting date  22.9/25.8 22.8/725.7
Investment strategies

For the principal defined benefit pian in the Group and the UK., the Luxfer Group Pension Pian, the assets are
Invested in a diversified range of asset classes and Include matching assets (comprising fixad interest and index
linked bonds and swaps) and growth assets (comprising all other assetls). The Trustees have formulated a de-
risking strategy to help controi the short term risks of volatility assoclated with holding growth assets. The
Trustees also monitor the cost of a buy-in to secure pensioner liabilities with an insurance company to ensure
they and the Company are able to act if such an opportunity arises. Other options to progressively reduce the
scale of the liabilities are discussed between the Trustees and the Company.
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Risk exposures
The Group Is at risk of adverse experience relating to the defined benefit plans.

The plans hold a high proportion of assets in equity and other growth investments, with the intenlion of growing
the value of assets relative to liabllities. The Group is at risk if the value of liabilities grows at a faster rate than
the plans assets, or If there is a significant fall in the value of these assets not matched by a fall in the value of
liabilities. If these events occurred, this would be expected to lead to an increase in the Group's future cash
contrlbutions.

Special events

In 2019, a redundancy exercise took place in France which impacted the French pension plans. This resulted in
a curtailment galn of $1.8m and triggered Immediate recagnition of the unamortlzed net actuarlal losses of
$0.3m.

Also in 2019, the U.S. plan offered deferred members the opportunity to receive a lump sum in respect of their
benefits in the Plan. As a result, on 20 December 2019 jJump sums totaling $2.7m wera paid out. The defined
benefit obligation extinguished in this event was valued at $3.6m by the local actuary at this date based on the
2019 year-end discount rate of 3.1% pa. This triggered a settiement gain of $0.9 million

The amounts recognized In the consolidated income statement in respect of the pension plans were as
follows:

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019

Non- Non-
UK. UK. Total UK, U.K. Total

$M $M 4 M M $M M

[in respect of dsfined benefit plans: i |
Current service cost — - —_ — 0.1 0.1
ENet Interest an net liabitity 0.9 041 1.0 1.1 0.3 1,4]
Administrative expenses 06 0.3 0.9 0.5 04 0.9
|Past service cost. _ T 0.1 — 0.1 — T — -— |
Selttlament gain — —_ —_ — {0.9) {0.9)
{Curtallment credit . - = ) — . (1.8) .(1.8)
Total charge for defined benefit plans 1.6 0.4 2.0 1.6 {1.9) (0.3}
[in respect of defined contribution plans: : . ; : ]
Total charge for defined conlribution plans 1.5 1.9 34 21 241 4.2
{Total charge for pension plans r. 34 2.3. 54 3.7 0.2 3.91

Of the total charge for the year, charges of $3.4 million and $0.8 mitllon (2019: $4.3 million and $0.9 million) have
been included in cost of sales and administrative costs, respectively and a charge of $1.0 million. (2019: $1.4
million} has been included in finance costs. In 2019 an additional credit of $2.7 million has been recognized as
changss to defined bensfit pension plans in the consolidated income statement.

For the year, the amount of loss recognized in the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income is $12.0
million (2019: loss of $2.3 million).

The actual return of the plans assets was a gain of $33.0 million {2019: gain of $51.7 million).
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The value of the plans assats and liabilities were!

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019
UK. Non-U.K.  Total U.K. Non-U.K. Total

$M M $M $M M M
{Assets In active markets: : ' |
Equities and growth funds 152.3 26.9 179.2 146.8 26.2 173.0
| Government bonds 63.1 — 63.1 52.7 — 52.7]
Corporate bonds, 141.6 18.1 159.7 129.1 16.2_ 1453
{cash 1.9 - 1.9 0.1 . — 0.1]
Tota) market value of assets 358.9 45.0 403.9 328.7 424 a7ria
[Present value of plan liabllitles {404.0) {50.7) {454.7) {359.2) (47.1) (406@
Deficit in the plans (45.1) (5.7) {50.8) (30.5) (4.7) {(35.2)
{Related deferred incoma tax assets 8.9 1.0 9.9 5.0 0.8 548!
Net pension liabilities {36.2) (47} 140.9) {25.5) (3.9) (29.4)

The plans do not invest directly in property occupled by the Group or in financial securities issued by the Group.

Analysis of movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations:

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019
u.K. Non-UK. Total UK, Non-UK. Total

M $™ M $M $M $M

[t January 1 359.2 47.1 408.3  315.2 468  362.0|
Current service cost . — — —_— e 0.1 0.1
{interest on obiigation 7.0 1.4 8.4 9.2 1.8 11.1]
Actuarial (osses on financial

assumptlons 458 51 50.9 39.8 6.4 46.0
Acluarial gains on demographic .
[a—ssumptlons — (0.4) {0.4) — {0.5) (0.5§
Actuarial losses on plan experience (6.1) — {8.1) (1.2} — {1.2)
{Exchange difference 12.7 — 12.7 10.0 - 0.0}
Benefils pald (14.7) @5  (11.2) (13.6) (2.2) (15.8)
ﬁst sarvice cost 0.4 — 0.1~ — — —|
Curtailment credit — —_ — — {5.4) (5.4}
[At December 31 4040 50.7 __ 4547 __ 3582 47.1 406.3

The-sensitivities-regarding-the principal-assumptions-used to-measure-the-present value .of the. defined-benefit
obligations are set out below:

Impact on total defined

Assumption Change in assumption benefit obllgatlons
ﬁiSCOUm rate . Increasel/decrease by 0.1% Decreasefincraase by‘ﬂ]_’/-J
CP! inflation {and relatad increases} (ncrease/decrease by 0.1% increase/decrease by 8%
[Posl retirement mortalily Increase by 1 year ) Increase by _31@]

The sensitivities have been caiculated to show the movement in the total defined benefit obligation in isolation,
assuming no other changes In market conditions at the accounting date. In practice, for example, a change in
discount rate Is likely to be associated with a movement in the value of the invested assets held by the plans.
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Analysis of movement in the present value of the fair value of plan assets:

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019
UK. Non-U.K, Total UK. Non-U.K. Total
$M $M $M $M $M M
fAt January 1 328.7 42.4 3714 . 2835 385  3220)
Interest on plan assels 6.1 13 7.4 8.0 1.7 9.7
|Actuarial gains / (losses) 21.3 44 25.4 36.5 55 42.0]
Exchange-difference 12:3 12.3 8:9 —_ 8.8
Eontnbuilons from employer 5.8 — 5.8 5.9 2.0 7.9!
Administrative expenses {0.6) (0.3} (0.9) (0.5) {0.4) (0.9)
|Banefits pald (14.7) {2.5) {17.2) {(13.8) (2.2) (15.8)
Settlament —_ —_ — — (2.7) {2.7)
[at Decamber a1 358.9 45.0 403.9 328.7 42.4 371.1|

The estimated amount of employer contributions expected to be paid to the defined benefit pension plans for the
year ending December 31, 2021 Is $5.8 million (2020: $5.8 million actual employer contributions).

32. The Luxfer Group Employee Share Ownership Plan
The trust

in 1997, the Group sstablished an employee benefit trust ("the ESOP") with independent Trustees, to purchase
and hold shares In the Group in trust to be used to satisfy options granted to eligible senior employees under the
Group's share plans established from time to time.

The ESOP was established with the benefit of a gift equivalent to the set up and running costs. Purchase monies
and costs required by the ESOP Trustees to purchase shares for and under the provisions of the trust are
provided by way of an Interest free loan from a Group subsidiary. The loan Is repayable, in hormal
circumstances, out of monies received from senior employees when they exercise options granted to them over
shares. Surplus shares are held by the ESOP Trustees to satisfy future option awards, The ESOP Trustees have
waived their right to receive dividends on shares held in trust. The Remuneration Committee is charged with

determining which senior employees are to be granted options and in what number subject to the relevant plan
rules.

The current plan

The current share option plan, implemented by the Group In February 2007 Is The Luxfer Holdings Executive
Share Option Plan ("the Plan”), which consists of two parts. Parl A of the Plan is approved by HM Revenue &
Customs and Part B is unapproved. Options can be exerclsed at any time up to the tenth anniversary of their
grant subject to the rules of the relevant part of the Plan. As a result of the LLP.O. all leaver restrictions over the
shares were relaased. There are no other performance criterja attached to the options.

Movements In the year

The movement in the number of shares held by the Trustees of the ESOP and the number of share options held
over those shares are shown below:

Number of shares held by ESOP Trustees

£0.0001 deferred £0.50 ordinary
shares shares
|At January 1, 2020 e 15,977,968,688 1,218,220}
Shares ulilized during the year — (131,909)
|Shares transferred from ESOP during the year — {70,799)
At December 31, 2020 15,977,968,668 1,013,512

At December 31, 2020, the loan outstanding from the ESOP was $0.6 million (2019: $0.6 million).

The market value of each £0.50 ordinary share held by the ESOP at December 31, 2020 was $16.42 {2019:
$18.51).
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33. Share based compensation

Luxfer Holdings PLC Long-Term Umbrella Incentive Plan and Luxfer Holdings PLC Non-Executive
Directors Equity incentive Plan

As an important retention tool and to align the long-term financial interests of our management with those of our
shareholders, the Group adopted the Luxfer Holdings PLC Long-Term Umbrella Incentive Plan (the “LTiP") for
the Group's senior employees, and the Luxfer Holdings PLC Non-Executive Directors Equity Incentivs Plan (the
"Director EIP") for the Nan-Executive Directors.

—— —____ The equity or equity-related awards under the LTiP and the Director EIP are based on the ordinary shares of the

Group. The Remuneration Committes adminislers the LTIP and have the power to determine to whom the
awards will be granted, the amount, type and other terms. Awards granted under the LTIP generally vest one-
third each year over a threa-year pariod, subject to continuous employment and certain ather conditions, with the
exercise period expiring five years after grant date, Awards granted under the Director EIP are non-discretionary,
are purely time-based and vest over one year, with settlement occurring immediately on vesting.

Share option and restricted stock awards

In March 2020, a combined 132,800 of Restricted Stock Units and Options over ordinary shares were granted
under the LTIP, which were all time-based awards vesting aver four years and expiring two years later. In May
2020, a combined 2,000 of Restricted Stock Units and Options over ordinary shares were granted under the
LTIP, which were all time-based awards vesting over four years and expiring two years later. In June 2020, a
combined 27,280 of Restricted Stock Units and Options over ordinary shares were granted under the Director
EIP, which were all time-based awards that would fully vest one year later. In September 2020, a combined
3,892 of Restricted Stock Units and Options over ordinary shares were granted under the LTIP, which were all
time-based awards vesting over four years and expiring two years later.

In March 2019, a combined 196,320 of Restricted Stock Unite and Options over ordinary shares were granted
under the LTIP, which were all time-based awards vesting over four years and expiring two years later. In May
2019, a comblned 3,981 of restricted Stock Units and Options over ordinaty shares were granted under the
Director EIP, which were all time-based awards that would fully vest cne year later. In December 2018, a
combined 6,000 of Restricted Stock Units and Options over ordinary shares were granted under the LTIP, which
were all ime-based awards, vesting over four years and expiring two years later.

Total share-based compensation expense for 2020 and 2019 was as follows:

2020 2019
$M™ $M

|Share based compensation charges 2.8 4.51

There weare no cancellations or modifications to the awards in 2020 or 2018,

The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from option exercises totaled $0.6 million and $0.9 million
in 2020 and 2019 respectively.

The following table illustrates the number of, and movements In, share options dusing the year, with each option

relating o 1 ordinary shara:

2020 2020 2019 2019
Weighted Welghted
average average
exercise exercise
Number price Number price
[At January 1 467,362 $0.75 849,062 $2.1]
Granted during the year 168,072 $1.00 212,418 $0.8
[Exercised during the year (222,375) $0.71% {491,216) $2.65]
Accrued dividend awards 14,727 $0.84 13,838 $0.72
[Lapsed during the year {12,982) $0.90 (118,741} $2.43)
At December 31 412,804 $0.87 467,362 $0.76
|Options exercisabie at Dacember 31, 11,495 $0.66 8,903 $0.66]

Oplions expected to vest as of December 31, 401,309 $0.88 458,459 $0.75
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The weighted average fair value of options granted in 2020 and 2019 was estimated to be $9.41 and $17.65 per-
share, respeclively. The total Intrinsic value of options that were exercised during 2020 and 2019 was
$3.0 million and $11.2 million respectively with the average share price during the year being $14.46 and $19.97
for 2020 and 2019 respectively. At December 31, 2020, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to
share options was $2.2 million (2019: $2.7 million). This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 1.3 years.

The following table illustrates the assumptions used in deriving the fair value of share options during the year:

2020 2019
|Dividend yield (%) -~ . ' N o 3.30-4.00 - 2.10]
Expectled volatility range (%) 36.48 - 56.28 35.06 - 44.20
|Risk-free Interest rate (%) . . " 018-049 0.74 - 2.52|
Expected life of share oplions range (years) 0.50 - 4.00 0.50 - 4.00
[Forfeiture rate (%) ) . i 500 . ' 5.00}
Weighted average exerclse prica ($) $1.00 $1.,00
|Model used _ ) e ", Black-Scholes  Black-Scholes
N ) . - ; <o 0L s8Monte-Carlo” & Monte-Carlo

The expected life of the share aptions is based on historical data and current expectations and is not necessarily
indicative of exercise patterns that may ocecur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility over a period similar to the life of the options is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be
the actual cutcome. .

Employee share incentive plans

The Group operates an all-employee share incentive plan In its UK. and U.S. operations and will laok to
impiement plans in other geographic regicns.
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34. Related party transactions
Joint venture In which the Company Is a venturer

In July 2020, the Company sold its 51% investment in the aquity of its previous joint venture, Luxfer Uttam Indla
Privale Limited. During 2020, prior to tha sale, the Gas Cylinders segment made $1.5 million (2019: '$6.4 million)
of sales to the joint venture. At December 31, 2020, the entity was no longer a related-party. At December 31,
2019 the gross amounts receivable from the joint venture amounted to $2.9 million and the net amounts
receivable amounted to $2.7 mitlion.

—  During 2020,_the Group also_maintained its 50%_investment in the equity of the joint venturs, Nikkei-MEL

Company Limited. During 2020, the Eleklron segment made $0.6 million of sales to the Joint venture (2019: $0.7
million). At December 31, 2020, the gross and net amounts receivable from the joint venture amounted to $0.2
million (2019: $0.1 million).

Assoclates In' which the Company holds an Interest

During 2020, SUB161 Pty Limited, in which the Company held 26.4% equity. was liquidated as it no longer
traded. During 2020, the Group made nil sales (2019: nil) to the associate. At December 31, 2020, the amounts
receivable fram the assoclate denominated in Australian dollars was nil (2019: nil).

Transactions with other related parties

At December 31, 2020, the directors and key management comprising the members of the Executive Leadership
Team, owned 425,413 £0.50 ordinary shares (2019: 377,424 £0.50 ordinary shares) and held awards over a
further 248,522 £0.50 ordinary shares (2019: 302,752 £0.50 ordinary shares),

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2018, share options heid by membars of the Executive
Leadership Team were exercised; information relating to these exercises is disclosed in the Remuneration
Raport on pages 39 to 56.

Cherokee Properties Inc. represented a related party in 2019 due to its assoclation with Chris Barnes, who was
until July 2019 the president of one of our operating segments and is the president of Cherckee Properties Inc.
During 2019, we engaged with Cherokee Properties Inc. for rentai and associated costs regarding our
manufacturing site in Madison, iL for the value of $1.1 million. We continue to engage with Chercke Properties
inc. aithough not as a related-party.

Other than the transactions with the joint ventures, associates and key management personnel disclosed above,
no other related party transactions have been identified.

35. Post Balance Sheet Events

On March 15, 2021 we completed the acquisition of Structural Composites industries ("SCI") business of
Worthington Industries, Inc. for $20 million in cash, subject to working capital adjustments. SCI Is a U.S.
composite cylinder business based in Pomona, Galifornia. The acquisition will complement our existing Gas
Cylinders_composite.business.and allow_us to Increase focus_on Alternative Fuels product fines.

On March 25, 2021, we sold the trade and assets of our U.S aluminum cylinder business for $21m million cash,
a gain of $6.7 million has been recognized in 2021, net of $2.8 million tax.. The net assets were presented as
held-for-sale In the consolidated balance shest as at December 31, 2020, and its results from operations were
presented as discontinued in both the current and prior year.
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

All amounts in mitlions

At Decambar 31, AtDecembar 31,

2020 2018

Nots £M £M

rssﬁr?mrmmmmm&wmnmﬁ P e e ey yp—, g M

[ L A WY X IS T PR TR P R O o i e T S e e ol - uu....u.:.u..._.‘ PP EETR Ry R
Non-current assets

fcurrent assets ARG

Trade and other recelvables i 7 o O ' ‘ 26.0 . 2.6

 Dsferved shars capital & 3

Share premium account 515 48,4
33 B Wmmmmrw

Retalned earmnings 1374 139.8
f'ﬁﬁnwshgres%fdsy ESoP ':- SR REE] U (L IO T -.--4—2;,-‘_. .~ .- "(“'(T) & i)
Share based compensation reserve 42 {5.7) {5.4)

t Capital and reserves attibutable 16 the Comipany's equlty shareholders . 2m0a L, oo 2707

TFoial equity

R R R

Non.current Iiabllitles

[Bank and other, Ioansﬁérgt ng_‘_‘m‘u wr"r T

Rellrament baner ts

Curre nt Ilabllltles

fTrade'and other pgygﬁﬁs%&%.' mﬁﬁﬁmjmﬁﬂ B vt o S PLE
JTotal bS8 X T Y AT o e gl 1} A

FTOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 5 i Ay e g his £ 1 SRTV R of Ui b 1 A et 30,3 - o €08 JAT25!

ke e

The Group has taken advantage of the exemption provided under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to
present Luxfer Holding PLC's Company income statement, Net profit for the year was £19.1 million (2019: loss of
£0.6 million)

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ON PAGES 120 TO 134 WERE APPROVED BY THE BOARD ON APRIL 29, 2021 AND
SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF:

/A

Alok Maskara
April 29, 2021
Company Reglstration no. 03690830
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

All amounts in millions

2020 2019
Nota £M £M
[CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ' |
Net income / {loss) for the year 191 (0.6)
FAdjustments to reconclle net income-/ (loss) for the year to net cash flows from
continuing operating activities:
Deferred income taxes 0.7 0.7
[Share based compensation charges net of cash seftisment 1.2 (0.1}
Net interast {2.8) {3.8)
[ Dividends recelved , (14.5) |
Exchange difference charged Y Income statement 2.1 1.7
[ €hangesTn operating assets and liabiiltles: d
Increase in recelvables {24.6) {0.6)
{ (Decrease)/increase in payables (33.1) 53]
Movement In retirement bensfits obligations {3.8) {3.8)
[NET CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES {55.7) (1.2)
{ CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ]
Dividends received 14.5 —
| Intercompany Toans: dabt funding 66.3 1.6}
Intercompany loans: Interest received 4.8 6.5
l NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES . 85.8 .1J
NET CASH FLOWS BEFORE FINANCING 29.9 6.9
H ' |
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
| Interast and similar finance costs paid on banking facilities {0.5) —~|
Interest pald on Loan Noles {0.7) {0.7)
[Repayment on Loan Notes (A8.7) =]
Dividends paid {10.8) {(10.7)
[ Shares sold from ESOP 0.8 2.8]
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES {29.9) (8‘6)]
r— -

NET MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — (1.7)
] Net foreign exchange differances — ~—|
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 41 - 1.7
[€ash and cash squivalents at December 31 41 — —

During the year ali intercompany balances were converted into trading loans.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
All amounts in millions

Equilty attributable to the equity shareholders of the parent

Ordinary Deferred Share Own  Share based
share share premium Treasury Retalned shares held compansation Totat
capital capital account shares earnings by ESOP reserve  equity
Nota £8 £ EM £M £M £M £M EM
[At Janyary 1, 2018 145 . 762 425 - (28) 1524 (1.8) (0.6) 2803l
Nset Incoma for the year — — — _— {0.6} — _ (0.6)
Remeasurement of defined ‘ ' . ' R
benasfit retiremeant pian ' - _ _ R (3.4) . - i (1.4)
Deferrad Income taxes on
ltems taken to other
comprohensive income — —_ — _ 0.4 — —_— 04
Total comprehensive ] ' . oo
" Income for the year — —_— — — . (1.8) R . — . (16}
Equity dividends — —_ — —_— {o.n — — {107}
Equlty seitied share based ‘ - _ A
compensallon charges - 45 — —_ — — —_ —_ 3.1 3.1
Shares sold from ESOP 42 —_ —_ 28 — — 0.2 — 28
Utllization of {reasury R - o
shares 42 — — 0.1 0.2 — : ' 00 03
Uillizallon of ESOP sharas 42 —_ —_ 4.2 -_ — 8.2 (7.9} {3.5}
Other changes In equity In _ i :
the year — — 6.8 0.2 (10.7) 0.4 (4.8}  (8.0)
At Decoamber 31, 2019 14.5 76.2 49.4 {2.8) 139.8 {1.2) (54} 2707
[Nel profit for the year — —— . = — 19.1 " — 18,1
Remeasurement of defined
benefit retirement plan — — — —_ 13.3) _— — (13.3)
Deferred Income taxes on . : -
ilems taken to other ‘ PN
compraehensive Income — — — — 2.8 . —~ 28
Total comprehensive loss
for the year — - — — 8.4 —_ — 84
| Equity dividends pald — — —_ —_ {10.8) — — _ {10.8)
Equity ssitled share based
compensation charges é2 — — — —_— —_ —_ 2.2 2.2
Sharas sold fram ESOP .
. 42 — — 0.7 —_ - = o4 — 0.8
Utilization of ESOP shares 42 — - 1.4 — — 01 {2.5) 1.0}
Other changes in equity i
In the year —_ —_ 2.1 - {10.8) 0.2 {0.3)  (a.8y
At December 31, 2020 14.5 76.2 51.5 (2.6) 137.4 (1.9 {5.7) _ 270.3
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36. Significant accounting policies
Authorization of financial statements

The Company financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 were authorized for issue by the
Board of Directors on Aprii 29, 2021 and the bafance shest was signed on the Board's behalf by A. Maskara.
Luxfer Holdings PLC is a company incorparated and demiciled in England and Wales.

Basls of preparation

The-Company financialstatements-have-been-prepared-inaccordance-with-international-accounting-standards-in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as they apply to comparnies reporting under IFRS,

The accounting policies set out in this note to the finandial statements have been -applied in preparing these
financial statements and comparative Information.

The Company financlal statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except where IFRS requires
or permits fair value measurement, and are presented in GBP, the functional currency of the Company. From
January 1, 2021 the functional-and presentational currency will be USD.

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in
‘operational existence for tha foreseeable future. In assessing the appropriateness of adopting the going concermn
basis in the preparation of these financial statements, cash forecasts and projections have been prepared to
Jung 2022, Throughout the forecastsed period, there is sufficient headroom in our covenant compliance which
would enable the Graup to drawdown on the RCF and therefore not impact the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern. Therefore the directors continue to apply the going concern basis for accounting in the
preparation of the Company financlal statements.

Investments
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.

Loans to subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures are inilially recorded at fair value; they are then
subseguently carried at amortised cost. The loans are interest bearing.

The Company grants share-based payments to the employees of subsidiary companies. Each period, the fair
value of the employse services received by the subsidiary as a capital contribution from the Company is
reflacted as an addition to investments.

The Company has appiled IFRS 9 and the expected credit loss mode! when valuing Its. loans to Investments.
Functional and presentational currency

ltems included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates {"the functional currency”), which is GBP sterling. The.
presentational currency of the Company is GBP sterling.

Other-accounting-policies

As applicable, the accounting policies of the Company follow those of the Group set out in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. The critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty
applicable for the Company financlal statements are impairment of non-financlal assets, pensions and deferred
income taxes.
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37. Directors’ interests

Disclosure of individual directors' remuneration, share interests, share options, long-term incentive schemes,
pension contributions and pension entitlements required by the Companies Act 2006 are shown within the
Remunaration Report on pages 39 to 56 and form part of these financial statements.

38. Investments

Investments in Loans to
subsidiary subsidiary Capital

undertakings  undertakings contributions Total

£M £M £M £M
[Cost and net book value: ' ) |

At January 1, 2019 218.0 108.8 7.2 3340
|Agditions — — 1.3 1.3]
Repayment of loans to subs — {1.6) — (1.6)
|Exchange differance — .(2.3) — (2.3}

At December 31, 2018 218.0 104.9 8.5 3314
|Additions — 3.8 3.8]
Repayment of loans to subs — (66.3) - (66.3)
|Exchange difference — {1.0) — (1.0).

At December 31, 2020 218.0 37.8 12.3 267.9

Details of the Investments in which the Group or the Company holds share capital at December 31, 2020, are as
follows:

Country of Proportion of voting Nature of
Nama of company Incorporation Holding rights and shares held husiness
{8A Hotdings, Inc.* u.s.? Common stock 100% Holding company}
Biggteswick Limited * England and Wales® Ordinary shares 100% Non trading
[ﬁx!er Group Services Limiled * England and Wales® Ordinary shares 100% Property Servlces]
Lumina Trustee Limited ' England and Wales® Ordinary shares 100% Trustes company
[fuxter Australla Pty Limited * Australia® Qrdinary shares 100% Distrlbuuon]
{uxter Gas Cylinders Limlted * England and Wales? Ordinary sharas 100% Enginearing
{Luxfer Gas Cylinders China Hoidings Limited * _England and Wales® Ordinary sharas 100% _ Holding ccmpany]
Luxfer Gas Cylinders (Shanghal) Co., Limited*  Republic of China’ Ordinary shares 100% Manufacturing
|Luxfer Group Limited England and Wales? . Ordinary shates 100% Halding mmpany]
Luxfar Group 2060 Limited England and Wales? Ordinary shares 100% Holding company
{Luxfer Group UK Pension Trustes Limited*# England and Wales® Ordinary shares 100% Non trading|
Luxfer, Inc.* us.? Commor stock 100% Engineering
iLuxfar Overseas Holdings Limiled * England and Wales® QOrdinary shares 100% Holding oompany]
Magneslum Elektron Limited * England and Wales? Qrdinary shares 100% Manufacturing
|MEL Chemicals, inc.* U.s!  Common stock/ - 100% Manufaciuring|
Preferenca-shares:

[Magneslum Elektron North America, Inc. * ust Comrnon stock 100% Manufacluring]
Nilagara Metallurglzal Products Limited * Canada® Common stock 100% Manufacturing
|Reads Manufacturing, Inc.* U.S*  Common stock 100% Manufaciuring]
Luxfer Gas Cylinders S.A.5. * France* Qrdinary shares 100% Enginearing
{Luxfor Canads Limitad * o Cenada'® Comimon stock 100% Enginearing|
Luxfer Germany GmbH * Germany'!  Ordinary sharas 100% Enginaering
|Luxfer Magtach Inc.* us’t Cormmon sfock 100% Manufacturing |
Luxfaer Magtech Intematienal Limited * England and Wales? Common stock 100% Manufacturing
]GT™M Tachnologles, LLC * T uUsY Capltal Inlerest 100% Englnasriﬁﬁ]

Country of Proportion of voting Nature of

Name of company Incorperation Holding rights and shares held business
[OtherInvestments _. . e et s e
Nikkel-MEt. Co Limited * Japan'?  Ordinary shares 50% Distribution

All shareholdings stated are valid for both 2020 and 2019 except where indicated
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?ubsidiary undertakings are all held direclly by the Company unless indicated.
Held by a subsidiary undertaking,

¥ Raglstared in 2020

! Acts as bare trustee In connection with the 2007 share capltal rearganisation,

* Reglstered address: Lumns Lane, Manchester, 27 8LN, England.

? Reglsterad address: 1679 S, Dupont Hwy, Ste 100, Dover, DE 189081, U.S,

* Registared address: 7 Rua de Tindustrie, 63360 Gerzat, France.

% Reglstared address: The Corporation Trust Company, Corporate Trust Center, 1208 Orange Street, Wilmington, DE 19801, U.S.

® Reglsterad address: Unit 4, 171-175 Newton Road, Wetheri!l Park, NSW 2164, Australia.

7 Reglstered address: No, 123, Lane 150, Pingbel Road, Minghang District, Shanghal, PRC 201108, China.

" Reglstered address: c/o CT Corporation, 830 Bear Tavemn Road, Trenton, NJ 08628, U.S.

® Registerad addrass: David Toswell of Blake, Gassals & Graydan LLP, 1114 Harvest Drive, Pickering, ON, L1X 186, Canada.

18 Registerad-address+(Torys)-526-8th-Avanue-S:W,46th-Floar,-Eighth-Avenue-Place-East -Calgary-Alberta, T2P-1G1, Canada

 Registered address: Am Aften Stadlpark 37, 44731 Bochum, Germany.
2 Registered address: Corporatian Service Gomp., 2711 Canterville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, County of New Gastle, DE 19808, USA
*Registered address: NYK Tennoz Building, 2-20 Higashi-Shinagawa 2-chome, Shinagawa-ku, Tokyo, 140-8628, Japan

During 2020 the Group disposed of one of its joint ventures, Luxfer Uttam India Private Limited and liquidated its
associate, Sub 161 Pty Limited.

39. Deferrad Income taxes

Tax losses and Retirement
other {iming berneflt
differances oblitgations Total
£M £M
JAt January 1, 2018 . 3.2 4.6 7.8(
Creditad/(chargad) to income statement 0.3 (1.0) (0.7)
['Charged to other comprehensive Income - 04 0.4]
At December 31, 2019 35 4.0 1.5
| Charged to income statement {0.5) *{0.2) 0.7)
Creadited to other comprshensive income _— 286 26
{At Decembar 31, 2020 3.0 6.4 9.4\

At the balance sheat date, the Company has no unrecognized deferred income tax assets relating to losses
(2019 ni), A deferred tax asset of £3.0 million (2019: £3.5 million) has been recagnized in redation to timing
differences and losses, 1o the extent that it is deemed probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
against which the losses may be utilized.

40. Trade and other recelvables

December 31, December 31,

2019

£M £M
[ Amounis owed by Group undertakings 25.5 1.9]

Other.debtors 0.5 0.7
r , ‘ 28.0 2.6{

The amounts owed by Group undertakings are unsecured and repayable on demand,

The other debtors balance relates to unamortized finance costs attributed to the revolving credit facility. As the
facliity was nil at the year end, these finance costs have been reclassified from bank and other joans info other
deblors.

41. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is swept into a concentration account held within a subsidiary uridertaking. Cash at bank and In hand earns
interest at floating rates hased on daily bank deposit rates. The directors consider that the camrying value of cash
and cash equivalents approximates to their fair value.
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42, Share capital and Reserves
{(a) Ordinary share capital

December 31, Dacember 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2020 2019
No. No. £M £M
[ Autharized: . : - o - - A
Ordinary shares of £0.50 each 40,000,000 40,000,000 20.0 20.0
[D_gferred ordinary.shares of £0.0001 each 761,845,338,444 761,845,338,444 - 76.2 Lo .'76.21
761,885,338, 444 761,685,336 444 96,2 6.2
[ Allotted, called up and fully paid: ' |
Ordinary shares of £0.50 each 26,000,000 28,000,000 14.5 14.5
[Deferred ordinary shares of £0.0001 eacfl 761,835,338,444  761,835.338444 : . 76.2 S 76.2]
761,864,338,444 761,864,338,444 90.7 90.7

The rights of the shares are as follows:
Ordinary shares of £0.50 each

The ordinary shares cafry no entitlement to an automatic dividend but rank parf passu in respect of any dividend
declared and paid. The ordinary shares were allotted and issued to satisfy share awards which vested under the
Company's share award and share incentive plans.

Deferred ordinary shares of £0.0001 each

The deferred shares have no entitlement to dividends or to vote. On a winding up (but not otherwise) the
holders of the deferred shares shall be entitled to the repayment of the paid up nominal amount of the deferred
shares, but only after any payment to the holders of ordinary shares of an amount equal to 100 times the amount
pald up on such ordinary shares,

{b) Share premium account
£M
|At January 1, 2019 ) 42.5]
Shares sold from ESOP 26
[Utilization of treasury shares ‘ 0.1]
Utilization of ESOP shares 4.2
[At December 31, 2019 ' j 49.4]
Sharas sold from ESOP 0.7
|utitization of ESOP shares 1.4
At December 31, 2020 51.5

The share premium account is used to record the excess of proceeds over nominat value on the issue of shares.
Share issue-costs-directly-related-to-the issue.of-shares.are.deducted-from-share-premiums:

{c) Treasury shares

£M
[At January 1, 2018 i ' ‘ (2.8)
Utilization of treasury shares 0.2
[at December 31, 2019 ,  (2.8)
At Dacembar 31, 2020 {2.6)

In June 2015, the Board announced a share buy-back program of up to $10 million, to cover the needs of
employee share plans. Shareholder approval for this program was granted at the 2014 Annual General Meeting
{for repurchases up to an aggragate amount of 2,700,000 ordinary shares).

At December 31, 2020, there were 350,335 treasury shares held at a cost of £2.6 million (2019: 352,499
treasury shares held at a cost of £2.6 million).
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(d) Own shares held by ESOP

£M
[Al January 71,2018 (1.6}
Litilization of ESOP shares 0.2
 Shares sold from ESOP - ~02]
At Dacember 31, 2019 (1.2)
I Utilization of ESOP shares . ) ] 0.1)
Shares sold from ESOP 0.1
o ——3 At Decernbar-31-2020 - —(1:0-

At December 31, 2020, there were 1,013,512 ordinary shares of £0.50 each (2019: 1,216,220 ordinary shares of
£0.50 each) held by Tha Luxfer Graup Employee Share Ownershig Plan.

43. Bank and other loans

December 31, December 31,

2020 2019
Non-current £M £
[ Loan Notes due 2021 - gross — 18.9]
Unamorlized financa costs — (0.1)
| Loan Notes due 2021 - net . - - 18.8

The seven-year private placement was repayable in full in 2021, and bore Interest at 3.67% and was unsecured.
Howaever, we voluntarily chose to repay the notes early, on December 31, 2020. Therefore, at December 31,
2020, the total amount outstanding on the Loan Notes due 2021 was nil, which is shown In bank and other loans.

At December 31, 2020, there were £0.5 million of unamartized finance costs attributed to the revolving credit
facility. As the facilily was transferred to a subsidiary undertaking during 2019, these finance costs have been
raciassified into other deblors.

The maturity profile of the Group's undiscounted contractual payments is disclosed in Note 29 in the
consolidated financial staternents.

44, Trade and other payables

Dacember 31, Decomber 31,

2019

£M £M
{ Amounis owed 1o Group undaniakings i — - 28.7|
Accruals — 0.2
[~ : ' = 28.6]

The amounts owed to Group undertakings were unsaecured, repayable on demand and no interest was charged.
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45. Financial instruments

The foliowing disclosures relating to financial instruments have been prepared on a basls which excludes
short-term debtors and creditors which have resulted from the Company’s operating activities.

(a) Financial instruments of the Company

The financial instruments of the Company other than short-term debtors and creditors were as follows:

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2020 2020 2019 9
Financlal instruments: £M £M £M £M
| Financial assets: ., , L i .7 TR
Loans to subsidiary undertakings 37.6 376 104.9 104.9
- I Financial Niabifities': : , - T ' T |
Loan Notes due 2021 — —_ 189 19.0
il The financlal instruments included in financial lfabilities are shown gross of unamortized finance costs.

The fair value of these financiatl instrurents is calculated by discounting the future cash flows, including
interest payments due.

All financial assets mature within one year; however, there is no current intention to seek repayment of loans to
subsidiary undertakings. The maturity of the financial liabilities is disclosed in Note 29 in the consolidated
financial statements,

At'December 31, 2020 the amount drawn in bank and other loans was nil {2019: £18.9 million), denominated in
U.S. dollars,

The fair value calculations were performed on the following basis:
Lc;ans to subsidiary undertakings

The cartying value approximates to the fair value.

Bank loans

At December 31, 2020, bank and other oans of nil (2019; £18.9 million) were outstanding. There were also £0.5
million of unamortized finance costs attributed to the revolving credit facility classified within prepayments,

Fair value hierarchy

At December 31, 2020, the Company used the following hiararchy for detarmining and disclosing the fair value of
financial instruments by valuation technique:

Leve! 1. quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabiiities.

Level| 2: other l’echniﬁues for which all inputs which have a significant effact on the recorded fair value are

observahle, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based
on observable market data.

{b) Interest rate risks
Interest rate risk profile on financial assets

As the Company holds no cash or external loans at December 31, 2020, the interest rate risk is negligible.
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interest rate risk profile on financial Habllities

The following table sets out the carrying value, by original maturity, of the Company's financial instrumentls. that
were exposed to both fixed and variable interest rate risk. The carrylng values include interest payments lo be
made and Interast rates on the Company's varlable rate debt have been based on a forward curve.

At December 31, 2020 At Décember 31, 2019
Within 105 >5 Within 1ta 5 >5
12 months years years  Total 12 months years years  Total
[Fixed interest rate risk: M EM M £M £M £M £M £M |
Loan-Notes-due-20241
{including interest payments) - —_ —_ — 07 19.4 - 20.1
L ~ = — — 07194 R |

(c) Undrawn committed facilities

At December 31, 2020, the Group had committed banking faclliles of $150.0 milion (£109.8 million). The
faclities were for providing loans and overdrafts, with a separate facility for letters of credit which at
December 31, 2020 was £1.0 million ($1.3 million). Of the committed facilities, $4.1 million (£3.0 million) was
drawn, no loans were drawn across the Group and $nil for letters of credit were utilized.

At December 31, 2019, the Group had committed banking facilittes of $150.0 million (£113.5 million). The
facilities were for providing loans and overdrafts, with a separate facility for letlers of credit which at
December 31, 2019 was £1.0 miillon (31,3 mifilon). Of the commiited facllities, no loans were drawn across the
Group and $nil for letters of credit were utilized.

486. Financlal risk management objectives and policies

The Company's financlal Instruments comprise bank and other foans and cash and cash equivalents. The main
risks arising from the Company's financial instrumenls are cash fiow interest rate risk, foreign currency
translation risk, credit risk and capital risk management.

Foreign cutrency translation risk

The Company is exposed to transiation risk on both its income statement, based on average exchange rates,
and its balance sheet with regards to period end exchange rates. The net exposure to external USD loans at
Decamber 31, 2020 was nil.

Credit risk

The Company s exposed to credit risk on the loans which have been provided to subsidiary undertakings. The
total exposure regarding these loans is £37.6 millian. None of the loans are past due or are been deemed
impaired.

Capital risk management

L‘*‘*—’l‘h‘e‘capitai"strcrctl:rre‘oi"tf'le'f:om|:!ati'1y'c=<msis:_s-of-sharel‘iolders‘"equity:-debt-.'ann'—cash-and-c:ash-equi\.va!e,n'ts.—Fr‘)r

the foreseeable future, the Board will maintain a capital structure for the Company that supports the Group's
stralegic objectives through:

+ Managing funding and liquidity; and

« Maintalning a strong, Investment-grade credit rating.
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External net debt reconchliation

Cash at bank Bank and other Finance costs in

and In hand loans other debtors Total
£M £M £M £M

[Net debt at January 1, 2019 R 195 - (1.1} o 16.7]
Cash flows 1.7 —_ —_ 1.7
10Other non-cash movements - S0 0.4 , (0.3)
Net debt at December 31, 2019 — 18.8 {0.7) 181
lcash.flows e {18.7) {18.7)
“Other non-cash movements — (0.1) 0.2 0.1
[Net debt at December 31, 2020 N — — {0.5) 0.5}

47. Retirement benefits

The Company is a member of the Luxfer Group Pension Plan (“the Plan®), a defined benefit scheme In the U.K.
The levels of funding are determined by petiodic actuarial valuations. The assets of the Plan are generally held
in separate trustee administered funds.

Remeasurements are recognised in full in the period in which they occur. The liability recognized In the balance
sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation, as reduced by the fair value of plan assets.
The cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The full deficit relating to the Plan has been included in the Company statement of financial position. This is
because thera is no allocation of the deficit between the varlous subsidiary companies. The Directors consider
the sponsor to be the ultimate parent company in the Group.

The Plan closed to new mambers in 1998, new employses then being eligible for a defined contribution plan.
With effect from April 2004, the Plan changed from a final salary to a career average revalued earnings benefit
scale. In August 2005, a plan specific earnings cap of £60,000 per annum subject to inflation increases was
introduced, the figure has risen to £76,000 in 2015. In October 2007, the rate of the future accrual for pension
was reduced and a longevity adjustment was introduced to mitigate against the risk of further unexpected
increases in life expectancies. In 2015, following a consultation with the trustees and members, it was agreed
the Plan would close to future accrual of benefits effective from April §, 2016 and for the purpose of increasing
pensions in payment, to use the Consumer Prices Index ("CPI") as the reference index in place of the Relall
Prices Index (“RPI") where applicable. The weighted average duration of the expected henefit payments from
the plan is around 18 vears. The pension cost of the Plan Is assessed in accordance with the advice of an
independent firm of professionally qualified actuaries, Lane Clark & Peacock LLP. The Plan is registered with
HMRC for tax purposes, operates separately from the Company and is managed by an independent set of
trustees. The Plan operates under UK trust law and the trust is a separate legal entity from the Company. The
Plan is governed by a Board of Trustees, composed of two member nominated Trustees and four company
appointed Trustees.

The Trustees are required by law to act in the best interests of scheame members and are responsible for setling
certain policies {e.g. investment funding) together with the Company. A schedule of payments provides for deficit
funding, which is based upon minimum annual contributions of £3.8 milllon per year, together with additional
variable contributions based on 15% of net earnings of Luxfer Holdings PLC between £12.0 million and £24.0
million, and 10% of net earnings of Luxfer Holdings PLC in excess of £24.0 million.

The total charge to the Company’s income statement for 2020 for retirament benefits was £1.0 million (2019:
charge of £1.2 million).
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The movement in the pension liabllities Is shown below:

2020 2019
£M £M
[ Balance af January 1 231 24.8)
Charged to tha income statement
[ Netinterest on net iability B 0.4 0.7]
Administrative expenses 0.5 0.5
[ Pastservice cost 0.1 —|
Cashcontributions (4:4) (4:3)
[Charged to the statement of comprehansive incoma 133 14|
Balance at December 31 33.0 231
The financlal assumptions used in the calculations were: 2020 2019
% %
[ Oiscount rate 1.40 2.10]
Inflation related assumptions:
[ Pre-2030 : . : ' ' |
Retail Price Inflation 2,90 2.90
| Consumer Price inflation : 1,80 ~ 2.00]
Penslon increases—pre 6 April 1997 1.70 1.80
a 1997 - 2005 . 1,90 2.10]
—post 5 April 2005 1.60 1.70
[ Post-2030 : )
Retall Price Inflation 270 2.90
LConsumer Price Inflation ] 2,60 2.oﬂ
Pension increases—pre 6 April 1997 2.20 1.80
[ ' —1997 - 2005 & 2.60 2.40|
~—post 5 April 2005 2.00 1.70
2620 2618
Other principal actuarlal assumptions: Years Years
[ Cife expectancy of male in the U K, aged 65 al accounting date 245 21.5
Life expectancy of male in the U.K. aged 65 at 20 ysars after accounting date 229 228
Investment strategles

For the Plan, the assets are invested in a diversified range of asset classes and include matching assets
o {comprising_fixed interast and index linked bonds and swaps) and growth assats (comprising_all other assets).

The Trustees hava formulated a de-risking strategy to help control the shart term risks of volatility associated
with holding growth assets. The Trustess also monitor the cost of a buy-in to secure pensioner liabilities with an
insurance company to ensure theoy are able to act if such an opporfunity arises. Other opfions to progressively -
reduce the scale of the liabilities are discussed betwaen the Trustees and the Company.

Risk exposures

The Company Is at risk of adverse experience relating to the defined benefit plan.

The Plan holds a high proportion of assets in equity and other growth investments, with the intention of growing
the value of assets relalive to liabilities. The Company is at risk if the value of liabilities grows at a faster rate
than the plan assets, or if there is a significant fall in the value of these assets not matched by a fall in the value
of Habilittes. If these events occurred, this would be expected to lead to an increase in the Company's future
cash contributions.
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The amounts racognized in the Income statement in respect of the pension plan were as follows:

2)20 2018
£M £M
{In respact of defined benefit plan: ) i
Net interest on net [ability 0.4 o7
['Administrative expenses T " . .05 o5
Past service cost 0.1 —_
[Total charge for defined benefit plan B - - 1.0 1.21

For the year, the amount of charge recognised in the Statemeri of Comprehensive Income is £13.3 million
{2019: £1.4 million).

The actual return on the plan assets was a gain of £20.9 million (2019: gain of £28.6 million).

The value of the plan assets and liabilities were:

2020 2019
£M £M
{ Assets In actlve markets: - : — 1
Equities and growth funds 111.5 111.1
| Government bonds ‘ : 48.2 39.91
Corporate bonds 103.7 97.7
[Cash 14 01|
Total market value of assets 2628 248.8
[Present valus of plan liabilities {2958}  (271.9)
Deficlt in the Plan {33.0) (23.1)
|Related deferred Income tax assels — 64 4.0]
Net pension llabllities (26.6) {19.1)

The Plan does not invest direclly in property occupied by the Company or in financial securities issued by the
Company.

Analysis of movement In the present value of the defined benefit obligations:

2020 2019

£M £M
[AtJanuary 1 2719 . 245.5]
Service cost 0.1 —_—
| Interest on cbligation 5.5 7.0}
Actuarial losses 29.1 30.0
-[Benefitspald - - - .+ o e o L e e ame . s oo —mo— (10,8} - ~ (10.6)
At December 31 295.8 271.9

The sensitivilies regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the present value of the defined benefit
obligations are set oul below:

Impeact on total defined

Assumption Change In assumption benefit obllgations

| Discaunt rate . Increasel/decrease by 0,1% Decrease/increase by 2%. ’ I
CPi Inflation (and related increases) Increase/decrease by 0.1% Increaseldecrease by 1%

[ Post retirament mortaltty Increase by 1 year " Increase by 4% ]

The sensitivities have been calculated to show the movament in the total defined benaefit obligation in isolation,
assuming no other changes in market conditions at the accounting date. In praclice, for example, a change in
discount rate is likely to be assoclated with a movement in the value of the invested assets held by the Plan.
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2020 2019
£M £0M
[AlJanuary 1 248.8 220,7{
Interest on plan assets 5.1 6.3
[Aciuarial galns / {losses) 15.8 28,6]
Contributions from employets 44 43
['Adminisirative expenses {0.5) (0.5}
Benefits paid { 0_3)______,_{49 Y U
[ At December 31 262.8 248.8| .

The estimated amount of employer contributions expected to be paid to the defined benefil pension plan for the

year ending Dacember 31, 2020 is £4.4 million {2019: £4.3 milfion actual employer contributions).

48. Related party transactions

During 2020, the Company has made the following transaclions and has the following outstanding balances at

December 31, 2020 with related parties:

Incoma | Expendlture Balances outstanding

Management Trade and othsr  Trade and other

Interest racharges | Investments racelvables payables

Name of related parly £M £M £M £M £M
JLuxfer Group Limited 0.2 (0.5) — 238 —]

MEL Chemicals, fnc. 0.2 — — — —

[Luxfer Overseas Holdings Limited 0.2 — — 1.6 -

BA Holdlngs, Inc. 1.0 — 7.3 — —
IMagnesium Elakiron North Amarica, Inc. 0.3 — — = —]

Luxfar Group 2000 Limited 0.3 — - — —
|Luxter Magtech inc. 2.5 — 30.3 0.1 —]

Luxfer Gas Cyiinders Limlted 0.1 —_ — — -

Of the balances outstanding held within invesiments, these balances are all interest bearing and are based on

market rates of interest.

Included within trade and other receivables is a loan to Luxfer Group Limited for £23.7 miliion. This loan is
interest bearing, unsecured and is repayable on demand.

During 2019, the Company has made the following transactions and has the following outstanding balances at

December 31, 2018 with related parties:

Income | Expenditure Balances outstanding
Managemaont Trade and other  Trade and other
interast [-——recharges] Investmants recelvables payables
Name of related party £M EM £M £M £

{Luxfer Group Limited 0.4 (0.4} 5.0 — (28.7),

MEL Chemicals, Inc. 0.3 — 53 — ——
[Luxfer Gverseas Holdings Limited 0.4 — 10.0 — —J}

BA Holdings, Inc. 15 — 24.2 04 —
[Magnesium Elektron North America, Inc. 0.4 — 7.7 0.1 —]

Msagnestum Elektron Limited 0.2 — 4.7 0.2 —
Luxfer Group 2000 Limited 0.6] — 14.3 04 —]

- Luxfer Holdings NA, LLC 0.1 — — — —
JLuxfer Magtech Inc. 2.6 — 31.3 0.7 ~]

Luxfer Gas Cylindars Limited 0.1 —_ 2.4 0.1 —

Included within trade and other payables is a loan from Luxfer Group Limited for £28.8 million. This loan is non-
intarest bearing, unsecured and is repayable on demand.
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In addition to the transactions above, share based compensation recharges have been made to Luxfer, Inc.,
Luxfer Gas Cylinders Limited, Luxfer Group Limited, BA Holdings, inc., Magnesium Elektron Limited, Magneslum
Elektron North America Inc, MEL Chemicals Inc, Luxfer Magtech Inc, and Luxfer Canada Limited for £1.4
million, £0.2 million, £0.4 million, £0.6 million, £0,2 milfion, £0.1million, £0.4 million, £0.1 million and £0.4 million
respectively (2019: Luxfer Gas Cylinders Limited, Luxfer Group Limited and Magnesium Elektron Limited for
£0.1 mitlion, £1.0 million, £1.2 million, £1.0 million and £0.2 million respectively). These amounts are recognised
as capilal contributions in the year.

Other than the transactions mentioned above, no other related party transactions have been identifled.

49. Post balance shest events

As from January 1, 2021 the functicnal currency of Luxfer Holdings PLC has changed to from GBP sterling to
UsD.

On March 15, 2021 a subsidiary undertaking of the the company completed the acquisition of Structural
Composites Industries ("SCI") business of Worthington Industries, Inc. for $20 million in cash, subject to working
capital adjustments. SCl is a U.S. composite cylinder business based in Pomona, California.

On March 25, 2021, a subsidiary undertaking sold the trade and assets of ils U.S.aluminum cylinder business for
$21m million cash, a gain of $6.7 million has been recognized in 2021, net of $2.8 million tax in the consolidated
income statement.
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